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SAHRA’S VISION
SAHRA’s vision is to provide for the identification, conservation, protection and promotion  
of our heritage resources for present and future generations.

SAHRA’S MISSION
As custodians of our national estate our mission is:

° to coordinate and monitor the identification of our national heritage resources;

°  to set norms and standards and maintain the management of heritage resources nationally;

°  to encourage co-operative conservation of our national estate;

°  to enable and facilitate the development of provincial structures;

°  to control the export and import of nationally significant heritage resources;

°  to develop policy initiative for the promotion and management of our heritage;

°  to nurture an holistic celebration of our history;

°  to set national policy for heritage resources management, i.e. formal protection, general 

protection and management; and

°  to develop an integrated and interactive system for the management of national heritage 

resources.
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Letter from the Chairperson

111 Harrington Street  
CAPE TOWN

8001

The Minister of Arts and Culture  
Oranje Nassau Building

188 Schoeman Street  
PRETORIA

0002

Dear Sir

I have pleasure in presenting to you the 2006-2007 annual report of the South African 
Heritage Resources Agency for the year ended 31 March 2007.

Yours faithfully

PP Chairperson  
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This annual report is the third report  
since joining the South African Heritage 
Resources Agency (SAHRA) on 01 October 
2004. Having gone through the following 
financial years 2005/2006 and 2006/2007 
– there are indeed good reasons to believe 
that SAHRA, being the custodian of the 
national estate is committed to serving the 
heritage sector and providing the necessary 
technical inputs at all times. Once again, in 
this financial year, the Auditor – General’s 
report will show that we have managed to 
receive an unqualified audit opinion. This 
is the second consecutive unqualified audit 
opinion.

Of course, this would not have not been 
achieved without the collective effort of the 
previous Council, its Executive Committee, 
the Audit Committee and our committed 
staff members. The challenge now is  
in maintaining this status quo for the  
forthcoming years.

The financial year, 2006/2007, has 
once more made us reflect on what 
we have been doing. We realized that 
there is a genuine need to consistently 
communicate our message and 
discharge our legal mandate with 
creativity and innovation. We 
continuously managed to sharpen 
our strategic document which is 
a catalytic tool for delivery – this 
document is fondly known as the 
“The Step Ahead Heritage Vision”. It 
identifies five strategic priority areas, 
namely; conservation enhancement, 
cultural and natural integration, 
heritage tourism, transformation 
and global initiatives. These strategic 
priority areas are as important as the 
blood in our veins.

This report contains the work of the  
following units: Archaeology, Palaeontology 
and Meteorites, Underwater Archaeology, 
Built Environment, Living Heritage,  
Heritage Objects, Burial Grounds and  
Graves, Inventory of the National Estate, 
Grading and Declaration, Provincial Offices, 
Legal Services, Library Services, Archives, 
Information Technology, Human Resources, 
Corporate Affairs and Finance. While it  
is commendable for these units to have 
delivered on their core areas, there is still an 
urgent need to address capacity constraints 
facing SAHRA. There is no doubt that  
SAHRA is occupying a very strategic role in 
the management of South Africa’s heritage 
resources. Such an important role has to  
be enhanced by adequate resources and  
proper functioning systems like the fully 
functioning Provincial Heritage Resources 
Authorities (PHRAs).

The Chief Executive Officer’s 
Foreword & Message
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Perhaps, it is now necessary to briefly  
explain the legal mandate of SAHRA.  
SAHRA’s mandate is purely on the  
management of all our national heritage 
resources in the form of sites and  
collections. SAHRA believes that it is 
through productive partnerships that a 
real difference can be realised. Hence, in 
association with the national Department of 
Arts and Culture, SAHRA is embarking on a 
R28.5m project. The project as approved by 
parliament entails the national inventory of 
movable and immovable cultural property. 
This is linked to the development of a  
reliable, efficient and effective database. 
As per our mandate, SAHRA will continue 
pursuing this project with dedication and 
commitment. The project will also be done 
in such a way that it integrates all the work 
that has already been done by SAHRA so far 
as the database management is concerned. 
We are of the view that the project should 
not be confined to a three-year cycle – there 
is so much that we still need to uncover so 
that the value of our heritage resources is 
better appreciated. 

Furthermore, there has been a very robust 
partnership between the 16 June 1976 
Foundation and SAHRA. The nature of this 
partnership is such that there is a direct  
relationship between the names of those 
young people who were determined to make 
this a better South Africa and their graves. 
The essence of this project is to locate the 
graves and link them to the heroes and 
heroines’ names of the liberation struggle. 
This is in line with the directives of the 
National Heritage Resources Act. There are 
a number of similar partnerships with other 

bodies inter alia the National Prosecuting 
Authority’ Missing People project  
and the Department of Environmental 
Affairs and Tourism on the return of the 
Mapungubwe human remains. Due to 
limited space it would not be possible  
to include all other partnerships. The 
dominant factor is that SAHRA is  
determined to make partnerships that are 
aimed at preserving our heritage resources. 

SAHRA’s responsibilities as outlined in the 
National Heritage Resources Act, Number 
25 of 1999 are as follows:

° To co-ordinate the management of the 
national estate by agencies of the state 
and other bodies;

° To establish the national principles, 
standards and policies for the  
identification, recording and 
management of the national estate;

° To identify, record and manage nation-
ally significant heritage resources and 
keep permanent records of such work;

° To promote education and training in 
fields related to the management of the 
national estate;

° To advise, assist and provide  
professional expertise to any authority 
responsible for the management of  
the national estate at provincial or  
local level and assist any other body 
concerned with heritage resources 
management;

° To promote and encourage public 
understanding and enjoyment of the 
national estate and public interest and 
involvement in the identification, as-
sessment, recording and management 
of heritage resources management.
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In the forthcoming year, with our new 
Council, we shall be more vigorous and 
vigilant in evaluating and implementing 
strategies that are meant to identify, protect 
and promote our heritage resources for 
present and future generations. 

Our staff and management team continues 
to play an important role in implementing 
strategies and policies towards greater 
management of our heritage resources. Of 
course, SAHRA still needs more resources to 
better manage our heritage landscape. Our 
heritage resources as a whole represent the 
collective and balanced story of our South 
African consciousness, as we  
understand it today.

What remains a challenge though is the 
HIV/AIDS pandemic. The question that is 
often asked is how best can heritage respond 
to such a national issue? The answer to the 
question is multifold. It, however, requires 
all of us to continue projecting the values 
that heritage and culture has imbibed in us 
in addressing the pandemic.

On behalf of SAHRA, let me once more 
invite you to put your fingers on each an 
every page of this annual report. In doing 
so, you will find that being the custodians 
of the national estate we know our path and 
require you to walk that path with us in 
managing the heritage resources of  
our beloved South Africa. We remain  
optimistic that once the new Council  
has been brought on board, SAHRA will 
continue discharging its mandate.

Looking into the achievements and  
challenges facing SAHRA, it is appropriate 
to silently utter the following motto:

My heritage, my past, my present and my 
future!!!

PHAKAMANI BUTHELEZI
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Council Membership

Applicable Acts & Other Information
This report is submitted in compliance with  
the Constitution of the Republic of South  
Africa, 1999 (Act 108 of 1996) read with  
sections 4 and 20 of the Public Audit Act, 
2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004); the Public  
Finance Management Act 1999 (Act 1 
of 1999 amended by Act 29 of 1999); 
the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (Standards of GRAP); 
Treasury Regulations, 2001; the Equity Act 
(Act 55 of 1998); the Skills Development 
Act (Act 9 of 1999) and other applicable 
Acts and Regulations.

In terms of the National Heritage Resources
Act, 1999 (Act 25 of 1999), the South 
African Heritage Resources Agency 
(SAHRA) was officially established 

together with its Council to co-ordinate 
and promote the management of heritage 
resources at national level; to set norms 
and maintain essential national standards 
for the management of heritage resources 
in the Republic and to protect heritage 
resources of national significance; to control 
the export of nationally significant heritage 
objects and the import into the Republic of 
cultural property illegally exported from 
foreign countries; to enable the provinces 
to establish heritage authorities which 
must adopt powers to protect and manage 
certain categories of heritage resources; to 
provide for the protection and management 
of conservation-worthy places and areas by 
local authorities; and to provide for matters 
connected therewith.

NAME STATUS 

1. Dr Sifiso Ndlovu Chairperson 
2. Dr Anton van Vollenhoven National  
3.  Mrs Gloria Rabyanyana National 
4. Mr Ghandhi Maseko National 
5. Prof Ciraj Rassool National
6. Dr Sokhulu Mthiyane National  

PHRAs

7. Dr Janette Deacon Western Cape
8. Adv. Justice Bekebeke Northern Cape
9. Mr Vuyani Mqingwana Eastern Cape
10. Mr Anton Roodt Free State
11. Mr Arthur Konigkramer KwaZulu-Natal
12. Mr Phill Mashabane Gauteng 
13. Mrs Nomvula Motloung Mpumalanga
14. Mr Shokeng Mahlake Limpopo
15. Dr Otsile Ntsoane North West 
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Statement of Responsibility

1. COMPLIANCE WITH APPROPRIATE LEGISLATION
The Chief Executive Officer of South African Heritage Resources Agency is responsible  
for all information and representations contained in the statement of financial position as  
at 31 March 2007 and the related statement of financial performance, statement of changes in 
net and cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2007. 

These financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the South African  
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practise (GAAP) including any interpretations 
of such statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board 
replacing the equivalent GAAP statements.

2. BASIS USED TO PREPARE THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In this regard, senior management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which  
provides for the necessary internal controls to ensure that transactions are properly  
authorised and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition and 
liabilities are recognised. The management likewise discloses to the CEO and Audit Committee 
and its external auditors: 
(i) significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely 

affect its ability to record, process, and report financial data;
(ii) material weaknesses in the internal controls; and 
(iii) any fraud that involves management or other employees who exercise significant roles in 

internal controls.

3. MEASUREMENT OF SAHRA’s FINANCIAL POSITION AS A GOING CONCERN 
(BUSINESS)
SAHRA receives funding from Department of Arts and Culture on annual basis to cover the 
entity’s operations expenses, and has on going projects funded by Lotto Board and DAC:

Forecast funding for 2007/2008 R, 000
DAC Funding 2007/8 29 291
Transfer to Monuments 4 205
Other grants, donations and projects 7 275
Rent received 500
Interest received 700
Sundry Income 100
Total forecast funds for 2006/7 R 42 071

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Date: 31 May 2007
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OPERATIONAL PLAN

The Corporate Affairs Division of the South African Heritage Resources Agency had their  

annual workshop from 24 to 26 January 2007 at the Langebaan Lagoon in the West Coast  

National Park. The purpose of the workshop was to develop an operational plan for the  

Corporate Affairs Division for the period 2007 until 2009 that would support the vision,  

mission and strategic priorities of SAHRA. 

The Draft Operational Plan was reviewed and amended during a follow-up meeting at  

the SAHRA Head Office, held on 14 March 2007. The implementation of the operational 

plan will be monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis. It will be used as a basis for  

the development of objectives, strategies and timeframes for every staff member in the 

Corporate Affairs Division for the purpose of individual performance appraisals. 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN

SAHRA commenced during the year under review with the development of a Business  

Continuity Plan, as required by the Public Finance Management Act, No. 1 of 1999. During 

a workshop on 22 August 2006, facilitated by PriceWater-HouseCoopers, the complete or 

partial destruction of SAHRA’s Head Office building by fire or flood was identified as the 

most likely disaster that could impact on the organisation. The issuing of certain critical 

archaeological and palaeontological permits pertaining to major, costly developments was 

identified as an operation related to Heritage Resources Management that would require 

continuation immediately after such a hypothetical disaster. The declaration of national 

heritage sites  was later added to the business operations that would require continuation 

after a disaster. 

A temporary Crisis Support Team was established to assist the Executive Officer: Corporate  

Affairs with the development of the Business Continuity Plan. The Crisis Support Team  

currently consists of the following sub-teams: Human Resources, Facilities, Finance,  

Information Technology, Media and Public Relations, as well as Operations: Archaeological 

and Palaeontological Permits.  A draft Business Continuity Plan was completed by the  

Crisis Support Team during the year under review. It was audited and amended during a 

workshop, held on 22 March 2007. The Business Continuity Plan will be finalised during the 

forthcoming review period after certain components of the plan have been tested.

 

Corporate Affairs
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Human Resources Management

2. JOB EVALUATION

SAHRA is further improving its remu-
neration system that would continuously         
provide the organisation with a salary 
structure and remuneration policy that is 
legally justified and sound. 

The following key outputs are required:
° job descriptions and person  

specifications, based on a thorough   
job analysis;

° evaluation and grading of 25-30 jobs,   
using a reputable job evaluation  
system;

1. EXPENDITURE
TABLE 1.1: PERSONNEL COST FOR 2006-07

TOTAL  PERSONNEL  TRAINING  CONSULTANCY  PERSONNEL COST AVERAGE PERSONNEL  
EXPENDITURE EXPENDITURE EXPENDITURE SERVICES AS A % OF TOTAL  COST PER EMPLOYEE
    EXPENDITURE

14 609 124 0 150 067 0 14 609 124 173 918

TABLE 1.2: SALARIES, HOUSING SUBSIDY, MEDICAL ASSISTANCE, PENSION FUND CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER ALLOWANCES,  
LEAVE GRATUITIES, BONUSES AND STATUTORY LEVIES FOR 2006-07

SALARIES  HOUSING ALLOWANCE  MEDICAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDENT FUND 
Amount  Salaries as a %  Amount Housing Amount Medical Amount Provident Fund 
 of Personnel Cost  Allowance as a %   Assistance as a %  Contributions as a  
   of Personnel Cost  of Personnel Cost  % of Personnel Cost 

9 777 821 66.92% 146 436 1% 599 451 4.10% 1 765 003 12.08%

OTHER ALLOWANCES LEAVE GRATUITIES BONUSES  STATUTORY LEVIES
(Car and Cell Phone)     (UIF and WCA) 
Amount Allowances as  Amount Leave Gratuities as Amount Bonuses as a %  Amount Statutory Levies as a
 a % of Personnel   a % of Personnel   of Personnel Cost  % of Personnel Cost
 Cost  Cost     

1 191169 8.15% 95 393 .65% 793 586 5.43% 86 539 .59%
 

The process of developing an employment equity plan for SAHRA which started during the previous reporting period 
was continued during the year under review.

° a proposed salary structure, based  
on an equity analysis that should  
incorporate comparisons with relevant 
labour market data; and 

° a remuneration policy. 

The above exercise will enable the 
organisation to determine if any salary 
positions need to be upgraded. In addition to 
the development of a remuneration system, 
information generated during the job analysis 
phase of the proposed project will provide 
essential input for a skills development 
programme and sound performance 
management system for the organisation. 
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3. EMPLOYMENT CHANGES 

SAHRA started with the implementation 
of a new organogram, approved during the 
previous review period. However, due to 
limited funds available, not all of the new 
positions could be filled during the current 
reporting period. The process will continue 
during the next financial year.

To promote efficiency and effectiveness 
in the running of SAHRA, a Gauteng 
satelite regional office was established in 

Johannesburg to supplement the head office 
in Cape Town. A provincial coordinator was 
appointed to manage the Gauteng regional 
office. It is envisaged that some of the head 
office functions will be devolved to the 
regional office as a means to cut down on costs 
and improve efficiency and effectiveness. 
A provincial office was also established in 
KwaZulu-Natal, which led to the appointment 
of a provincial manager, cultural officer and 
an administrative assistant. New appointments 
were also made as a result of resignations, 
dismissal and retirement of staff. 

 

TABLE 2.1: ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE BY SALARY LEVELS FOR 1 APRIL 2006 UNTIL 31ST MARCH 2007

OCCUPATIONAL NUMBER OF  APPOINTMENTS  TERMINATIONS TURNOVER RATE NUMBER AS AT   
LEVELS EMPLOYEES AS     31ST MARCH 2007
 AT 1ST APRIL 2006   
Top Management 1 0 0 0 1 

Senior Management 3 0 0 0 3 

Professionally qualified 
and experienced specialist 
middle management 19 2 1 5 % 21

Skilled technically and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior management,  
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendent. 25 9 6 18 % 27

Semi skilled and discretionary 
decision making 17 2 3 16 % 16

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 9 0 0 0 9

TOTAL PERMANENT 74 13 10 12 % 77

NON-PERMANENT 
EMPLOYEES  5 9 7 0 7 

TOTAL 79 22 17 17% 84 

Note: Given the fact that SAHRA functions as a separate public entity, transfers from other government departments do not apply to the 
organisation.
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4. EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

The process of developing an employment 
equity plan for SAHRA which started during 
the previous reporting period was continued 
during the year under review. The Executive 
Officer: Corporate Affairs was appointed as 
senior manager to take responsibility for the 
development of the plan. An employment 
equity forum was also established through 
a process of nomination by the head office 
and provincial staff members to represent 
the interests of different occupational 
levels and categories, as well as designated 
and non-designated groups. A capacity 
building workshop was conducted for the 
employment equity forum by Linda Human 
and Associates on 17 October 2006. 

On 18 October 2006 a meeting was held 
with the employment equity forum to  

discuss the analysis of the workforce  
profile and human resource policies and 
practices. At the same time the workplace 
environment at SAHRA’s head office  
was discussed and possible barriers for 
people with disabilities identified. Another 
meeting of the forum was convened on 
13 February 2007 to discuss the draft 
Employment Equity Plan. The Employment 
Equity Plan and Report will be completed 
during the next review period in 
consultation with the employment equity 
forum.

A diversity management workshop was  
also conducted by Dr Linda Human for  
all SAHRA staff on 12 and 13 December 
2006 in Cape Town as a means to promote  
diversity in the workplace.

As indicated in Table 2.2, a number of terminations took place during the review period for the following reasons:

TABLE 2.2: REASONS FOR TERMINATIONS

TERMINATION TYPE NUMBER % OF TOTAL
 
RESIGNATIONS 6 7% 

EXPIRY OF CONTRACTS 8 10% 

DISMISSAL - MISCONDUCT 2 2% 

RETIREMENT 1 1% 

TOTAL 17 20 %
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TABLE 3.1: TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS
 

                                                SAHRA WORKFORCE PROFILE - MARCH 2007 

OCCUPATIONAL     DESIGNATED   NON-DESIGNATED  

LEVELS MALE   FEMALE WHITE FOREIGN  TOTAL
    MALE NATIONALS 

  A C I A C I W W         MALE      FEMALE  
Top management  1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1  

Senior management  1 0 0 1 0 0  1 0 0 0 3 

Professionally qualified and 
experience specialist  8 3 0 2 3 0 2 3 0 0 21 

Skilled technically and 
academically qualified 10 0 0 7 2 0 6 1 1 0 27
 
Semi skilled and discretionary 
decision making  0 2 1 8 4 1 0 0 0 0 16
 
Unskilled and defined 
decision making  0 1 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 9
 
Total Permanent  20 6 1 25 10 1 9 5 0 0 77 
Non-Permanent        1 1 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 1 7 

GRAND TOTAL  21 7 1 26 10 1 11 5 1 1 84  

Employees with Disabilities 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 
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TABLE 3.2: TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL CATEGORIES

                      SAHRA WORKFORCE PROFILE - MARCH 2007 
 OCCUPATIONAL   DESIGNATED     NON-DESIGNATED

 CATEGORIES                   MALE               FEMALE         WHITE           FOREIGN       TOTAL 
                     MALE        NATIONALS

          
A       C        I  A  C  I  W W  MALE  FEMALE

 
Legislators, Senior 
Officials and Managers 10 3 0 3 3 0 3 3 0 0 25 

Technicians & Associated 
Professionals  10 0 0 7 2 0 6 1 1 0 27

Clerks  0 2 0 8 4 1 0 0 0 0 15

Service Workers, shop 
& market sales workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Skilled agricultural and 
fishery workers  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Craft & Related 
Trade Workers  0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Plant & Machine operators  
and assemblers  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Elementary occupations 0 1 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 9 

Total Permanent  20 6 1 25 10 1 9 4 1 0 77

Non-Permanent  1 1 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 1 7

GRAND TOTAL  21 7 1 26 10 1 11 5 1 1 84 

Employees with Disabilities 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
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TABLE 3.3:  RECRUITMENT FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

           SAHRA WORKFORCE PROFILE - MARCH 2007 

OCCUPATION     DESIGNATED   NON-DESIGNATED  

LEVELS MALE   FEMALE WHITE  FOREIGN       TOTAL
    MALE             NATIONAL

  A C I A C I W W         MALE      FEMALE 
Top management  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionally qualified and 
experience specialist  1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2

Skilled technically and 
academically qualified 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 1 0 9 

Semi skilled and discretionary 
decision making  0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Unskilled and defined 
decision making  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Permanent  5 1 0 1 0 0 4 1 1 0 13

Non-Permanent  0 1 0 5 0 0 2 1 0 0 9

GRAND TOTAL  5 2 0 6 0 0 6 2 1 0 22

Employees with Disabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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TABLE 3.4:  PROMOTION FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

                      
                            SAHRA WORKFORCE PROFILE - MARCH 2007 

OCCUPATIONAL   DESIGNATED     NON-DESIGNATED

 CATEGORIES      MALE                FEMALE       WHITE     FOREIGN      TOTAL 
                          MALE     NATIONALS

          A C I  A C I W     W   MALE   FEMALE

Top management           

Senior management
           
Professionally qualified and 
experience specialist       1      1 

Skilled technically and 
academically qualified          

Semi skilled and discretionary 
decision making           

Unskilled and defined 
decision making            

Total Permanent  0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Non-Permanent  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL  0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Employees with Disabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Note: Table 3.4 indicates the promotion of the Cultural Officer: Heritage Objects to Head of the Grading and Declaration Unit.  In 
addition to the above, the Human Resource Administrative Assistant (African female) was promoted to Human Resource Officer and the 
Provincial Manager: Gauteng (African male) to Provincial Coordinator. However, these promotions are not reflected in the table because 
they fall within the same occupational level. 
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TABLE 3.5:  TERMINATIONS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

 
        SAHRA WORKFORCE PROFILE - MARCH 2007 

OCCUPATION     DESIGNATED   NON- DESIGNATED 
LEVELS MALE  FEMALE WHITE FOREIGN   TOTAL 
    MALE NATIONAL

  A C I A C I W W      MALE FEMALE 

Top management  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior management  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Professionally qualified and 
experience specialist  1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Skilled technically and 
academically qualified 1 0 0 1 1 0 2 1 0 0 6

Semi skilled and discretionary 
decision making  0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 

Total Permanent  2 2 0 2 1 0 2 1 0 0 10

Non-Permanent  2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 7 

GRAND TOTAL  4 3 0 5 1 0 2 1 0 1 17 

Employees with Disabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Note: In all the above tables non-permanent employees are staff members appointed on a one year contract and less.
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5. SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

Bursaries were awarded to staff members 
for the following courses: Masters Degree 
in Public Administration, BComm  
Degree in Business Management and 
MPhil Programme in Cultural Tourism  
and Heritage Studies.

Various training and development  
initiatives were undertaken during the  
reporting period. In order to improve 
people management skills, unit heads and 
supervisors at SAHRA’s head office  
attended a course in people management, 
offered by the University of Stellenbosch 
during February and March 2007.

Another major training intervention was a 
finance course for non-financial managers 
in the public sector, aimed at provincial 
managers, aimed at equipping them with 
financial management tools and techniques 
necessary for the management of the  
organisation’s financial resources.

Another learning experience that  
occurred during the reporting period was 
a five week exchange programme trip to 
Germany for five members of staff. The 

intention of the programme was to involve 
heritage professionals in excavations at two 
archaeological sites in Germany. It focused 
on introducing staff to archaeological  
practices and principles of excavation.  
The programme was hosted by Prof.  
Nicholas Conard of the Department of Early 
Prehistory and Quatenary Ecology of the 
University of Tuebingen. SAHRA paid for 
the living expenses of these staff members, 
while all other costs were  
covered by the University.

An induction programme was conducted  
in March 2007 for newly appointed staff 
members to ensure that they settle with ease 
in their positions and the organisation. 

Other training interventions addressed  
individual training needs identified  
during routine performance discussions. 
They also aimed to equip newly appointed 
staff members with required competencies. 
These included short courses presented by 
external training providers in, inter alia, 
report writing, performance management, 
understanding the CCMA and the use of the 
VIP modules for employment equity, leave 
administration and skills development. 

TABLE 3.6  DISCIPLINARY ACTION - 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

                    SAHRA WORKFORCE PROFILE - MARCH 2007 

OCCUPATIONAL   DESIGNATED        NON-DESIGNATED 

CATEGORIES      MALE                 FEMALE           WHITE           FOREIGN   TOTAL 
                    MALE         NATIONALS

          
A  C I A C I W W MALE FEMALE

Disciplinary Action   1  2       3 
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6. LEAVE 

6.1 Sick leave

Staff members are entitled to 36 sick leave 
days over a three year period as determined 
by the Basic Conditions of Employment 
Act, No.95 of 1995. 

TABLE 4.1:   TOTAL NUMBER OF PEOPLE WHO RECEIVED TRAINING FROM 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

OCCUPATIONAL 
CATEGORIES          MALE         FEMALE   TOTAL
 A C I W A C I W
Legislators, senior 
officials and managers 7 1 0 2 1 2 0 3 16
 
Technicians and 
associate professionals 2 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 6 

Clerks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Service and Sales 
Workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Skilled Agricultural 
and Fishery Workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and Related 
Trade Workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Plant and Machinery 
Operators 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Elementary Occupation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 9 1 0 2 2 3 0 5 22 
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TABLE 5.1: SICK LEAVE - 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

SALARY BAND TOTAL DAYS % DAYS WITH  NUMBER OF % OF TOTAL  AVERAGE DAYS ESTIMATED  
  MEDICAL  EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES  PER EMPLOYEE COST  
  CERTIFICATE USING SICK  USING SICK 
   LEAVE LEAVE

Lower skilled 33 58% 3 33% 11 R 6438.34 

Skilled 84 90% 14 88% 6 R42 187.63 

Highly skilled production 71 61% 17 50% 4 R48 406.68 

Highly skilled supervision 70 93% 13 62% 5 R73 851.87 

Senior management 25 24% 3 75% 8 R42 092.74 

Total 283 74% 50 60% 6 R212 977.77 

TABLE 5.2: DISABILITY LEAVE - 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

SALARY BAND TOTAL DAYS % DAYS WITH  NUMBER OF % OF TOTAL  AVERAGE DAYS ESTIMATED  
  MEDICAL  EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES  PER EMPLOYEE COST  
  CERTIFICATE USING SICK  USING SICK 
   LEAVE LEAVE

Lower skilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Skilled 95 100 % 1 1 95 R40 908.90

Highly skilled production 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Highly skilled supervision 43 100% 1 1 43 R27 980.96

Senior management 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 138 100% 2 2 69 R 68 889.86 

6.2 Disability Leave

Due to serious illness three staff members required 
extended sick leave in addition to the normal sick leave 

entitlement of 36 days per three year cycle in line with 
the organisation’s leave policy. In addition to this, the 
previous Assistant Director: Administration was on per-
manent disability leave during the year under review.
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6.3 Annual leave

Staff members are entitled to 22 vacation 
leave days per annum with the exception 
of those staff members who have been with 

TABLE 5.3: ANNUAL LEAVE – 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

TABLE 5.4: CAPPED LEAVE – 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

SALARY BANDS TOTAL DAYS OF CAPPED AVERAGE NUMBER OF DAYS AVERAGE CAPPED LEAVE PER  
  LEAVE TAKEN TAKEN PER EMPLOYEE  EMPLOYEE AS AT 31 MARCH 07 

Lower skilled 0 0 4 

Skilled  0 0 9 

Highly skilled production 0 0 7 

Highly skilled supervision 0 0 13 

Senior management 0 0 14 

Total 0 0 9 

Note: Capped leave refers to leave accumulated before the adoption of the new leave policy in April 2005 that requires staff to take all 
accumulated leave within six months after the previous annual leave period.

TABLE 5.5: LEAVE PAYOUTS – 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

REASON TOTAL AMOUNT NUMBER  AVERAGE PAYMENT  
  OF EMPLOYEES PER EMPLOYEE

Leave payout for 2006/07 due to non-utilisation  
of leave for the previous cycle  0 0 0

Capped leave payouts on termination of service for 2006/07 0 0 0

Current leave payout on termination of service for 2006/07 R65 116.13 9 R7 235.12

Total R65 116.13 9 R7 235.12 

the organisation for more than ten years, 
who receive 26 leave days. Leave days not 
taken within the six months following the 
previous annual leave period are forfeited 
in terms of the organisation’s leave policy. 

SALARY BANDS TOTAL DAYS TAKEN AVERAGE PER EMPLOYEE 

Lower skilled 53 6 

Skilled  287 18 

Highly skilled production 405 12 

Highly skilled supervision 251 12 

Senior Management  67 17 

Total 1 063 13 
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7. HIV/AIDS AND HEALTH PROMOTION 
PROGRAMMES

During the year-end function in Decem-
ber 2006 an HIV awareness information 
session was conducted for all head office 
and provincial staff. The intention was to 
educate staff about the impact of the disease 
and how each staff member can make a 
decision to fight the epidemic by adopting 
an informed lifestyle. SAHRA continues to 
promote a non-discriminatory work envi-

TABLE 6.1:  DISCIPLINARY ACTION – 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

ronment in which employees living with 
HIV/Aids can openly acknowledge their 
status without fear of discrimination.

8. LABOUR RELATIONS

8.1 Disciplinary Actions 
There were three disciplinary hearings 
conducted due to gross misconduct and 
negligence, as indicated in Table 18. This 
led to the dismissal of two staff members 
and a written warning to another.  

OCCUPATIONAL 
CATEGORIES                MALE        FEMALE TOTAL
 A C  I  W A C   I  W  

Legislators, Senior 
Officials and Managers

Technicians and 
associate professionals     1    1 

Clerks     1    1 

Service and Sales Workers         

Skilled agriculture and  
fishery workers         

Craft and related workers  1       1 

Plant and machine operators       

Elementary occupations         

Total Permanent  1   2    3 
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8.3 Disputes and Strikes

No disputes were lodged with the CCMA  
and no strikes occurred.  

9. INJURY ON DUTY

There was one injury on duty reported  
during the period under review.

10. USE OF CONSULTANTS

Linda Human and Associates were appointed 
to conduct a diversity management workshop 
for all SAHRA staff and a training session for 
members of the employment equity forum. 
They were subsequently asked to do an  
analysis of the organisational policies in  
order to identify existing practices that could 
be discriminatatory against the principles 
employment equity. 

Ciber Information International provided 
project and knowledge management  
expertise for the first phase of the National 
Audit of heritage resources in state ownership 
and the development of the South African 
Heritage Resources Information System 
(SAHRIS). They are a black owned and 
managed company, appointed during the 
previous review period after a bidding process. 

Matima Heritage Solutions, a black owned 
and managed company appointed during 
the previous review period, conducted field 
work and archival research on the collection 
of names and the identification of graves of 
victims of the liberation struggle. 

SAHRA embarked on a project to document 
and publish a national journal of heritage 
sites. 

The journal aims to highlight five  
potential national heritage sites per  
province, which have not received much 
publicity, especially sites which will revive 
the spirit of national pride and embrace our 
diverse legacies and cultures. 

This national initiative, which includes  
the international distribution of the 
publication, was undertaken in partnership 
with various departments and stakeholders 
and it was with this regard that Dukari 
Consultants was sourced as service-  
providers on this project.

11. POLICY DEVELOPMENT
The organisation’s housing policy was 
reviewed and updated during the reporting 
period. More policy reviews will be 
conducted during the next reporting period.

8.2 Grievances lodged 

TABLE 6.2: GRIEVANCES LODGED – 1 APRIL 2006 TO 31 MARCH 2007

 NUMBER % OF TOTAL

Number of grievances resolved 1 50 %

Number of grievances not resolved 1 50 % 

Total  2
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Information & Auxiliary Services

THE SAHRA ARCHIVES

The archives of SAHRA contain a wealth 
of heritage conservation records, collected 
over a period of almost 100 years. This 
information has been generated by SAHRA 
and its predecessors, such as the Historical 
Monuments Commission and the National 
Monuments Council. These records are 
the archival evidence relating to heritage 
conservation management. They contribute 
to the cultural identity and collective 
memory of the country.

In the year under review the records 
management staff has performed admirably 
in administering records contained in the 
SAHRA Archives. The SAHRA archives 
are well known in South Africa as an 
excellent resource for cultural conservation 
information and were used extensively over 
the past year by researchers, students and 
the general public. 

Last year the archivist visited the four 
SAHRA provincial offices in order to 
install a single SAHRA Administrative 
Filing System database on workstations, 
monitor its successful implementation, 
and provide training to the administrative 
staff. A talk on Filing and Registry Practice 
was delivered by the Head: Information 
and Auxiliary Services at an Induction 
Workshop for new staff in February 2007.

During the past year SAHRA has assisted 
the Provincial Heritage Resources 
Authorities in the Western Cape (Heritage 
Western Cape or HWC) in setting up their 
own heritage conservation filing system by 
way of the transfer of conservation records 

to them. A memorandum of understanding 
defining criteria for the transfer of these 
records and their ongoing preservation has 
been entered into between SAHRA and 
HWC.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

During the period under review the Informa-
tion Technology section focused on finalising 
the roll-out of the national ADSL and server 
hardware and software upgrade project. This 
project started with the installation of the 
new technology at the SAHRA head office 
towards the end of the 2005/2006 financial 
year. All nine SAHRA provincial offices  
were provided with the new technology  
during the course of this financial year.  
 
The introduction of ADSL and the server  
upgrade were part of the efforts by the IT 
section to introduce the best technology 
within the budgetary constraints of SAHRA. 
This technology provides more effective 
tools to staff, while minimising the running 
costs of communications.
 
The IT section is now able to trouble-shoot 
hardware and software problems by remote 
access when they arise, thus ensuring a  
better level of service. Staff members can  
also access their e-mail from any location.

The implementation of adequate off-site 
storage arrangements for SAHRA’s data 
backups has ensured compliance with audit 
requirements and guidelines and adherence 
to benchmark standards.  

The annual visits to the SAHRA provincial 
offices took place at the same time as the 



26 S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

upgrade project. This enabled staff to be 
available for the introduction of the new 
server, security and e-mail systems. The 
relocation of the Mpumalanga provincial 
office and the planning of a new SAHRA 
satellite office in Gauteng necessitated the 
provision of IT infrastructure.

While SAHRA’s website attempts to 
ensure the availability of adequate and 
correct information to staff and the general 
public, the introduction of Intranet for 
SAHRA staff was a much anticipated event. 
Making on-line data available, not only 
to the general public, but to staff across 
the country was an outcome which the IT 
section set out as a goal for 2006.

SAHRA LIBRARY

The library had a productive year, purchas-
ing books and receiving a wide range of 
donations from staff, researchers and one of 
the prominent book suppliers. As a result 
the Library acquired 756 new books. 

A book review committee was established 
to advise on the purchase of books, with the 
focus being primarily on transformation, 
identity and management. Having obtained 
desktop Internet access has proved very 
useful, particularly in obtaining information 
on various book titles.

The SAHRA library received a wide range 
of research requests, particularly e-mails 
both nationally and internationally due 
to the fact that the Library’s catalogue is 
displayed on the SAHRA Website. In total  
673 research requests were dealt with  
during this period. Of interest is the fact 

that the Griqua Royal Commission did 
extensive research on several occasions in 
the library. 

During the same period the assistant  
librarian accompanied the Fulbright students 
(from the USA) on several occasions to 
various Western Cape sites, including 
Paarl and Kassiesbaai and answered many 
questions on heritage in South Africa. She 
also provided assistance in setting up the 
Heritage Objects display at the Educational 
Museum in Wynberg. Meanwhile library 
staff created a display and presented a talk 
at an Induction Workshop for new staff. 
Additionally, they set up a book display 
during a presentation on slavery for the 
Western Cape SAMA delegates.

The library recently purchased an updated 
version of the Dewey Decimal Classification 
system (22nd edition) which was developed 
in 2003. The library will be using the 
updated version combined with the older 
version and it will make locating certain 
subject fields much easier. In this edition 
the section on information technology, as 
well as sections on management and heritage 
matters have been extensively revised. 
An added advantage of the system is that 
both librarians can assign Dewey numbers 
simultaneously.

The library staff have attended various 
lectures on heritage matters. In October 2006 
the assistant librarian spent several days at 
the Free State Provincial Office setting up 
the literary resource centre, while library 
staff provided experiential training to a 
student from Fort Hare University.
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a

Heritage Resources Management

The socio-cultural developments that are continuously shaping our society into a truly 

non-racial, non-sexist and democratic nation, have a direct impact on the management of 

heritage resources. As an institution responsible for the management and conservation of 

heritage resources, SAHRA is compelled to respond to these national developments.  

Moreover SAHRA must align its strategic objectives to the national imperatives.

With an increasing demand for all institutions to play an active role in nation building,  

SAHRA has accelerated the process of identifying those heritage resources that were  

marginalized and neglected. Most of these belong to those communities that were  

disadvantaged and thus denied material resources to conserve their heritage resources. 

Despite this marginalization, exclusion and denial, these heritage resources were kept  

alive in their memories.

SAHRA has embarked on a vigorous public and community participation campaign by  

organizing heritage indabas and community awareness programs to solicit the support 

of the public in heritage resource identification and management. This approach seeks to 

unearth alternative interpretations of both existing and new sites. Various narratives are 

critical in promoting a holistic and inclusive approach to conservation management. With 

this approach, SAHRA is enhancing the government’s commitment to nation-building. 
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Archaeology, Palaeontology  
and Meteorite Unit

Archaeological and 
Palaeontological Components 
of Impact Assessments and the 
PHRAs
An economic climate favourable to 
development has meant that there has 
been unprecedented expansion in rural and 
peri-urban areas in the past decade. This 
resulted in a continual threat of damage 
or destruction of heritage sites. Impact 
assessments required by legislation record 
the significance of any sites threatened by 
development and allow heritage authorities 
to arrange for their protection, excavation, 
or recording and then approve their 
destruction, all of which helps to redress 
the negative effects of development. 

In provinces where Provincial Heritage 
Resources Authorities (PHRAs) have not 
yet appointed archaeologists, the Archaeol-
ogy, Palaeontology and Meteorite (APM) 
Unit contributes to this process, wherever 
possible, by sending Review Comments 
(or records of decision) on these Archaeol-
ogy and Palaeontology Impact Assessment 
reports to developers and stakeholders. 

Most sites identified in the reports are 
not of great significance and are recorded, 
photographed and mapped before they are 
destroyed. By negotiation with the devel-
oper, sites of interest can be excluded from 
the development area and incorporated into 
open areas. Sites that do have significant in-
formation are sampled (artefacts and other 
material are excavated to tell the story of 
the people who lived there, and the site is 
dated). Significant sites may be identified 
for protection as national or provincial her-
itage sites. The impact assessment process 
means, therefore, that even where heritage 
sites are lost, some of the information about 
the people who lived there and about previ-
ous settlement patterns can be recorded and 
material kept for further study. 

Guidelines for Minimum Standards for 
Archaeological and Palaeontological 
Components of Impact Assessment Reports 
were developed to set standards for 
professional reports and are now supported 
by the professional associations. These 
guidelines have improved the quality of 
reports, which is important as many of 
these reports represent the last view of the 
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heritage in these areas and they become part 
of the record of the national inventory.

In the absence of professional archaeologists 
appointed to the PHRAs in seven provinces, 
the SAHRA APM unit has had to prior itise 
Archaeological and Palaeontological Review 
Comments on impact assessments. The 
Archaeology, Palaeontology and Meteorite 
Unit therefore motivated for three three-
year contract posts to take on some of this 
work, which resulted in three relevant 
appointments. As indicated in previous 
Annual Reports, the PHRAs still need to 
appoint qualified archaeologists to manage 
heritage resources in the provinces as 
required by the legislation. The management 
of Archaeology, Palaeontology and 
Meteorites by Heritage Western Cape and 
AMAFA have shown over the past few  
years how well these resources can be  
managed at provincial level. These two  
authorities have had the capacity 
to undertake responsible proactive 
management of heritage resources. The 
SAHRA unit manager attends monthly 
permit meetings of the HWC APM Unit 
and receives notifications of the permits of 
AMAFA.

Archaeological Register Site Database 
The programming of the Archaeological 
Register Site Database was virtually complete 
when the National Heritage Resources 
Inventory System project (SAHRIS) was 
established. It has served as a source of Core 
Data Standards and a pilot of what is needed 
for archaeological and palaeontological 
sites in the Inventory. Final development 

of the user interface was put on hold while 
the initial phase of the National Inventory 
determines standards and methodology  
for the databases. The APM unit has, in the 
interim, appointed two part-time staff to 
map (using ArcGIS) the location of  
archaeological impact assessments. The Unit 
plans to produce maps of each province 
indicating the location of all archaeological 
and palaeontological impact assessments. 
They can then be made available to heritage 
authorities, developers and practitioners on 
CDs and perhaps on the Internet. Of  
the approximately 2000 reports thus far 
accessioned, some 200 have already been 
mapped.
 
APMHOB Permit Committee
The SAHRA Archaeology, Palaeontology, 
Meteorite, Heritage Objects and Burials 
Units (APMHOB) Permit Committee  
members: Dr Janette Deacon (Council) 
 Dr Ciraj Rassool (Council)   
 Dr Otsile Ntsoane (Council)
 Mr Jaco Boshoff   
 Dr Billy de Klerk   
 Mr Frank Ledimo  
 Ms Irene Mafune  
 Mr Makgolo Makgolo   
 Mr Siyakha Mnguni  
 Ms Nicky Rousseau   
 Professor Bruce Rubidge

Prestwich Place
The Prestwich Place Memorial for the 
human remains which is being built by 
the City of Cape Town on the advice of 
the Minister of Arts and Culture is nearing 
completion. The geyser and copper pipes at 
the mortuary were unfortunately the target 
of burglars, which led to some damage so 
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that the Archaeology Contracts Office was 
contracted to restore order.

Monitoring and Evaluation  
of Sites 
The annual monitoring and evaluation 
process at the Fossil Hominid Sites of the 
‘Cradle of Humankind’ was carried out suc-
cessfully as usual. The management author-
ity has appointed a consultant to undertake 
these reports and this will help ensure the 
timeous delivery of the reports and the im-
plementation of the decisions taken. Regu-
lar site inspections were also undertaken at 
Wonderwerk, near Kuruman, Port Nolloth, 
at burials exposed near Graaff Reinett and 
Middle Stone Age sites near Cradock. 

Sustainable Heritage 
Management and Tourism
Archaeological and palaeontological sites 
are increasingly becoming interesting to 
tourists. These sites are a non-renewable 
and fragile resource and, for sustainable use, 

Professor Peter Mtuze has retired. Prof Izak Rust was nominated by the Geological Society as          
he representative for Meteorites. 

Permit applications for the past two financial years were as follows:

it is important that adequate interpretation, 
infrastructure, conservation measures and 
professional management and monitoring 
are put in place. To do this properly 
requires funding which has sadly not yet 
eventuated. 

Conferences, Workshops and 
Meetings
Presentations were given at two profession-
al association conferences, the Association 
of Southern African Professional Archae-
ologists and the Palaeontological Society 
of Southern Africa, about the status of the 
PHRAs, Minimum Standards required for 
impact assessment reports, the need for ho-
listic heritage impact assessments and other 
heritage management matters relevant to 
these bodies. A highlight of the latter con-
ference was a trip to Nieu Bethesda, where 
local guides show visitors the fossil bones in 
the river bed and the James Kitching Karoo 
Fossil Exploration (Interpretive) Centre 
established by the Bernard Price Institute. 

 

PERMIT APPLICATIONS 2005-2006 2006-2007

 Archaeology & Burials  97 105 

 Archaeology Export   34  43

 Palaeontology & Palaeontology Export  9 15

 Meteorites 5 0

 Shipwrecks 3  2

 Heritage Objects  15  12

 TOTAL 163 180
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The Unit hosted three mini-workshops 
in January 2007 as part of regular 
annual meetings to discuss and set 
policy and standards in archaeology 
and palaeontology. The first was the 
annual meeting between SAHRA, 
the Association of Southern African 
Professional Archaeologists and the two 
PHRAs, Heritage Western Cape and 
AMAFA, that have established APM 
units. The second meeting carried this 
group forward to a meeting with the 
SAHRA provincial managers and members 
of staff from various newly established 
PHRAs and Provincial Departments of 
Cultural Heritage, to increase awareness 
of the need for professional staff in the 
PHRAs. The third was a meeting with a 
committee tasked by the Palaeontological 
Society of South Africa to ensure that the 
palaeontological component of impact 
assessments is done regularly and to 
develop standards for and assessment of 
the resultant report.

At the invitation of the Department 
of Arts and Culture SAHRA staff gave 

a presentation at a multi-disciplinary 
workshop for museums and related 
institutions in November 2006, as well as 
a presentation this year in the North West 
Heritage Workshop. A visit was made to 
the Limpopo SAHRA office to discuss the 
integrated review of impact assessments 
in the area and visit local sites. Meetings 
were also arranged between the APM 
unit, the Eastern Cape SAHRA office and 
the Departments of Environment and of 
Minerals and Energy to address the fact 
that the heritage components of impact 
assessments were not being conducted on a 
regular basis. 

Outreach, Education  
and Training
Five SAHRA staff were invited to spend five 
weeks excavating in Germany at the sites of 
Hohler Fels and Vogelherd in the province 
of Barren Wurttenburg. These sites form 
part of the Early Prehistory and Quaternary 
Ecology project run by Professor Nicholas 
Conard of Tübingen University. The 
programme was attended by a host of 
international students and gave SAHRA 
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staff the opportunity to engage in current 
debates within the field of archaeology 
and related heritage manage ment matters. 
Staff also gained practical archaeological 
fieldwork experience and a holistic view of 
German culture and living.

Archaeology, Fossils  
and the Law 
The pamphlet Archaeology, Fossils and the 
Law, printed this year, has been particularly 
successful and is being reprinted. It has 

so far been translated from English into 
isiXhosa and Afrikaans and there are plans 
to print it in SeSwati, as a translation 
has been arranged by the Mpumalanga 
provincial manager. The Unit cannot 
use professional translations without 
careful editing by heritage practitioners 
as heritage terminology is often 
mistranslated. It is the Unit’s intention 
to continue developing translations into 
other official languages. 
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Architectural Heritage  
Landscape Unit

Earthen Architecture
The revival, valuing and conserving of 
indigenous building methods and structural 
forms promotes the recovery and fostering 
of cultural identity, since contemporary 
culture increasingly denies or ignores 
indigenous knowledge. These methods 
and forms need to be acknowledged, 
resuscitated, given status and given a 
place in history, art and science books at 
schools and places of higher education 
and in the community. Knowledge of 
history and local and regional traditions 
counteracts the effects of acculturation. 
The climate of increasing globalisation and 
homogenisation, which threatens the values 
and expressions of cultural identities, can be 
tempered if indigenous knowledge systems 
are appropriately acknowledged. 

Earthen architecture is the world’s most 
ancient and the most common existing 
architectural expression but it has been 
regarded as inferior, despite the fact that 
earth has been used to build every kind 
of building, with no limitations on size or 
significance. Examination of traditional 
earth structures in all parts of the world 

reveals the skill of their architects in 
solving the serious problems involved 
in keeping them in sound condition and 
conserving them. They represent significant 
ingenious knowledge that should be 
recorded. Indigenous building systems 
form the core of South Africa’s building 
knowledge, and because children grow up 
helping their parents build and repair their 
homes, this knowledge is the expression of 
values, social customs, beliefs and myths.

Heritage Surveying, 
Interviewing and Mapping
Working with communities to uncover 
neglected heritage and to redress the 
imbalances is part of the process of bringing 
about transformation in heritage practice. 
Affirming cultural traditions, places and 
environments as part of the country’s 
heritage has an essential role to play 
in rebuilding human values within an 
awareness of the legacy and meaning of the 
past. Cultural context restores identity. 

Until recently, heritage management has 
not been effective because it was separated 
from planning. However, the implications 
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of the National Heritage Resources Act 
for local authorities are important. It 
places obligations on local authorities to 
carry out heritage management functions, 
providing for a more holistic and efficient 
management of those resources that are 
of local significance. These requirements 
include the identification, grading and 
management of the Heritage Register/
Inventory and the presentation and 
promotion of places of cultural  
significance.

Currently the Act ensures that structures 
older than 60 years may not be altered 
or demolished without a permit issued 
by heritage resources authorities. This 
provision may be lifted once a heritage 
survey has been carried out, and sites 
worthy of conservation are placed on the 
register or declared national or provincial 
heritage sites. This is a great incentive to 
ensure that survey is in fact carried out, 
because it will significantly reduce the 
number of building plans that need heritage 
clearance.

Funding received from the National 
Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF) 
for a SAHRA National Heritage Surveying, 
Oral History Interviewing and Mapping 
Programme has been used in the first of 
a series of programmes to be carried out 
in all the provinces. One of its founding 
principles is that SAHRA should establish 
a framework for an integrated resources 
conservation system throughout South 
Africa, and that resources should be made 
available for the training and education of 
heritage workers. 

This NLDTF programme uses the Heritage 
Surveying, Interviewing and Mapping 
Kit to begin the systematic surveying of 
South Africa’s rich heritage. The task will 
require people to be trained in heritage 
surveying, identifying and mapping the 
cultural heritage within cities, villages 
and settlements. The kit shows how to 
carry out a survey, conduct oral history 
interviews and provides people with 
the skills needed to conduct research in 
history and environment, mapping of sites, 
thus contributing to the definition and 
affirmation of cultural identity.  
Any group can obtain copies of the  
Heritage Surveying, Interviewing and 
Mapping Kit from SAHRA to carry out 
surveys. 

The first village in which the Heritage 
Surveying, Interviewing and Mapping 
Kit was used to train and create jobs that 
would ensure that communities play a role 
in compiling the national inventory of 
heritage resources, was McGregor in the 
Western Cape. Seven students were trained 
in this Heritage Programme to identify and 
document stories, histories, oral and living 
traditions and sites and environments of 
heritage importance. They will be required 
to produce a Heritage Management 
Plan for the village and it is hoped 
that they might be employed by other 
municipalities for this purpose. Included 
in this programme is the establishment 
of a group for the recording of traditional 
earth building practices in McGregor. This 
work is important because once sites are 
identified as having heritage significance, 
decisions about their protection can be 
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made, and a full inventory and heritage 
register can be created. It will then be 
available to developers, owners, planners, 
architects, as well as environmental and 
planning authorities. This will ensure 
cooperation between local and provincial 
planning authorities, and the integration of 
environmental and heritage management 
into development planning. 

Mentoring 
For transformation to advance within the 
heritage sector, the mentoring of heritage 
workers, guidance in carrying out projects 
and programmes, compiling applications 
or proposals for work in heritage matters 
is the most important work of the unit. 
Many students trained at the unit now 
work in the heritage sector and many are 
in management and other professional 
positions. 

National Heritage Sites Ad Hoc 
Permit Committee
A committee of staff members of the 
Heritage Resources Branch and Provincial 
offices of SAHRA evaluates proposals 
and provides permits for sites that are 

submitted to SAHRA for the destruction, 
damage, disfigurement, excavation or 
alteration, conditions of use, and conditions 
for the development of national heritage 
sites. Another committee of the Heritage 
Resources Branch evaluates proposals 
submitted to SAHRA for the declaration of 
national heritage sites, which are “places 
so exceptional that they are of special 
national significance” in terms of criteria set 
out in the Act. The Branch works closely 
with SAHRA provincial offices, provincial 
heritage agencies, local authorities, planners 
and community organizations.

Assistance to the Public, 
Integrated Management, 
Workshops and Conferences
Architectural advice on a range of 
subjects, including conservation and 
restoration, planning, the requirements 
of the National Heritage Resources 
Act, Heritage Management Plans, earth 
building, etc., is sought on a daily basis 
by the public, heritage practitioners and 
agencies. Meanwhile, the development 
of a SAHRA methodology for integrated 
heritage management is an ongoing 
process, and close examination of 
successful international and national 
integrated management and current 
debates informs the unit. Participation in 
workshops, conferences and seminars, as 
well as membership in committees dealing 
with architectural heritage landscape 
management, earthen architectural  
heritage and community participation  
form an essential part of the activities of  
the unit.
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Burial Grounds and Graves Unit

Youth Commemorative 
Projects

Alexandra Six Days War
The commemoration of the 20th anniversary 
of the Alexandra’s 1986 Six Days War 
for the 26 youths is proceeding well 
and a tender has been released for the 
conservation of graves and erection of a 
site interpretative plaque at the East Bank 
Cemetery. The unveiling ceremony was 
held on 19th of May 2007. 

1976 Youth Uprising
SAHRA has entered into a partnership 
with the June 16 Foundation and the 
Hector Peterson Museum to verify and 
memorialise names of the national 1976 
Youth Uprising casualties and activists 
who had subsequently died in unrelated 
incidents inside and outside the country.

East Rand Hand Grenade Incident
The KwaThema, Duduza, Tsakane Herit-
age Society (KWADUTSA) has approached 
SAHRA with a request to organize a com-
memorative event of the June 1985 inci-

dent associated with encroachment and 
destabilisation of youth resistance struc-
tures by agent provocateurs. SAHRA has 
been holding monthly meetings with the 
heritage body and has committed itself to 
conserve some of the twelve graves and 
provide advice regarding a sub-regional 
memorial site that KWADUTSA plans to 
develop to honour all the victims and to 
foster healing and reconciliation. 

Oudtshoorn Families Memorial 
Project
The project links up with the national 
youth resistance movement and the 
intensification of violent repression that 
resulted in the massacre of 12 youths by 
apartheid security forces in 1986. The 
project is spearheaded by the affected 
families who approached SAHRA for 
funding and were awarded R35 000 for a 
memorial, which is conceived as a place of 
healing and meditation. SAHRA’s role in 
the project is to conserve the graves of the 
12 youths and to provide advice on the 
design of the memorial and community 
participation.
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Women’s Projects

Sara Baartmann Commemorative 
Project
The Sarah Baartmann Reference Group 
held several meetings on processes that 
would lead to the finalisation of the project, 
and identified the following challenges:

· Intensifying research on Khoi culture  
and history as key components that  
would inform an appropriate    
memorialisation strategy for Sarah   
Baartmann;

· Establishing a stakeholder forum that   
would deliberate on the ownership   
and management of the site and   
outsourcing of a conservation  
management plan;

· Developing an integrated manage- 
ment plan that would incorporate the  
Kouga Municipality, Baviaanskloof  
Mega Reserve, Eastern Cape Depart- 
ment of Environmental Affairs and  
Tourism, as well as Departments of  
Sports, Recreation, Arts and Culture;

· Involving local institutions of higher  
learning in research and design of  
sustainable site development plan.

 
Charlotte Maxeke and 1956 Legacy 
Project
As part of the 50th commemoration of 
the 1956 Women’s March, launched 
by the Ministry of Arts and Culture in 
2006, SAHRA has developed a project 
for identification and conservation of 
graves to honour past women leaders. 
In 2006 SAHRA identified all the sites 
associated with Charlotte Maxeke that 
were earmarked for formal protection, and 
launched the project by restoring her grave 
at the historical Nancefield Cemetery.

Through consultations with the African 
Methodist Episcopal Church (AMEC) SAH-
RA received the blessing and participation 
of Maxeke’s maiden Mannya family mem-
bers, who are her only surviving relatives. 
The ANC Women’s League coordinated the 
headstone rededication and the unveiling 
of a memorial plaque at a ceremony which 
was held on 13th of September 2006 and 
presided by the Deputy Minister of Arts 
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and Culture, Hon. Ms Ntombazana Botha,. 
SAHRA remains a member of the DAC 
Reference Group for the Charlotte Maxeke 
Legacy project and continues to advise it 
on conservation, grading and declaration 
process, as part of the Wilberforce Institute 
Centenary in 2008.

The ANC Women’s League’s Secretary 
General, Ms Bathabile Dlamini, provided 
significant oral history on identification of 
burial places for other prominent women 
leaders who influenced the course of 
the liberation struggle in South Africa. 
Subesquently, SAHRA identified the 
grave of Frances Baard, after whom the 
greater Kimberley Municipality is named, 
and visited the graves of Bertha Mkize, 
Florence Mkhize and Dorothy Nomzansi 
Nyembe, the Natal organisers of the 1955 
Kliptown Freedom Charter meeting and 
the 1956 March. In commemoration of the 
1957/8 Sekhukhuniland and Zeerust Rural 
resistance, SAHRA intends acknowledging 
the leadership of women by honouring 
Chieftainess Madinoge Kgologe and the 
women of Phokeng. Cissie Gool and 
Annie Silinga have also been identified 

for the Western Cape, pending research 
for identification of sites and cultural 
contributions that they made.

In commemoration of Cecilia Makiwane’s 
graduation as the first African Registered 
Nurse in January 1908, SAHRA has 
conducted background research on the 
possible location of her grave in Thaba 
Nchu, Free State, where she died in 1919.

Queens and Female Traditional 
Leaders
In an attempt to diversify the project and its 
chronological focus, SAHRA has launched a 
project honoring the Zulu Queens for their 
role in the development of different Zulu 
monarchs’ careers, and the protection of the 
independence of the Zulu kingdom. Graves 
of Queens Mthaniya, Nandi and Ngqumbazi 
have been identified. Initially conservation 
efforts will focus on graves threatened by 
natural forces and development and which 
would thus be lost. Ongoing consultations 
on multi-faceted commemorative and 
memory projects with the Zulu royal family 
and the Royal Household office, are being 
facilitated by SAHRA KwaZulu-Natal office. 
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The project will be extended to other parts 
of the country to honour the baLobedu 
Queen Modjadji, royal women who have 
acted as regents, as well as warriors like 
Queen Mantantisi. 

Culturally Significant Graves
SAHRA KwaZulu-Natal office in partner-
ship with Usiba Writers Guild intends 
commemorating the 50th anniversary of Dr 
BW Vilakazi’s death in October 2007. Dis-
cussions with the Vilakazi family have been 
held and a consensus reached that within 
the serial sites associated with Dr Vilakazi, 
a commemorative plaque would be erected 
at Mariannhill where he is buried.

The Burial Grounds and Graves Division, 
in partnership with SAHRA Eastern Cape 
and the Provincial Arts and Culture De-
partment, is working on the conservation 
of graves and other heritage sites linked 
to early African intellectuals. Graves of 
SEK Mqhayi and Dr W Rubusana in the 
Amathole District have been identified for 
restoration for commemorative events dur-
ing the Heritage Month. In Grahamstown’s 
kwaNdancama settlement, the graves of the 

descendants of Chief Lobengula kaMzi-
likazi are earmarked for restoration and 
protection. The Zimbabwean diplomatic 
mission is expected to participate in the 
rededication of the burial ground. 

Collection of Names and 
Identification of Graves 
Project
The Center for the Study of Violence and 
Reconciliation (CSVR) has submitted a 
report on archival verification of names 
of victims who died in the liberation 
struggle, while Matimu Heritage 
Solutions further supplemented the 
process through research in government 
forensic and death registrations records. 
The list of names was published in the 
newspapers for public participation and a 
number of comments were received from 
affected families, requiring rectifications 
and or confirming the entries. A 
workshop with interested organisations, 
government departments and archival 
repositories was held on the 3rd of August 
2006, followed by a briefing to the 
Gauteng Portfolio Committee on Arts 
and Culture. 



43S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

The rollout of the project in Gauteng 
progressed well but it also highlighted 
challenges that would influence the roll-
out in other provinces. Meanwhile SAHRA 
has outsourced the formulation of a draft 
policy on memorialisation and participated 
in a forum convened by the Department of 
Justice to formulate a policy on exhumation 
and repatriation of remains of victims of 
conflict.

In addition, SAHRA undertook a fact 
finding trip to Mozambique and inspected 
the sites affected by cross-border raids, 
in particular the site of the Matole 
massacre and associated burial grounds. 
Subsequently SAHRA was invited by the 
DAC to participate in the drafting of a 
bilateral agreement with Mozambique on 
sustainable conservation and protection of 
South African graves.

SAHRA also participated in a roundtable 
discussion on the rights of the dead 
organised by the CRL Commission. 
Discussions largely focused on 
memorialisation and restorative justice for 

those who had disappeared during political 
conflict, as well as on the repatriation of 
spiritual and/or human remains of those 
who had died outside the country.

SAHRA has issued permits to the Special 
Task Team of the National Prosecuting 
Authority for the exhumation of missing 
extra-judiciary execution victims and was 
invited to the handing back of the remains 
to the families. SAHRA has contributed 
towards the marking of burial places 
for six of the exhumed victims whose 
remains have since been handed back to 
their families. It further provided advice 
regarding the safekeeping of unidentifiable 
remains and donations of clothing displayed 
at the Freedom Park Trust.  

SAHRA has outsourced the conservation 
of graves of the Mpondo Peasant 
Revolt (uNonqulwana) victims whose 
remains were exhumed and reburied in 
Mbizana, and is currently participating in 
discussions with the Oliver Tambo District 
municipality to memorialise all the sites 
associated with the incident.
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Grading and Declarations Unit

The Grading and Declarations Unit at the 
SAHRA head office was established in July 
2006. The mandate of the Unit as set out in 
the National Heritage Resources Act no. 25 
of 1999 (NHRA) is to manage the process of  
grading and declaration. The management 
of grading and declaration has been 
aligned to the strategic objectives of the 
South African Heritage Resources Agency 
(SAHRA) for the financial year 2006-2007, 
the South African government and best 
practice as set out by the World Heritage 
Centre. An interim strategic plan and 
budget were drafted for the period from 
July 2006 to March 2007 by the cultural 
officer. The Head of Unit was appointed on 
the 15th of November 2006.

In mid-November 2006 a unit manager was 
appointed to coordinate the management 
of grading and declarations. Since the 
appointment, operating systems have been 
put in place to ensure maximum efficiency 
regarding nomination of National Heritage 
Sites. 

These systems are being supported by  
a process of identifying gaps in existing 

guidelines, procedures, regulations and  
policies. The Unit also closely cooperates 
with other SAHRA units and branches, as 
well as with external stakeholders.
 
Achievements
Revision of Grading and Declarations  
procedures
° Separation of grading and declarations 

processes was completed. 
°  New draft SAHRA form 604 for 

Grading was formulated. 
° The existing list of themes drafted by 

the National Inventory Manager was 
expanded to include more specific 
categories to assess significance of sites. 

° New draft nominations format 
incorporating themes and specific 
categories was drawn up. Both were 
presented to the first Grading and 
Declarations Review Committee 
meeting.

° In February, the Grading and 
Declarations Unit head joined the 
task team to review the National 
Heritage Resources Act no.25 of 1999, 
which forms part of the South African 
government’s legislative review process.
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Developing a site identification and nomi-
nations strategy for SAHRA provincial staff
° Cross-provincial strategy was launched 

by compiling a list of mission stations 
in each province for serial nomination. 
It was felt that, and provincial staff and 
the Committee agreed, each mission 
station on its own would not qualify for 
national status but looked at together 
they accurately represented the activi-
ties of missionaries across South Africa, 
which had a profound influence on all 
South Africans.

° From the 1st to the 2nd of February the 
Grading and Declarations Unit partici-
pated in the final drafting of a strategic 
management document entitled ‘The 
Step-Ahead Vision’.

Identification
° Sites on the South African Tentative 

list for World Heritage Status were 
identified  with the aim of ensuring that 
the National Heritage status is obtained 
prior to World Heritage Status. 

° A list and information synopsis of 
identified sites, tentative sites, sites 
already graded by the Committee 

and the council, sites submitted 
for declaration, sites approved for 
declaration, and management plans 
were updated from a list drawn up by 
the head of the Archaeology unit in 
2003.

Assessment
° An assessment and review of the status 

quo regarding nominations was carried 
out. 

° After careful consultation and 
submissions to the Council the Gazette 
notice for Taung was revised.

Review Committee meetings
° The first Review Committee meeting 

was held in July 2006.
° The second Review Committee meeting 

was held on the 26th of January 2007 
and was attended by members of the 
Grading and Declarations Review 
Committee and provincial managers.

Cooperation and Training
° At the beginning of November the Unit 

head attended an ICCROM Sharing 
Conservations Decisions course
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° A meeting was held between staff of the 
Grading and Declarations Unit and Mr. 
Ntsizi November regarding cooperation 
between DEAT and SAHRA.

° The manager of the Grading and 
Declarations Unit represented SAHRA 
on the Robben Island Museum (RIM) 
Academic Review Committee, which 
has been tasked with reviewing the RIM 
Teaching Programme curriculum for 
2006, while planning the curriculum for 
2007.

° On the 27th of February the Unit 
participated in an induction programme 
for new staff members by explaining the 
functions and the procedures involved 
in grading and declarations to other staff 
members.

° SAHRA CEO, together with the Unit 
head and the Western Cape provincial 
manager, attended a meeting with RIM 
to determine how the RIM Integrated 
Conservation Management Plan could 
be implemented.

Community Participation
° The Unit attended the Richtersveld 

Management Committee presentation 
of its Conservation Management Plan 
to provincial, national and international 
bodies.

Workshops, presentations and 
meetings
° A new format and procedure for 

nominations were presented at the 
Heritage Resources Management 
meeting held at Mapungubwe in 
December 2006.

° On the 8th of January 2007 SAHRA staff 
attended a Robben Island Integrated 
Conservation Management Plan 
Workshop.

° On the 7th of February 2007 the manager 
of the Grading and Declarations Unit 
was selected to be part of the South 
African World Heritage Committee 
tasked with preparations for the 
upcoming World Heritage Committee 
meeting in Christchurch, New Zealand. 
This followed the selection of the Unit 
manager to the panel which evaluated 
and reviewed the nominations on the 
South African World Heritage tentative 
list.

° The Unit attended the National Heritage 
Council workshop on the 12th of March 
2007. 

Conclusion
The Grading and Declarations Unit is 
committed to the identification of new 
heritage resources, while managing and 
conserving existing heritage resources 
through processes of consultation and 
community participation, thus enabling 
SAHRA to fulfill its obligation toward 
nation-building as defined in the 
government imperatives.
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Heritage Objects Unit

The objective of the Heritage Objects Unit 
is to raise awareness of the objects that are 
protected in terms of the National Heritage 
Resources Act, No. 25 of 1999. What follows 
is an overview of the work the Unit carried 
out during the period under review. 

Cooperative Governance
SAHRA cannot successfully manage 
heritage objects without the participation 
of the general public, as well as private 
and public institutions, as required by the 
National Heritage Resources Act, No. 25 of 
1999. During the period under review the 
Unit managed to strengthen cooperative 
governance regarding the management of 
heritage objects.  

National Agency for the Law 
Enforcement of Heritage Related 
Crimes (NALEH)
As a member of NALEH, SAHRA provides 
secretarial services to the Agency. At the 
last quarterly meeting, the Organised Crime 
Provincial Heads reported on developments 
concerning the formation of provincial 
law enforcement committees to deal with 
heritage related crimes. These committees 

will include the Provincial Head of 
organised crime, SAHRA provincial 
manager, a provincial SAMA representative 
and representatives of other heritage 
related institutions. Part of the objectives 
of these provincial forums will be to 
introduce law enforcement on significant 
heritage sites. Because if the generally high 
crime rate in South Africa, crimes against 
significant heritage sites seldom receive the 
attention they deserved because the police 
have not been trained in the protection 
of heritage resources. Provincial heritage 
related committees will begin to address 
this problem. The Unit is very excited about 
this initiative, especially because SAHRA 
provincial managers have committed 
themselves to ensuring the success of the 
provincial formations.

Museums
The Unit has established good relations 
with museum and national gallery staff who 
provide expert advice on the significance 
of heritage objects that form part of the 
national estate. Some museum officials also 
play a role in advising on conservation of 
heritage objects.  
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Affected and Interested Persons/
Communities
Members of the public with an interest in 
heritage objects also play a role in advising 
the Unit on the significance, neglect or 
movement of heritage objects. However, 
the Unit is careful regarding any such 
advice if it could potentially lead to a 
conflict of interest.

Firearms of heritage value
Due to high rates of illegal weapons 
possession, the government has introduced 
more stringent licensing regulations, which 
affect not only ordinary gun owners, but 
also owners of firearms of heritage value. 
This has led to unlicensed firearms being 
handed in for destruction, although some 
of them may be of heritage value. The 
police and SAHRA have recently created 
mechanisms for such firearms to first be 
assessed by SAHRA firearm experts, who 
will coordinate this process throughout the 
country. Additionally, the SAPS directorate 
responsible for managing firearms held 
imbizos throughout the country to inform 
the public of the requirements of the 
Firearms Legislation concerning firearms 

ownership. SAHRA and SAMA members 
were also present at those meetings.

Museums which have firearms in their 
collections are also not exempted from 
complying with licensing requirements. 
Museum officials are of the opinion that 
because museums are the custodians of 
the country’s heritage objects, they should 
not be required to apply for licences or 
consider deactivating firearms as is required 
of private owners. SAMA Western Cape 
members and SAHRA held a meeting to 
this effect, resulting in SAMA taking the 
matter to its members. Attempts have 
been made to address this matter with the 
police directorate responsible for managing 
firearms, and this matter will be further 
explored. 

Coordinating the assessment of firearms 
of heritage value, as well as dealing with 
related queries from both the police and 
the affected public, represents the bulk of 
the work of the Unit. This function should 
be given a much greater priority because 
the NHRA clearly stipulates the need for 
cooperative governance between state 
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departments and SAHRA. Unfortunately, 
given the current resources, SAHRA does 
not have the capacity to do so. There is 
also concern as to whether this function 
should take precedence over focussing on 
neglected heritage.

Ifa Lethu
Ifa Lethu was established in November 
2005 and its initial core function is to 
repatriate artwork produced by black artists 
who left South Africa during apartheid 
when the work of black artists did not 
enjoy the same exposure and appreciation 
as that of white artists. At a workshop 
organised by ifa Lethu SAHRA indicated 
that the Act did not make provision for 
repatriation of heritage objects. However, 
there are opportunities for cooperation 
because some of the artwork that has 
already been returned may form part of the 
national estate.

Regulating the Export of 
Heritage Objects
At the beginning of the period under 
review, there appeared to be a drop in 
permit applications for overseas loans and 
export. However, the number of permit 
applications increased from February 
and thus far, twenty export permits have 
been processed and approved. Only three 
artworks were prohibited from being 
exported due to their significance for 
the national estate. This resulted in an 
application for the same three artworks to 
be temporarily exported in order to be put 
on display at an auction overseas, with the 
objective of informing potential buyers that 
these artworks could be bought in South 
Africa.

South African art has fetched record  
prices both in South Africa and overseas. 
A Gerard Sekota painting earned R1m at 
a Bonhams auction, while an Irma Stern 
painting fetched R7m in South Africa. 
Meanwhile SAHRA has started the process 
of auditing heritage objects that form part 
of the national estate. Details of the  
audit are expanded on elsewhere in this 
report. 

Although SAHRA has introduced a fee for 
processing permit applications, there have 
been no objections to it. However, there are 
still heritage objects being exported illegally 
either as part of domestic goods, in hand 
luggage or in suitcases. Whenever objects 
are advertised for sale at overseas auctions 
without a SAHRA permit, the matter is 
reported to the police. 

Outreach and Education 

Pamphlet and Poster
The Unit has produced a pamphlet 
informing the public of the protection 
of heritage objects that form part of the 
national estate, and requested SAMA to 
distribute it to all museums on its database. 
The Unit also posted the pamphlet to 
all national, provincial and local state 
departments. The pamphlet is in the process 
of being translated into Afrikaans, Xhosa, 
Zulu, Sotho and Swati. In addition to the 
pamphlet, an educational poster is available 
in English. 

Viewing of the Black Christ
Subsequent to the launch of the book 
detailing the artist’s experiences when 
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the Black Christ was unveiled in 1962, 
the Unit arranged for its staff to view the 
Black Christ along with other artworks at 
the Spirit of Luthuli exhibition at the St 
George’s Cathedral in Cape Town, which 
formed part of the Cape Town Festival. 
Those who attended the exhibition were 
addressed by the artist, Ronald Harrison. 
He spoke about the life of Chief Albert 
Luthuli, South Africa’s first Nobel Prize 
winner and the 40th anniversary of his 
death, which is marked in 2007. The 
significance of this artwork is that it was 
inspired by the Sharpeville massacre of 
1961. The face of Christ is in the image of 
Chief Albert Luthuli and it represents part 
of the struggle history of South Africa. The 
artist decided to use the face of Chief Albert 
Luthuli to represent the suffering of Christ 
and the suffering of black people. 

Cars of Heritage Value
A member of the public had alerted the 
Unit that cars of heritage value were 
about to be auctioned. The Unit sent a 
letter to the auction house that some of 
the cars that were going to be auctioned 
could not be exported. The letter caused 
great surprise and concern among vintage 
car owners and the matter was widely 
publicised in newspapers. Following this 
incident the Unit was invited to a meeting 
with individuals with an interest in cars 
of heritage value. The Unit also held 
discussions with other owners of vintage 
cars, all of which resulted in the drafting  

of guidelines on protection of cars of 
heritage value. These guidelines must still 
be circulated for public comment.
  
Stamps
A meeting was held with the Philatelic 
Society, which expressed its commitment 
to preserving stamps of heritage value. 
Guidelines for managing stamps of 
heritage value were developed and are 
going to be circulated for public comment.  

Fort Hare
The conservation of the Fort Hare 
collection has again received attention. 
The report and recommendations 
produced by Ms June Hosford have 
identified the measures that Fort Hare 
must put in place in order to conserve 
the collection according to best practice. 
Although some of the recommendations 
have already been implemented, there is 
still much to be done in order to ensure 
that this collection is preserved for future 
generations. This point was emphasised at 
a recent meeting held at Fort Hare where 
the University made a commitment to 
address this issue.   

Harvard Airplanes
The Harvard Club has set a process in 
motion in order to acquire a Harvard to 
replace one of the specifically declared 
Harvards that had crashed. The Unit 
appreciates the efforts of the Club to 
conserve the Harvards. 
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Presentations, Conferences 
and Invitations

DAC workshop
A presentation on the management and 
protection of heritage objects was given to 
heritage related institutions.

Presentation to SAMA Western Cape 
conference delegates
This year marked the 200th anniversary 
of the emancipation of slaves. The theme 
of the SAMA conference was on slave 
stories. The Unit informed the participants 
who visited the SAHRA office as part of 
the activities of the conference about the 
protection of heritage objects and the 
procedures that must be followed when 
heritage objects are loaned overseas. 
Examples used during this presentation 
were that of an armoire forming part of the 
Groote Schuure Collection and a privately 
owned Kitaab, both of which were loaned 
to the Netherlands for study purposes in 

order to obtain more insight into the lives 
of slaves at the Cape.  

Visit to Ysterplaat Museum
A meeting was held with the Ysterplaat 
Airforce museum in Cape Town. Although 
the museum budget is very limited, the 
commitment and loyalty of those involved 
with its management ensure that the 
aircraft and other objects are conserved 
according to best practice. For example, the 
Shackleton MK3, which was specifically 
designed for South Africa, is being 
conserved by two gentlemen with many 
years of experience

Conclusion 
Heritage objects are diverse and each 
requires specific restoration and 
preservation skills and knowledge. Unless 
South Africa begins to train new specialists, 
the conservation of heritage objects will 
remain with a few experts and some unique 
heritage objects will become neglected.
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Living Heritage Unit

“In Africa, every time an 
old man dies, a library burns 
down” Amadou Hampate Ba
Hampate Ba’s famous words do not only 
highlight the significant threat to our 
heritage but also echo a constant need for 
conservation and sustainable management 
of our living heritage. Indeed, living herit-
age represents knowledge and information 
sustained through memory and transmitted 
orally or by practice from one generation 
to the next. This means that living heritage 
is intrinsically fragile and susceptible to the 
threat of disappearance if it is not adequate-
ly safeguarded in a way consistent with its 
uniqueness and conservation needs. There 
is an urgent need to prevent further loss 
and to conserve this heritage for posterity, 
as it is irreplaceable.

The financial year 2006-2007 saw increased 
efforts by the Living Heritage Unit to inte-
grate the safeguarding of our living heritage 
into the mainstream of heritage resources 
management. According to the NHRA,  
SAHRA has an obligation to ensure the 
conservation of living heritage associated 
with sites and objects of cultural signifi-

cance. Thus it is the policy of SAHRA to 
ensure a holistic approach to the protec-
tion of our heritage resources, taking into 
account the conservation needs of both 
intangible and tangible heritage. In order 
to fulfill this obligation the Living Heritage 
Unit has started several initiatives, includ-
ing identification, assessment and grading 
of sites associated with living heritage. 
The Unit has also been instrumental in the   
process of identification, analysis and facili-
tation of the grading of potential Grade 1 
sites (national sites) associated with oral tra-
dition and other aspects of living heritage.

The Richtersveld Cultural 
Landscape: a Potential World 
Heritage Site
As a key stakeholder, SAHRA has been 
involved in the process of evaluating the 
heritage site and the nomination dossier 
for the tentative listing of the Richersveld 
Conservancy Area as a potential World 
Heritage Site. The SAHRA Northern Cape 
office, and the Grading and Declarations 
and Living Heritage Units have collectively 
joined expertise with several stakehold-
ers, including the National Department of 
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Environmental Affairs and Tourism, the 
Provincial Northern Department of Arts 
and Culture, and the Nama community of 
the Richtersveld, to facilitate the process 
of the listing of the Richersveld Conserv-
ancy Area on the World Heritage List. The 
Richersveld represents a diverse and unique 
heritage, both natural and cultural. Initially 
the site was identified and selected mainly 
for its rich biodiversity, however after 
several consultative meetings it was decided 
that the cultural heritage values of the site 
should be included and strengthened in 
the nomination dossier. In particular the 
intangible values associated with the tradi-
tional Nama practices of land management 
and use constitute a significant facet of the 
cultural heritage of the site. At the evalua-
tion meeting in October 2006 in the Rich-
ersveld, SAHRA had the opportunity to 
comment on the cultural heritage elements 
of the site and also urged that the site must 
first be declared a national heritage site 
before it can be considered for world herit-
age status. Drawing from the resolutions of 
the South African World Heritage Commit-
tee meeting, held in Kimberly in February 
2007, the site stands a good chance of being 

declared a world heritage status and has 
also been recommended for gazetting. 

Lake Fundudzi
Initially, the submission for the grading and 
nomination of the sacred Lake Fundudzi as 
a potential Grade 1 site (national heritage 
site) focused on the geological properties 
of the site, giving prominence to a single 
cultural attribute of the site and leaving the 
rest out. However, after several consultative 
meetings it was resolved that lake Funduzi 
should be considered also on the basis of its 
rich intangible heritage which amplifies the 
worth of the site as potential national herit-
age site. The intangible values associated 
with the historical sacred lake contribute 
to the broader understanding of the history 
and culture of the diverse communities and 
groups of South Africa. The submission has 
been strengthened with relevant informa-
tion and it is ready for consideration by the 
SAHRA council members.  

The First Nama Church 
The Living Heritage Unit and the Northern 
Cape SAHRA office, in association with 
the Commission for the Promotion and 
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Protection of Cultural, Religious and 
Linguistic Communities (CRL Commission), 
have recently embarked on the process of 
identification, assessment and promotion 
of the protection of the Nama heritage 
with a particular focus on the First Nama 
Church in Port Nolloth (Richtersveld 
Area). In summary, the First Nama Church 
is considered to be a physical manifestation 
and living proof of a unique merger of 
the Nama and Christian belief systems. 
In its threatened state the Nama Church 
represents a diminishing heritage of one of 
the first indigenous groups in South Africa. 
This heritage should be preserved as it 
contributes to the broader understanding 
of diverse South African culture and 
history. Research is ongoing to ascertain the 
historical validity of the church in terms 
of its provenance as well as the current 
cultural attributes associated with it. 

Heritage Celebrations  
– 24 September 2006 
It is customary to observe the 24thSeptem-
ber as the official day for heritage celebra-
tions in South Africa. Heritage celebrations 
are usually carried out as decentralised 

initiatives with broad public involvement at 
grass roots levels. Often every community 
is encouraged to prepare and host cultural 
activities around its heritage in celebration 
of this special day. On 24 September 2006, 
the Living Heritage Unit and CRL Commis-
sion celebrated the Nama cultural heritage 
in association with the Nama community of 
Port Nolloth. In particular, the celebrations 
were centered on the promotion of the 
marginalised Nama language and cultural 
practices such the Nama traditional ‘Stap’ 
dance. The active transmission of these 
cultural practices and expressions to the 
younger generation is of paramount im-
portance for the sustainable safeguarding 
of living heritage. Significantly, the Nama 
traditional ‘Stap’ dance, has recently been 
honoured at an International Japanese Con-
test on revitalisation of intangible cultural 
heritage.

Policy and Management Guidelines
Towards the end of 2006 the National 
Department of Arts and Culture initiated 
a national strategy on drafting a policy for 
the safeguarding of intangible cultural her-
itage. This process runs concurrently with 
the preparation for the ratification of the 
2003 UNESCO Convention on Safeguarding 
of the Intangible Cultural Heritage. In both 
instances the SAHRA Living Heritage Unit 
has been instrumental in providing exper-
tise and advice, and facilitating progress. 
SAHRA has also produced minimum stand-
ards (a rough draft policy) on the safeguard-
ing of intangible heritage resources. This 
draft has been forwarded to DAC and it is 
intended to serve as a discussion document 
to start the process of formulating a nation-
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al policy. The development of a national 
policy is scheduled to start once a panel of 
experts has been appointed by the Minis-
ter for this purpose.

The scope for the management of living 
heritage remains fairly limited within the 
framework of the current National Herit-
age Resources Act of 1999 (NHRA). The 
deficiency of instruments and inadequate 
operational directives for safeguarding 
makes it difficult for living heritage to be 
conserved in accordance with its needs. 
Recently though, SAHRA was afforded 
the opportunity to participate in the poli-
cy review process initiated by DAC. Once 
the DAC policy review is finalised, it is 
anticipated that the new Act will provide 
adequate and appropriate tools to enhance 
the management of living heritage.

Cooperative Governance and 
Social Cohesion

ICOMOS Intangible Cultural 
Heritage Workshop 
From the 30th of March to the 2nd of 
April 2007 SAHRA successfully hosted 

the first ICOMOS International Scientific 
Committee on Intangible Cultural Heritage 
(ICOMOS ISC ICH) workshop in Kimberly. 
It was funded by SAHRA and organised in 
partnership with the president of ICOMOS 
ISC ICH. The workshop was an experts-
meeting attended by several international 
and local heritage practitioners. The  
outcome of the workshop was the 
formulation of the following aims: 
° To start the drafting of the ICOMOS 

Charter on Intangible Cultural Heritage;
° To review existing instruments, such as 

the Kimberly Declaration and Eger Xi’an 
Principle etc; and 

° To establish a Secretariat for ICOMOS 
ISC ICH in South Africa. 

Appropriately, this meeting took place at 
a time when South Africa is preparing to 
ratify the 2003 UNESCO Convention on 
the Safeguarding of Intangible Cultural 
Heritage in order to become a member state. 
Most importantly, this meeting reflects the 
National Department of Arts and Culture 
strategy towards formulating a policy on the 
conservation and sustainable management  
of intangible heritage resources. 
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On a global scale, this meeting represents 
international efforts to integrate intangible 
cultural heritage into heritage resources 
management, in particular, the harmonisa-
tion of the 1972 World Heritage Conven-
tion and the 2003 UNESCO Convention on 
Safeguarding Intangible Cultural Heritage. 
Existing legal instruments focus on the 
conservation of material heritage while the 
intangibles are neglected, hence the urgent 
need to formulate appropriate policy and 
instruments that would formalise the safe-
guarding of intangible heritage resources. 
Among several recommendations made, it 
was resolved that the SAHRA Living Herit-
age Unit would serve as the Secretariat of 
the ICOMOS ISC ICH. 

Global Imperatives – UNESCO 
Expert-Meeting
SAHRA is rapidly gaining international 
recognition for its consistent reliable con-
tribution towards facilitating the imple-
mentation of the 2003 UNESCO Conven-
tion on Safeguarding of Intangible Cultural 
Heritage. While South Africa is preparing 
to ratify the 2003 UNESCO Convention, it 
remains equally important to engage in an 
international dialogue with experts on the 
feasibility of implementing the Conven-
tion at state level. With this aim, the Living 
Heritage Unit has participated three times 
in expert-meetings organised by UNESCO. 
Recently, the Living Heritage Unit received 
an invitation to participate in a UNESCO 
expert-meeting on the criteria for the 
establishment, updating and publishing of 
the Representative Lists of the Intangible 
Cultural Heritage of Humanity (Article 16) 
and the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage 

in Need of Urgent Safeguarding (Article 
17), set out in the Convention. The meet-
ing took place in India (New Delhi), from 
the 2nd to the 4th of April 2007.  

This meeting follows the 
Intergovernmental Committee meeting 
that took place in Algiers in November 
2006 on the establishment of criteria on 
listing of elements on Representative Lists. 
In preparation for the implementation of 
the UNESCO 2003 Convention, the New 
Delhi expert-meeting set out to design and 
propose a series of operational directives 
to serve as recommendations to the 
Intergovernmental Committee. 

Research and Development
One of the key objectives of SAHRA is 
to enhance the conservation of herit-
age resources. As a result there is a great 
opportunity for research development to 
enhance the conservation and sustainable 
management of living heritage, especially 
since intangible heritage is a fairly new ter-
rain in the heritage domain. A major part 
of research in the Living Heritage Unit is 
centered on the identification and analysis 
of existing legal instruments, standards 
and best practices for the safeguarding of 
intangible heritage resources. The rationale 
behind this research approach is based on 
the current deficiency in policy and man-
agement guidelines, as well as the urgent 
need to formulate well defined instruments 
for management. Through the research 
and development initiative, several man-
agement tools have been developed and 
published. These include the draft policy 
document and management guidelines for 
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the protection of living heritage integrated 
into the heritage resources management. 
The Unit has also produced several journal 
papers, articles and publicity materials, 
including the following: 
° A Heritage for the Present and Future 

Generation, for publication by the South 
African Youth Commission, 2006.

° Making Intangible forms of Heritage 
Tangible: Documentation and Recording 
of Living Heritage, 2006.

° Inventorying Intangible Forms of 
Heritage: Towards Creating a Data-Base 
and Register, 2006.

° Some Thoughts on the Application 
of Intellectual Property Rights to 
Intangible Cultural Heritage, 2005-2006.

° Living Heritage and Indigenous 
Knowledge Systems: Some Challenges 
and Opportunities, 2006. 

Raising Awareness and Public 
Education 
The idea of living heritage is still unknown 
among many South Africans. Often many 
communities are unaware of the importance 
of conserving aspects of their intangible 

heritage. This negates the prospects of a 
community expressing interest and taking 
responsibility for safeguarding its heritage. 
In addressing this issue the Living Heritage 
Unit has participated in several public 
awareness forums such as heritage indabas, 
conferences and workshops. At these 
forums the living heritage officer delivered 
audio/visual presentations and talks on 
specific topics, including the following:
° Towards Developing Policy on the 

Safeguarding of Living Heritage (2006),
° While Boundaries Exist Only In Our 

Minds, Living Heritage Permeates 
Across Heritage Domains: An empirical 
examination of the inextricable tie 
between tangibles and intangibles 
(2006),

° The Management of Intangible heritage 
in Museums (SAMA Conference - 2006)  

° The Scope of Living Heritage within 
the Ambit of Heritage Resources 
Management (Sites and Cultural 
Landscapes).

° The Use of Traditional and Local 
Knowledge in the Sustainable 
Management of Heritage Sites (2006). 

 



61S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

In order to enhance public understanding 
and education, the Living Heritage Unit 
has further produced another series of 
educational resource materials in the form 
of brochures and posters (see 2006-2007 
Poster/Brochure series). 

Basic Steps Towards Safeguarding 
The Living Heritage
°	 Social consultation; 
°	 Identification and assessment;

°	 Documentation;
°	 Promotion and dissemination of 

information; and 
°	 Transmission of knowledge and 

information.

“While boundaries exist only 
in our minds, living heritage 
permeates across heritage 
domains”
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Maritime Archaeology Unit

In light of the above, the Underwater 
Cultural Heritage Unit has identified 
a number of sites that are of national 
significance. These sites cover a range of 
types from shipwrecks to pre-colonial sites. 
The Unit has initiated extensive outreach, 
education and public awareness campaigns 
aimed at a wide cross-section of the 
population. Lectures, demonstrations and 
field trips have been undertaken, involving 
current and future resource managers and 
users, as well as other interested parties. 
The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
has closely examined current underwater 
cultural heritage policies and legislation 
and has revised them to fit the current 
South African context. At the same time, 
the Unit has developed international 
relations that will serve the South African 
Heritage Resources Agency well in its 
continuing mission to protect and manage 
the country’s cultural heritage.

Identification and Formal Protection 
of National Heritage Sites
The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit is 
tasked with the identification, protection 
and management of the underwater cul-

The physicist Richard P. Feynman (1918 
– 1988) said: “You can know the 
name of a bird in all the lan-
guages of the world, but when 
you’re finished you’ll know 
nothing whatsoever about the 
bird… So let’s look at the bird 
and see what its doing…That’s 
what counts. I learnt very early 
the difference between know-
ing the name of something and 
knowing something”. 

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
tried to incorporate this philosophy into its 
programmes and activities for 2006/7. The 
focus of managing the resource has moved 
away from merely listing sites towards the 
interpretation and meaning of the sites in 
the South African context. The relevance 
and importance of Underwater Cultural 
Heritage management has been examined 
in order to align it with national and inter-
national heritage practices. The Underwater 
Cultural Heritage Unit has also incorporat-
ed a holistic view of heritage management 
that connects underwater sites with terres-
trial backdrops, objects and living heritage. 
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tural heritage along South Africa’s coastline 
and its internal waters and rivers. In order 
for this task to be successfully completed, it 
has been necessary to begin the process by 
identifying sites which broadly represent 
the full spectrum of South African society 
and which serve the national heritage inter-
ests. The goal of this process is to have these 
sites declared as National Heritage Sites.

Three separate sites have been identified. 
These are:
°	 Stone walled pre-colonial fish traps 

between Cape Point and Mossel Bay, 
Western Cape;

°	 Arniston/Waenhuiskrans/Cassiesbaai, 
Western Cape; and

°	 The wreck of the Mendi, United 
Kingdom and Memorials, South Africa

These sites have been identified as potential 
National Heritage Sites as they are widely 
representative and relevant. The sites 
cover a number of spheres related to 
Underwater Cultural Heritage including 
shipwrecks, human exploitation of marine 
resources, related terrestrial structures and 
development, related living heritage and 

bilateral international influence. The sites 
are also representative of South Africa’s 
cultural diversity and demonstrate the 
relevance of Underwater Cultural Heritage.

Stone Walled Pre-Colonial Fish Traps 
(Visvywers)
Little is know about the stone walled fish 
traps that are scattered along the coast of 
South Africa. Research seems to indicate 
that these structures were built and used 
long before European and Arab explorers 
ventured into Southern African waters. 
Although the traps were first described by 
Dutch settlers who were expanding their 
territories north-east along the coast, they 
are much older. Studies of fishing practices 
focusing on the traps demonstrate that their 
use was limited by tides and phases of the 
moon. The walls of the traps were most 
deeply covered by rising tides during the 
full and new moon phases (spring tides). 
The increased depth of water over the walls 
allowed larger fish over them. When the 
tide receded, the fish was trapped behind 
the stone walls and was easily caught. It 
has been suggested that the traps were 
most effective at night during new moon 
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spring tides or during full moon spring tides 
when the moon was hidden by overcast 
conditions. The reason for this appears to 
be that the fish can see the walls when 
they are illuminated. Graham Avery’s1 
research suggests that varying sea levels 
would influence the effectiveness of the 
traps. The position of the traps indicates 
that current sea levels are optimal for 
exploitation. Current sea levels have existed 
for approximately 2000 years making it 
possible to date the traps.

Pre-colonial fish traps at 
Waenhuiskrans
The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit has 
identified these traps as being important 
for a number of reasons. Firstly, the traps 
represent a sphere of underwater cultural 
heritage that has enjoyed little exposure 
in the past. In order for South Africans to 
embrace their underwater cultural heritage, 
it is necessary to demonstrate its relevance 
and importance. The fish traps reveal South 
Africa’s long maritime history and can serve 
as an important means by which awareness 
of it can be increased. Minimal research 
and information regarding these structures 
makes this project important. As one of 
the oldest forms of continuously working 
technology in South Africa, it is imperative 
that more knowledge concerning their 
construction and use is gained. The 
influence of this type of fishing on the 
development of early peoples of South 
Africa should be examined. The process of 
submitting a serial nomination to protect 
the fish trap sites will be an effective means 
of carrying out the management mandate.

Various challenges to nomination and 
declaration of the fish trap sites have been 
identified. In some instances the traps 
form part of other heritage or conservation 
sites and a solution to possible double 
nomination must be found. The sites also 
span a variety of management disciplines 
within the South African Heritage 
Resources Agency. Because the traps are 
still used in some instances, there is a 
living heritage component that must also 
be taken into consideration. The traps are 
usually associated with shell middens or 
other terrestrial sites and must therefore be 
integrated with archaeology elements. The 
Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit has 
adopted a holistic heritage approach that 
will allow it to resolve these challenges. 
It is important to note that the pre-
colonial fish traps are still in use today, 
making them one of the oldest working 
technologies in the country.

SS Mendi
On the 21st of February 1917, the ss Mendi 
was rammed by the steamer Darro in 
the dark fog of the English Channel. The 
Mendi sank within 25 minutes taking 
almost 650 men with her. The vessel 
carried 823 members of the 5th Battalion 
of the South African Native Labour Corps 
destined for duty in France in World War 
I. Stories of bravery and acts of selflessness 
on the part of those aboard the vessel 
abound, most notably the story of the 
Battalion’s chaplain, the Reverend Isaac 
Dyobha, who rallied the men on the decks 
of the sinking vessel and addressed them:

1 Avery, G. (1975) Discussion on the age and use of tidal fish-traps (visvywers). South African Archaeological Bulletin 30:105-113.
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“Be quiet and calm, my countrymen, 
for what is taking place is exactly 
what you came to do. You are going 
to die, but that is what you came 
to do. Brothers, we are drilling the 
death drill. I, a Xhosa, say you are 
my brothers. Zulus, Swazis, Pondos, 
Basothos and all others, let us 
die like warriors. We are the sons 
of Africa. Raise you war cries my 
brothers, for though they made us 
leave our assegais back in the kraals, 
our voices are left with our bodies.”

The Mendi became a symbol of injustice 
and an icon of unity in the struggle against 
apartheid and racism, while Reverend Isaac 
Dyobha’s name is commemorated with 
others who lost their lives on the Mendi 
at a Commonwealth War Memorial in 
Southampton, UK

In total, over 70 000 black South Africans 
were drafted into the Labour Corps, 
working first in German South West Africa 
and East Africa, then France, but few have 
been recognised due to South Africa’s 
political past. The wreck of the Mendi, the 
memorials to the ship and her men, and the 
symbol of struggle, injustice and unity that 
they represent make this one of the most 
significant events in South Africa’s history. 
The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
has, therefore, identified the wreck and 
associated memorials as potential National 
Heritage Sites.

Together with various South African 
Heritage Resources Agency provincial 

offices, it is envisioned that a complete 
catalogue of memorial sites can be 
assembled, researched and proposed for 
serial nomination for National Heritage Site 
Status. 

The declaration and protection of the 
wreck site itself poses various challenges. 
The wreck lies in foreign waters and 
the ship did not belong to South Africa. 
The site does therefore not fall under 
South African stewardship. A partnership 
between heritage managers in the 
United Kingdom and those in South 
Africa has been examined. Members of 
the Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
travelled to the United Kingdom and met 
with relevant individuals from English 
Heritage and Wessex Archaeology, who 
have already initiated a project to gather 
historical information surrounding the 
ship and the Labour Corps. Officials in the 
United Kingdom are enthusiastic about 
developing suitable options for protection 
in conjunction with the South African 
Heritage Resources Agency. Options 
include the completion of Side Scan Sonar 
and Multi-beam surveys of the wreck site 
and the development of media aimed at 
potential resource users.

Arniston/Waenhuiskrans
The area incorporating Arniston/
Waenhuiskrans contains numerous heritage 
resources of national significance and has 
thus been identified as a potential National 
Heritage Site. Although the Western 
Cape office of the South African Heritage 
Resources Agency has already proposed 
this site and has made extensive progress 



67S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

towards declaration, the Underwater 
Cultural Heritage Unit has made efforts 
to be more involved in this process. The 
occurrence of fish traps, a significant wreck, 
a fishing community and related maritime 
heritage sites means that this site contains a 
considerable underwater cultural heritage 
component. During the course of 2006/7, 
the Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
conducted several site visits to the area. The 
visits included contact with local community 
members who currently use resources such 
as fish traps, local law enforcement officers 
in the South Africa Police Force, SAN Parks, 
Sea Fisheries and harbour administrators.

Outreach, Education and Public 
Relations
As in previous years, the Underwater 
Cultural Heritage Unit has committed 
itself to a strong outreach, education and 
awareness programme. The combined 
functions of the Unit within the South 
African Heritage Resources Agency and its 
National Survey of Underwater Heritage 
have allowed unprecedented opportunities 
to take underwater cultural heritage to 
communities.

Visiting Schools in Philippi  
and Guguletu
The National Survey of Underwater 
Heritage makes provision for an internship 
programme that offers practical, hands-on 
training in underwater cultural heritage 
matters. This year’s programme included 
commercial diving, small boat skipper and 
first aid courses for two new members of 
the Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
team. The skills transferred through these 
courses will offer opportunities not only in 
the heritage field, but also in commercial 
sectors.

The programme further allowed for 
two team members to attend project 
management courses. These will again 
increase the level of expertise in the Unit, 
improve people’s skills and assist in further 
promoting and protecting underwater 
cultural heritage and associated projects.

Finally, a team member attended the 
MAG Conference II: Managing the Marine 
Cultural Heritage in Portsmouth, United 
Kingdom. The conference examined 
the many approaches to management of 
underwater cultural heritage around the 
world and provided valuable knowledge in 
this regard.

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
has been actively promoting underwater 
cultural heritage through a series of lectures 
and talks. This year lectures have been 
presented to:
°	 4 schools in Philippi and Guguletu
°	 The Cape Peninsula University of  

Technology
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°	 MAG Conference II: Managing the 
Marine Cultural Heritage

°	 The Natal Sharks Board
°	 Association of Diving Doctors
°	 Centre for Portuguese Nautical Studies 

Conference
°	 Darling Museum
°	 The Ship Society
°	 Various interested clubs and societies

The Unit has also published articles in 
Divestyle magazine and the Cape Odyssey.

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
strives to keep underwater cultural heritage 
issues firmly at the forefront of resource 
users’ minds. For this reason it must 
constantly develop new initiatives and 
informal partnerships with organisations 
that access sites or interact with potential 
resource users. To this end, the Unit has 
continued its established interactions with 
diving schools and shops and created new 
contact with developing ones. This year 
the Unit has begun negotiations on the 
development of an awareness programme 
aimed at recreational divers together with 
Sharedive. The programme will incorporate 
some basic heritage issues into established 
diving courses. Although the courses will 
not be specialised heritage courses, they 
will promote the protection ethic.

Promotion of awareness of underwater 
cultural heritage must be extended beyond 
direct users of the resources. It is important 
to create consciousness of the goals and 
practices of conservation and protection 
among managers or related resources, 
interested parties and local communities. 

This has been achieved through cooperation 
with institutions such as:
°	 The South African Environmental Aware-

ness Project which develops community 
environmental programmes for learners;

°	 The Centre for Portuguese Nautical 
Studies which incorporates an extensive 
network of interested amateurs and local 
resources;

°	 The Natal Sharks Board which manages 
natural resources in KwaZulu/Natal;

°	 Popular media such as Divestyle, Sub-
merge and Cape Odyssey which reach a 
large cross-section of society with an in-
terest in underwater issues and heritage.

High School learners visiting  
Robben Island
Promotion of tourism has further been 
achieved through construction of Wreck 
Route boards at shipwreck sites. The collec-
tion of historical data and the production of 
suitable information boards must be strin-
gently controlled in order to ensure correct 
information is displayed. One such board is 
displayed at the Lamberts Bay Museum com-
plex, detailing the wreck of the Sybille.

By working with educational institutions 
such as schools and universities the 
Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit has 
targeted future maritime resource managers. 
The Unit’s holistic philosophy suggests 
that although these managers may not be 
directly involved in the management of 
heritage resources, an ethos of cooperation 
can and should be developed at the early 
stages of their careers.. By supplying them 
with management tools, it will be possible to 
develop a wide national awareness network.
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Strong national and international ties have 
been developed over the past year. Some of 
these have been mentioned above and have 
resulted in the development of a strong 
international network of individuals willing 
to invest their expertise in the management 
of underwater cultural heritage. Some 
other important initiatives have also been 
pursued.

On a local level, the Underwater Cultural 
Heritage Unit has developed strong ties 
with communities in the St Helena Bay 
area. Continuation of the project to survey 
the Bay and locate the wreck of the Gouden 
Buys (1693) has resulted in two fieldwork 
trips to the area as well as the presentation 
of lectures to the local community. The 
community has responded enthusiastically 
to the Unit’s efforts and has assisted the 
project with personnel, equipment, time, 
research and management. It has also 
provided front-end loaders to explore 
potential wreck sites located in the 
intertidal zone and microlight aircraft to 
conduct visual surveys for potential wreck 
sites offshore. Numerous individuals have 
been patrolling large sections of the Bay 

searching for wreckage or wreck objects. 
Their efforts are greatly appreciated 
and have gone a long way to promoting 
underwater cultural heritage.

The Gouden Buys project has already 
established international cooperation with 
Dutch students and had initiated closer 
contact with the government of the Nether-
lands. Dutch-South African relations were 
further developed this year. The Underwa-
ter Cultural Heritage Unit travelled to the 
Netherlands to conduct meetings with of-
ficials from the Rijksdienst voor Archeolo-
gie, Cultuurlandschap en Monumenten and 
the Rijksdienst voor het Oudheidkundig 
Bodemoderzoek to establish a network of 
heritage management practitioners. Follow-
ing this visit, Robert Parthesius, director of 
the Centre for International Heritage Activ-
ities in the Netherlands was commissioned 
by the Consulate of the Kingdom of the 
Netherlands to visit South Africa to assist in 
the development of a proposal focusing on a 
programme for the development of under-
water cultural heritage in South Africa and 
shared the two countries’ cultural heritage.

Heritage Management
Heritage management forms the core of the 
South African Heritage Resources Agency’s 
function. The Underwater Cultural 
Heritage Unit has devoted a good deal of its 
time to this task in the past year. A number 
of heritage management concerns have 
been dealt with in the past year and will 
be discussed here. These include the public 
participation process aimed at ratification of 
the UNESCO Convention on the Protection 
of Underwater Cultural Heritage, a review 



70 S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

of underwater cultural heritage legislation 
and a review of the South African Heritage 
Resources Agency’s shipwreck policy.

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit and 
other senior managers at the South African 
Heritage Resources Agency attended the 
public consultation on the Convention 
for the Protection of Underwater Cultural 
Heritage organised by the Department 
of Arts and Culture, where they made 
a presentation. The meeting offered an 
opportunity for interested parties to express 
their support or concerns regarding the 
Convention. Although consensus could not 
be reached, it was possible for the Policy 
Development Unit of the Department of 
Arts and Culture to better understand the 
concerns of the various stakeholders. 

The dominant issue of 2006/7 has been 
a shipwreck policy review. Various 
contentious issues surrounding the 
shipwreck policy were identified at the 
public participation meeting focusing on 
the UNESCO Convention on the Protection 
of Underwater Cultural Heritage. Concerns 
regarding the policy were noted and 
discussed within the South African Heritage 
Resources Agency internal structures. It 
became evident that although the South 
African Heritage Resources Agency had 
developed a strong theoretical policy 
that concerns itself primarily with the 
protection of underwater cultural heritage 
sites, the policy does not deal effectively 
with the implementation of protection and 
management measures. The policy must 
encourage high international scientific 
standards as expected from researchers 

all over the world     and meet the 
requirements for conservation and study 
of the resource. The policy must encourage 
scientific exploration and community 
participation and seek to give ownership 
of the underwater cultural heritage to all 
South Africans. At the same time, it must 
align itself with current legislation and the 
South African environment.

To this end, a second public meeting was 
arranged in which policy development 
could be discussed. The meeting concluded 
that a three year grace period that allowed 
certain commercial salvage to take place 
would be tabled at the South African 
Heritage Resources Agency Council 
meeting and that a strong, achievable and 
sustainable policy would be developed by 
2010.

The South African Heritage Resources 
Agency further participated in the 
preliminary discussions regarding the 
development of new legislation for the 
management of the underwater cultural 
heritage resources. Early discussions with 
the Department of Arts and Culture have 
been encouraging.

The South African Heritage Resources 
Agency has continued its cooperation 
with external entities. The Underwater 
Cultural Heritage Unit has continued in 
its efforts to include underwater cultural 
heritage in the curricula of universities and 
schools. As mentioned above, the Unit has 
lectured at the Cape Peninsula University 
of Technology and at various schools. It 
has also discussed possible opportunities to 
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develop underwater programmes with the 
University of Cape Town. The Unit has also 
continued to develop its close cooperation 
with the maritime archaeologist at Iziko 
Museums and has assisted where possible in 
the Slave Wreck Project. Finally, the Unit 
has been greatly assisted by the SAPS Water 
Wing based at the Port of Cape Town. 
Not only has this police unit assisted the 
Unit in monitoring shipwrecks and diving 
activities, but it has shared the location of a 
number of shipwrecks in Table Bay.

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit 
has worked with the National Ports 
Authority on three major development 
issues this year. The Port Authority has 
been developing and upgrading harbours 
at Coega, Durban and Cape Town. 
Dredging and construction activities affect 
underwater cultural heritage at all of these 
sites. The wreck of the County of Pembroke 
lies in the shipping basin at Coega, a 
number of wrecks may be located north 
of the mouth of the Port of Durban, and 
the Table Bay Anchorage is located partly 
below the Ben Schoeman Dock in the Port 
of Cape Town. Permits for the removal and 
relocation of the County of Pembroke have 
been issued while the latter Ports are still 
under review.

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Unit has 
examined and tested various management 
tools to assist with the administration of 
underwater cultural heritage sites. These 
tools have included the further update 
of the South African Heritage Resources 
Agency’s shipwreck database and the 
testing of 3-Dimensional mapping tools that 

may be applied to shipwreck sites. Initial 
tests carried out on structural shipwreck 
remains of the Commodore II located above 
the high water mark on Milnerton Beach 
have proved successful and will be tested 
on submerged sites.

Conclusion
In determining its programmes and 
activities, the Underwater Cultural Heritage 
Unit has endeavoured to align itself with 
the South African Heritage Resources 
Agency’s five strategic priorities, namely:
°	 Conservation Enhancement;
°	 Cultural and natural integration;
°	 Heritage Tourism;
°	 Transformation; and 
°	 Global initiatives

The initiatives reported on above relate 
strongly to these priorities and to the 
development of the South African 
Heritage Resources Agency as a leader in 
African heritage management. The role 
of the South African Heritage Resources 
Agency’s Underwater Cultural Heritage 
Unit is developing and expanding as 
greater understanding and awareness of 
underwater cultural heritage is developed. 
The importance of the resource to all 
South Africans is becoming clearer and 
the South African Heritage Resources 
Agency’s responsibility as resource manager 
is becoming increasingly significant. 
Development of strategies that are 
protective, inclusive and unifying will 
ultimately determine the success of the 
Agency in the protection of this non-
renewable resource for present and future 
generations.
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National Inventory Unit

The period under review was marked by 
the successful implementation of the first 
phase of the National Audit and the design 
of the South African Heritage Resources 
Information System (SAHRIS). This project 
was approved by Parliament in order 
to inventorize all state-owned heritage 
resources, as required by Section 39 of the 
National Heritage Resources Act, which 
stipulates that SAHRA must establish a 
national database of heritage resources, 
both moveable and immoveable. 

Pilot Audits
Over 5000 heritage objects held at the 
Groote Schuur Estate, Parliament, Tuyn-
huys, Union Buildings and Bryntirion 
Estate have been entered onto a database 
and digitally photographed to a high stand-
ard as part of the first phase of the National 
Audit. Management databases for these 
collections are now in place, with copies 
of the contents held centrally within the 
National Inventory database. Photographs 
of many of the audited items are going to be 
posted on the Internet in order to make the 
heritage resources more widely accessible. 
This will bring to public view many of the 

collections that are currently in storage or 
are otherwise inaccessible. A number of 
management issues within the locations of  
these collections have been identified 
during the audit, and are currently being 
addressed. 

Survey of Heritage Custodians
A national survey of state supported 
institutions has been conducted to ascertain 
the current state of heritage management 
at the institutions responsible for the 
custodianship of heritage resources. This 
survey covered national and provincial state 
departments, municipalities, museums, 
universities, statutory bodies and a number 
of other potential public custodians of 
heritage resources. 

The survey has identified a number of 
concerns relating to the management of 
heritage resources held within public 
bodies. Lack of skills and staff to adequately 
manage the collections was identified as 
the single largest problem affecting public 
heritage custodians. Moreover, 30% of the 
respondents to the questions relating to  
loss and theft over the last five years  
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indicated that this has been an issue in  
their institutions. 

Most of the designated museums responded 
to the survey, which yielded valuable 
information relating to the collections held 
in these museums and their management. 
Various problems were identified, 
including the relatively low availability of 
the collections in digital format. Lack of 
staff and skills were indicated as the main 
causes of these shortcomings. The response 
to the survey by other bodies was low, 
mainly due to the fact that in most of these 
institutions there was no designated person 
or unit taking responsibility for the heritage 
objects under its custodianship. This is 
a clear indication that not only should a 
comprehensive audit take place, but that 
SAHRA should assist these institutions 
with implementing proper management 
processes.

Other Deliverables
The first phase of the project also focused 
on the development of data standards. 
Currently SAHRA is putting in place a 
mechanism for developing, maintaining and 

dispersing national standards for describing 
heritage resources. Considerable progress 
has also been made with respect to the 
design of SAHRIS. Further development 
of this system will take place in the second 
phase of the project. The final stage of the 
first phase will see a rollout of the National 
Audit to as many custodian institutions as 
possible. 

Existing Databases
The National Inventory is responsible 
for the daily management of a number of 
databases which will eventually form part 
of SAHRIS. These include the database of 
formally protected sites (3 000 sites), other 
heritage places (24 000 sites), shipwrecks 
(3 000 shipwrecks), victims of conflict (60 
000 records) and architects practicing in 
SA until 1950s, as well as general daily 
management databases.

A significant project of scanning and digitis-
ing all gazette notices relating to declared 
sites has almost been completed, which will 
enable SAHRA to post an accurate database 
of formally protected sites on the Internet 
in the near future.
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The year under review has been extremely 
busy for the National Inventory due to the 
launch of the first phase of the National 
Audit. The project has been presented both 
at national heritage forums in South Africa 

and at a number of international forums. 
The coming year also promises to be very 
productive with the rollout of the main 
auditing phase of the project.



76 S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

During the period under review, 

the South African Heritage  

Resources Agency (SAHRA)  

Eastern Cape office embarked  

on heritage management  

training for local and district 

municipalities. The professional 

training focused on legal  

imperatives of managing heritage 

in an integrated fashion for the 

benefit of local authorities and 

communities. Four workshops 

were held in Inxuba Yethemba, 

Cacadu district municipality and 

Matatiele local municipality, 

which were attended by  

municipality staff and councillors.
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Eastern Cape

As a result of these workshops, most local 
authorities now have heritage forums 
to manage heritage, which also provide 
opportunities for developing valuable 
networks in the sector. Some of the issues 
addressed by these forums are:

° Opportunity for local authorities;
° Legal imperatives;
° Integration of planning and heritage 

management;
° Heritage impact assessment;
° Graves and burial sites;
° Grading & declaration processes; and
° Public participation on heritage issues.

Cooperation with communities is beginning 
to yield tangible results for heritage 
management. Community members are 
beginning to report violations of the Act 
(National Heritage Resources Act, No. 25 of 
1999) and destruction of heritage resources. 
For example, in Jeffrey’s Bay a developer 
illegally demolished shell middens, but as 
a result of community involvement, he 
was arrested for violation of the National 
Heritage Resources Act (No.25 of 1999). 
The outcome of the case is still pending.

Lock Street Jail
SAHRA Eastern Cape office and the 
Department of Arts and Culture have 
created a partnership with Women in 
Creative Industries. This partnership aims 
to restore the Lock Street jail and turn it 
into a National Women’s Museum. The 
objectives of the project are:
° To preserve the historic structure in 

Fleet Street;
° To create a National Women’s Memorial 

Museum;
° To establish an economic hub for craft 

workers; and
° To use the structure for community 

benefits.

The proposed National Women’s Museum 
will be an integrated place where women 
can find creative ways to eradicate poverty. 
Negotiations with the current owner are 
underway, however the success of the 
project will depend on the availability of 
funds. SAHRA’s involvement in the project 
is to formally protect the building and 
declare it a National Heritage Site during 
the current financial year (2007/8).
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Fostering Heritage Cooperation
In the Eastern Cape, SAHRA and the 
African Renaissance leadership have 
established formal cooperation mechanisms 
aimed at intensifying working relations, 
fostering heritage cooperation, encouraging 
intellectual debate and bringing an African 
perspective to heritage management. With 
this aim, an African Renaissance workshop 
was organised by SAHRA. As a result of the 
workshop:
° New perspectives on African Renaissance 

are being formulated;
° Heritage cooperation is fostered;
° New audiences and communities have 

been reached;
° African intellectual memories are being 

preserved;
° Heritage management is carried out from 

an African Renaissance perspective; and 
° Heritage Management has been in-

tegrated into the poverty eradication 
programmes.

These interactions are fostering appreciation 
of heritage management, and cultivating 
awareness and promotion of African Renais-
sance in the Eastern Cape. 

Projects Funded by SAHRA
SAHRA is trying to fulfill its mandate by 
funding the restoration and rehabilitation of 
rural heritage resources such as:
° King Lobengula grave site in Makana, 

Luvuyo location in Grahamstown;
° Restoration of Ayliff church in Peddie;
° Reconstruction of African Native 

Mission church in Qunu; and
° Fencing of St Marks Mission Parish in 

Cofimvaba.

The aim of the restoration projects is to 
address disparities in heritage management, 
ensure that rural communities access 
heritage funding, and to preserve rural 
heritage resources. These restoration 
projects are established on Reconstruction 
and Development Programme principles, 
employ local labour and are driven by 
local communities. Through these projects 
SAHRA is preserving landmark sites 
associated with religion and intangible 
aspects of heritage.

SAHRA’s Properties
SAHRA Eastern Cape office is managing the 
following four properties across the prov-
ince, which were declared in terms of the 
National Monument Act (28 of 1928):

  PROPERTY  LOCATION

1.  The Lookout Kirkwood

2.  Old Residency King William’s Town

3.  Mooimeisiesfontein Riebeeck East

4.  Old Gaol Grahamstown

These properties are in a good state of 
repair and attract tourists for their historic 
value. However, managing these heritage 
resources is at times difficult because of the 
distances between them.

Partnerships and Outreach 
Programmes

Rock Art Sites
SAHRA and the Department of Sport, 
Recreation, and Arts & Culture created a 
partnership in order to preserve the most 
valuable rock painting in the province. 
Several educational workshops were 
organised in Cacadu and Ukhahlamba 
district municipalities, aiming to: 
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° Educate the public about the significance 
of rock paintings including “head boys”;

° Raise the question of how to preserve this 
vanishing heritage resource;

° Create heritage forums;
° Teach communities how to identify rock 

paintings and prevent vandalism associ-
ated with these sites;

° Develop strategies to empower communi-
ties; and

° Create job opportunities for neighbouring 
communities.

The material memory of rock paintings 
forms an integral part of the cultural legacy 
in the Eastern Cape. Communities helped 
to shape the meaning and understanding 
of rock. The workshops showed how to 
collect data about rock paintings and their 
condition. It aimed to build partnerships 
with local communities and farm owners 
in order to improve the management of 
rock art and provide research opportunities. 
The workshops significantly improved 
communication and relations with 
landowners and communities. Furthermore, 
local communities established a link 
between SAHRS and the police in order to 
preserve heritage resources.

Managing Development and 
Public Participation
SAHRA has been promoting the knowl-
edge of the NHRA (no.25 of 1999) in rural 
communities, in particular with regard to 
indiscriminate developments. The aim is to 
foster better understanding of heritage and 
to manage mitigating circumstances through 
public participation. Government depart-
ments, such as DEAT and the Department of 
Minerals and Energy, as well as other state 

organs have also been informed about the 
provisions of NHRA in order to secure their 
cooperation with regard to indiscriminate 
or illegal developments. 

National Heritage Resources 
Act and Declaration Process
The establishment of democratic principles 
in heritage management has led to greater 
plurality of indigenous voices. The follow-
ing local municipalities have added their 
voices to heritage management:
° Inxuba Yethemba: Cradock Four site
° Mbizana municipality: Mzamba Fossil 

Beds/ O.R. Tambo Birthplace, Nkantolo
° Nelson Mandela Bay: Cradock Four Site.
° Matatiele: Rock Art Sites
° Kouga: Sarah Bartmann, Hankey.

The NHRA and procedures for grading 
and declaration have been examined and 
discussed by these municipalities for the 
purpose of legal protection of heritage 
sites. Sites that have been identified for 
grading are now included in municipal 
integrated development plans in order 
to apply a holistic approach to planning 
and development through heritage 
management. At the same time, the 
following government departments have 
been invited to participate in the grading 
and declaration of heritage sites.
° Marine and Coastal Management;
° Department of Land Affairs;
° Department of Economic Affairs,  

Environment and Tourism; and
° Department of Sports, Recreation, Arts 

and Culture.
Most government departments in the East-
ern Cape have shown interest and commit-
ment to protect heritage resources. 
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The Free State Provincial office 

of the South African Heritage 

Resources Agency has the year 

under review been involved in 

a number of projects. These 

projects were all related to the 

key strategic objectives of the 

entire organisation. 
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Free State

Identification and Formal 
Protection of Heritage Sites

Potential Heritage Sites Identified
A number of potential Grade I sites have 
been identified and community members 
were instrumental in ensuring that SAHRA 
take initiatives to safeguard these sites. 
Identified potential Grade I sites include: 
President Brand Street (Conservation Area), 
Florisbad Quaternary Research Station and 
St Augustine Anglican Mission Station. 

Florisbad Quaternary Research 
Station: 
It consists of Pringmound and surrounding 
land constituting an archaeological and 
palaeontological site, being Subdivision 3 of 
Florisbad Farm 686, and it is situated in the 
Brandfort district. 

The St Augustine Anglican Mission 
Station: 
Is situated on the slopes of the Platberg 
Mountain range at Modderpoort in the 
Eastern Free State. The property comprises 
6000 acres and was bought in 1865 from 
a farmer named Green for the sum of 352 

pounds. The purpose was to start the first 
Anglican religious order in Africa. The 
whole area consists of five sacred sites in 
one place and it is believed to be the only 
one of its kind in South Africa. 

President Brand Street  
(Conservation Area): 
With its imposing set of public buildings, 
this street has repeatedly been referred to 
as one of the most beautiful streets in South 
Africa. The predominant use of sandstone 
as building material, the red tiled roofs, 
and the interesting detail of the individual 
buildings provide this street with a unique 
character which is not equalled anywhere 
else in the country. 

Challenges and Successes
Public access to certain sites of cultural 
significance and a shortage of professionals 
to do proper heritage impact assessments 
within the province remains the biggest 
challenge. Irrespective of these challenges, 
SAHRA-Free State has been instrumental in 
ensuring that our precious and irreplaceable 
heritage resources are conserved for future 
generations. This has been made possible by 
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Table 1: Status of Identified Sites

means of collaboration between SAHRA-
Free State provincial office, Heritage Free 
State in terms of agency agreement, the 
provincial department of Tourism, Environ-
mental and Economic Affairs, University of 
the Free State, local authorities and various 

youth organisations from all five municipal 
districts of the Free State Province. Crea-
tion of public awareness, especially among 
the youth through various programmes 
including Mangaung Arts and Cultural  
Festival (Macufe) has been phenomenal. 

The final declaration of the Vredefort 
Dome remains a challenge and there is a 
commitment to ensure the site is finally 
declared a National Heritage Site before 
the end of this year (2007). Florisbad 
Archaeological Research Site was declared a 

St Augustine Anglican Mission Station Not graded because of non-
existence of criteria dealing 
with mission stations  

Not yet tabled before 
the council  

Florisbad Archaeological Research Station To be submitted for grading Not yet tabled before 
the council 

Formerly 
declared National 
Monument

President Brand Conservation Street       
To be submitted for grading Not yet 

tabled before the council 

1

2

3

Table 2: Formal Protection at National Level

NAME PROTECTION & DECISION

1. Vredefort Dome To be declared a National Heritage Site and Gazetted (2007)

2. Florisbad Archaeological Research Station The site is protected and it is a potential Grade I site. Needs further investigations 
to acquire National Heritage Site status

NAME OF LANDSCAPE, VALLEY/SITE GRADING COMMITTEE  
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COUNCIL REVIEW CURRENT STATUS

Only Rock Art site 
declared National 
Monument

National Monument on 12 September 1997 
in terms National Monuments Act, 28 of 
1969 (Government notice 1191). The site 
needs to be re-graded under the new Act 
because of its potential national significance 
characteristics.
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Outreach, Education and 
Public Awareness

Enhancement of Public Awareness 
 The Free State office of SAHRA has 
engaged in a number of heritage awareness 
and conservation projects during the past 
year. The primary aim with these projects 
was to create and enhance awareness, 
especially among the youth. The Provincial 
office organised and conducted a youth 
awareness workshop for the Mangaung 
University of the Free State Community 
Partnership Programme (MUCPP) Youth 
in Rocklands Township, Bloemfontein on 
13 June 2006. The workshop was organised 
with the help of Mr. Mojalefa Kaudi 
who is a co-ordinator for the same youth 
organisation. The centre is engaged in a 
variety of programmes such as the Love 
Life to make youth aware of HIV/AIDS as 
well as heritage programmes in partnership 
with SAHRA to make youth aware of 
the significance of our heritage, and to 
identify the role of the communities in the 
conservation of our heritage resources.

Although the workshop was successful 
it was noted that outreach projects of 
this nature should be extended to other 
communities.

On 21 September 2006 the provincial office 
convened a meeting with Ms. E. Sefohlelo 
from the Provincial (DSAC), Ms. L. 
Gomolemo from Mmabana Cultural Centre 
in Thaba Nchu and Mr. M. Mothibi from 
Be Frienders organisation in Botshabelo. 

The purpose of the meeting was to discuss 
preparation arrangements for a combined 
Botshabelo and Thaba Nchu Youth 
Heritage Awareness Workshop that was 
scheduled to take place in Mmabana, Thaba 
Nchu on the 13 October 2006. The SAHRA 
staff also attended the Thaba Nchu Heritage 
Tour with students from Albert Moroka 
High School on 16 and 20 September 2006. 
During this heritage tour the house of Dr. 
Moroka, Koppie, Thaba Nchu Station, Dr. 
Moroka’s grave yard on his farm Rakgokgo 
and the Voortrekker Monuments at the 
Maria Moroka Nature Reserve were visited. 

Thaba Nchu-Botshabelo Youth 
Heritage Awareness Workshop
On 7 October 2006 the provincial office 
inaugurated its first ever Heritage Indaba. 
Various stakeholders within the heritage 
field were invited. The office also arranged 
for a SAHRA heritage exhibition to be 
displayed during Macufe which took place 
from 27 September 2006 to 8 October 2006. 

On 20 October 2006, Thaba Nchu and 
Botshabelo joint youth awareness workshop 
was convened and conducted at Mmabana 
in Thaba Nchu. 

Inaugural SAHRA Free State Heritage
From 15 January to 2 February 2007 the 
office was involved in the building of the 
heritage float. The two black residences 
from the University of the Free State who 
were sponsored by the provincial office 
were House Khayalami and N.J. van der 
Merwe.
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SAHRA Free State and University of 
the Free State RAG Project, Khayalami 
and N.J. van der Merwe Residences
From 17-19 January 2007, SAHRA Free State 
was involved in site visits with the SAHRA 
Public relations Office and service providers 
to facilitate the documentation of Free 
State sites for the purpose of a SAHRA book 
depicting various heritage sites in South 
Africa. The following sites were visited:
° President Brand Street Conservation 

Area, Bloemfontein City Centre
° Mooderpoort Mission Station, near 

Ladybrand
° Florisbad Research Station, near Brand-

fort and the
° Vredefort Dome, near Parys

SAHRA Book Project
On 9 February 2007 the provincial SAHRA 
staff attended the third Youth Awareness 
Workshop in Vrede. The workshop was 
arranged with the assistance of Mr. Mabote 
who is the Secretary of the Free State House 
of Traditional Leaders. The workshop was 
well attended by schools and community 
members.

Function and workshops attended:                        

° 19 May 2006-Official opening of the 
Free State House of Traditional Leaders 
which was held in Phuthaditjhaba, Old 
Parliament building 

° 29 August 2006-Mangaung Municipal-
ity, hospitality and marketing meeting in 
preparation for the 2010 soccer world cup

° 7 September 2006- Limpopo Heritage 
Indaba 

° 16 September 2006-Mangaung Tourism 
Forum, Thaba Nchu

° 29 September 2006, unveiling of Reverend 
Joel Kgoronyane’s bust, Palmoetfontein

° 26-28 October 2006-Heritage Resources 
Management Workshop, Dongola Ranch, 
Limpopo Province 

° Love Life celebrations of the World Aids 
Day, MUCPP Centre in Bloemfontein

° 30 November 2006-Mangaung Local Mu-
nicipality World Aids Day celebration was 
also attended on at Botshabelo Stadium

° 11-15 December 2006-Heritage 
Management and Diversity Management 
Workshop, SAHRA Head Office

° 5-7 February 2007-World Heritage Sites, 
MacGregor Museum in Kimberly
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° 24 February 2007-SAHRA and ASAPA 
HIA regulations, SAHRA Head Office in 
Cape Town 

° 5-9 March 2007-joint heritage sites 
documentary project trip to document 
identified site for the purpose of assisting 
Heritage Free State to declare these sites 
as Provincial Heritage Sites

° 13 March 2007 -BEE Chart Council 
workshop, Bloemfontein SPA 

° 14 March 2007 - Commission for the 
Promotion and Protection of the Rights 
of the Cultural, Religious and Linguistic 
Communities, presentation, President 
Hotel, Bloemfontein on 

° 15 March 2007-Free State Department 
of Arts and Culture represented by Mr. 
Mario Sefo and Mrs. Gladys Maphikela 
representing the Maphikela family 

° 16 March 2007, Botshabelo area was 
visited to investigate the destruction of 
graves

° 30 March 2007 - Official opening of Free 
State House of Traditional, old Parlia-
ment building in Phuthaditjhaba 

Heritage Management
° 22 June 2006 the Free State, meeting 

with Mr.Tola and Mr. Mphatsoe who 
were identified to assist SAHRA with 
the National Heritage Resources Fund 
(NHRF) project of replacing the roof 
of the Moroka house in Ratlou village, 
Thaba Nchu. 

° 4 August 2006 the A.M.E church in 
Edenburg was visited for inspection and 
planning meeting for its restoration as 
part of the NHRF project. The follow up 
visit to the church took place on  
5 September 2006. 

° Another inspection tour was undertaken 
for Thaba Nchu on 12 September 2006, 
St Paul Church, Dr. Moroka's House and 
the Fenyang House were inspected. 

A substantial number totalled to more than 
fifty Environmental Impact Assessments 
(EIAs) for developments were received and 
commented on. These EIAs comprises of 
the following categories:
° Proposed township establishment and 

developments
° Proposed Construction of a new 4000KV 

Transmission Power Lines
° Proposed Golf and Eco-Estates
° Proposed Construction of 32 M3 and 
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56M3- above ground storage tank for 
furnace oil

° Proposed Structure Construction on 
Vredefort Dome                                        
                    

On 17 November 2006, provincial 
staff was accompanied by Ms. Melinda 
Bekker from the Provincial Department 
of Sport, Arts and Culture, to inspect 
Provincial Heritage Sites in President 
Brand Street Conservation Area, in town 
at the township. The following Provincial 
Heritage Sites were inspected:
° The old Presidency
° Old Government building (NALN)
° Bloemfontein Fire Station Building
° Court House opposite the Fire Station 

Building
° Hoffman Square
° Maphikela House
° Maphikela Grave

On 6 December 2006, the National Museum 
was accompanied by the provincial staff 
to inspect the Rose Cottage Cave near 
LadyBrand in the Eastern Free State. On 
7 December 2006 the National Museum 
Palaeontology Department informed  

SAHRA about a complaint they received 
from the community members of Senekal. 
The complaint was about a development 
which was taking place illegally and some of 
the community members were taking away 
tree fossils from the site without permission. 
The SAHRA Free State in conjunction 
with the Palaeontology Department of the 
National Museum went on to visit the site 
on 8 and 18 December 2006. The purpose 
of the visits was to temporarily stop illegal 
development and to rescue fossils (dated 
2.5 Million years) by taking samples to the 
National Museum.

On 3 February 2007, Ms. Abigail Sekhabisa 
from the Provincial Heritage Resources Au-
thority accompanied SAHRA staff to inspect 
Provincial Heritage Sites in Ladybrand. The 
following Provincial Heritage Sites were 
inspected:
° The old Town Hall
° Police Station
° Magistrate Court
° St. James Church
° Anglo-Boer War Memorial
° Old Prison
° Main building and school Hall
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On 7-9 February 2007 an inspection tour 
was undertaken to the Southern and North-
ern parts of the Free State and the following 
sites were visited:
° Ms. Winnie Madikizela-Mandela House, 

Brandfort
° Karee Military Cemetery, Brandfort
° The Vredefort Dome, Parys
° Notre Dame Convent, Kroonstad
° Rev. Z.R. Mahabane’s (twice President 

of the ANC 1924-1927 and 1937-1940) 
house, park and grave in Maokeng, 
kroonstad

In general it can be concluded that the 
SAHRA-Free State provincial office 
has successfully managed to attain the 
objectives that it set for itself. All the 
success of the office can be easily attributed 

to the commitment shown and hard working 
attitude by the SAHRA provincial office 
staff. Sound and strong relationship the 
office had with other relevant stakeholders 
such as Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture, provincial department of Tourism, 
Environmental and Economic Affairs and 
Heritage Free State in terms of Agency 
Agreement also contributed to the attainment 
of our objectives.

In spite of various challenges facing not only 
this office but the entire heritage resources 
sector, the Free State staff has been able to 
identify potential impediments as well as 
contingency measures in order to ensure that 
the whole Free State community become 
aware and take ownership of heritage resources 
they have at their disposal.   
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During the period under review,  

the Gauteng office of SAHRA  

continued providing certain  

services to the Gauteng Provincial 

Heritage Resources Authority,  

mainly conducting heritage  

impact assessments. Although  

this service has had a very positive  

impact on the Gauteng PHRA, it  

impacted negatively on SAHRA’s 

main responsibilities. The Gauteng  

office receives on average 40 to  

50 heritage impact assessment  

requests per month. This puts  

an enormous burden on staff  

members as careful attention  

needs to be given to each  

request. However, despite this  

additional responsibility, the  

Gauteng SAHRA office has  

had a very successful and  

productive year. 
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Gauteng

Identification of Potential 
National Heritage Sites
In the part year the Gauteng office 
identified a number of sites that could 
potentially be declared as National Heritage 
Sites. The sites include:
°	 Vlakplaas, a site which was used as a 

torture camp by the apartheid security 
police.

°	 The “old Native Reception Depot” Proes 
street, Pretoria. The Depot was built by 
the South African Union Government 
as part of a system that regulated the 
movement of black people from rural to 
urban areas.

°	 Sites associated with Solomon Mahl-
angu, an MK cadre who was executed 
in 1979 at the age of 23 by the apartheid 
government.

°	 Sites associated with the two treason 
trials (Drill Hall, Old Synagogue, 
Liliesleaf Farm, Old Fort). 

°	 Enoch Sontonga’s grave and memorial 
(Braamfontein Cemetery). Sontonga 
is the author of Nkosi Sikelel i Afrika, 
which has become part of the national 
anthem of South Africa.

There are several other potential national 
heritage sites, which are not listed here for 
various reasons. The number of sites which 
have the potential to become national  
heritage sites in Gauteng, including those 
that have already been graded by the  
SAHRA council, currently exceeds 20.

Formal nomination of sites
The Gauteng office has in the past year 
compiled documents for the formal  
nomination of the following identified sites:
°	 Sites associated with O.R. Tambo;
°	 Hector Pieterson Memorial site;
°	 Freedom Square (Walter Sisulu Square 

of dedication); and
°	 Sites associated with Solomon  

Mahlangu.

Gauteng Heritage Resources Survey
Staff at the Gauteng office also spent time 
going through the information gathered 
by field workers in the previous year as 
part of the identification and survey of 
heritage resources project funded by the 
National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund. 
This was done in preparation for the next 
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phase which involves the verification of 
the information gathered in the first phase. 
Unfortunately due to reasons beyond the 
control of the office, funds for the second 
phase of the project have not been released 
by the NLDTF. This project will continue as 
soon as funds become available.

Heritage Awareness Workshops and 
Seminars
The Gauteng office has cooperated with the 
following stakeholders in conducting herit-
age awareness workshops and seminars:

°	 Ekurhuleni Metropolitan municipality 
(2 workshops);

°	 Tshwane Metropolitan municipality  
(1 workshop);

°	 Gauteng Department of Economic  
Development (1 workshop); and 

°	 Gauteng Department of Sports, Arts  
and Culture (heritage tribunal)  
(2 workshops).

Additionally, Gauteng office staff members 
made heritage awareness presentations at 
various venues.  
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The 2006/7 financial year, which is the 

second year of the KwaZulu Natal  

SAHRA office, started off on a high 

note. The office was able to employ  

a provincial manager, cultural  

officer and an administrative assistant. 

Among some of the initiatives that 

the office has initiated, the following 

should be mentioned
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Kwa-Zulu Natal

The KZN office and the Burial Grounds and 
Graves Unit visited the eMakhosini Valley to 
identify the graves of various Zulu kings & 
queens in order to document them. Thus far 
the following graves have been documented: 

1. King Malandela 2. King Zulu
3. King Ndaba 4. King Phunga
5. King Mageba 6. King Jama 
7. King Senzangakhona 8. Queen Mthaniya
9. Queen Nandi* 

* The only grave that is not at eMakhosini Valley

The KZN office, in conjunction with the 
Head Office, initiated stock taking of SA-
HRA properties in the province, such as the 
O’ Neil’s Cottage at Majuba and the Old Fort 
in Durban. The office is still communicating 
with Amafa Heritage regarding the cottage 
in Richmond. The KZN office co-sponsored  
a function that was held in Groutville to 
commemorate the legacy of Dr B.W. Vi-
lakazi. Subsequently, the KZN office and the 
BGG Unit started researching the possibility 
of building a memorial for Dr Vilakazi who 
is regarded as a national hero for being the 
first black person to obtain a PhD in South 
Africa and is also regarded as the father of 
IsiZulu literature. As part of collaboration 
with other bodies, the KZN manager pre-

sented a speech at the National Oral History 
Conference in Richards Bay. The title of the 
paper was: “The resourcefulness of elders and 
their strategic intelligence in dealing with 
culture, memory and trauma: An African 
perspective”. The KZN office also attended 
the South African Museums Association con-
ference in Newcastle and presented a paper 
entitled: “Educating the black community 
on heritage: Is there a need?” Furthermore 
the KZN office has already sent out a call 
for papers in preparation for the conference 
that will be held in September 2007. The 
main purpose of the conference is to involve 
various stakeholders in the identification, 
protection and management of heritage re-
sources in the province. In order to preserve 
this heritage, the KZN office has successfully 
organised a meeting between His Majesty the 
King of the Zulus, SAHRA CEO, KZN office 
and the BGG Unit regarding the protection of 
the royal graves. As part of outreach the KZN 
office is engaged in collaborative work with 
stakeholders like the Office of the Premier, 
IsiZulu National Language Body, Isithangami 
Somlando KaZulu (Forum on Zulu History), 
and school-based heritage forums like Zurura 
on matters of heritage and culture.
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The Limpopo heritage landscape 

faces challenges regarding  

heritage conservation on a daily 

basis. These range from unguided 

development, lack of knowledge 

from communities regarding  

policies and heritage manage-

ment systems, and minimal  

public participation in heritage  

management. Despite these  

challenges, in 2006/2007 the 

SAHRA Limpopo office managed 

to achieve most of its strategic 

objectives as set in the annual 

programme. In order to address 

some of the challenges the  

Limpopo Heritage Indaba was 

held in August 2006. 



95S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

Limpopo

In order to address some of the challenges 
the Limpopo Heritage Indaba was held in 
August 2006. Issues and challenges ranging 
from traditional leadership and heritage 
resources management were addressed. 
Local municipalities, traditional leaders, 
developers and conservation bodies took 
part in the event. To ensure that there is 
continuity and that the Indaba does not 
become simply another meeting, SAHRA 
has committed itself to implement the 
resolutions during the following year.

Some of the programmes implemented 
by the office were in partnerships with 
other conservation bodies, such as the 
Limpopo Heritage Resources Agency, 
the Department of Economic Affairs, 
Environment and Tourism, the Department 
of Sport, Arts and Culture, as well as the 
Mapungubwe National Park and World 
Heritage Site.

With the conservation of heritage 
resources being SAHRA’s core function, 
its programmes have been designed to 
contribute to the provincial growth and 

development strategy, with the concept of 
heritage tourism as one of the priorities. 
Among the sites that have been identified, 
graded or are still in the process of 
being declared are Lake Fundudzi and 
Thulammela. Another recently launched 
heritage conservation initiative is the 
provincial Murula Festival celebrating 
the indigenous knowledge related to this 
national tree and using the event as a draw 
card for tourism in the province. 

Programs and Activities 

Public Awareness, Outreach and 
Education
Outreach and education focused on 
educating school age children about 
heritage resources. SAHRA staff identified 
some San rock art sites in danger of 
destruction at Tshiungane and Dambale. 
SAHRA took advantage of the provision 
made in the Arts and Culture curriculum 
and introduced learners to heritage sites in 
their vicinity through the Learners’ Support 
Project. 
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Heritage Resources  
Management

Makapans World Heritage Site
In 2003 SAHRA received a grant from the 
National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund 
for the construction of the infrastructure 
at the site, which was to be allocated in 
annual tranches. However, since receiving 
the first tranche in 2003, SAHRA has not 
received any further funding. Faced with 
this challenge, SAHRA, in partnership with 
the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture, 
started a new R4m initiative to re-launch 
the project. As an initial step SAHRA 
employed local people to clear the site of 
alien trees and shrubs.

Mapungubwe World Heritage Site
In the year under review the Office of 
the President issued a directive for the 
repatriation and reburial of Mapungubwe 
human remains. SAHRA has been part of 
the process, rendering advisory service 
to the Steering Committee as the site is a 
World and National Heritage Site. SAHRA, 
in partnership with the Mapungubwe 
National Park, also launched an oral history 
project related to this site, which will 
include participation from Zimbabwe and 
Zambia.

Heritage Impact Assessments (HIAs)
HIA have always been a tool through 
which SAHRA has been able to control 
development and prevent heritage 
destruction. The SAHRA Limpopo office 
is grateful to the Department of Minerals 
and Energy EIA Section, municipalities, 
and the Department of Economic Affairs, 

Environment and Tourism EIA Unit who 
have been instrumental in the heritage 
management processes.

During last year, the HIA Advisory 
Committee received and assessed 322 
Heritage Impact Reports, as well as 
reviewing and monitoring the scoping 
reports from developers. Additionally, the 
committee acted as the Grading Committee 
for the Limpopo Heritage Resources 
Authority, which is another example of 
cooperative conservation efforts in the 
province. 

Identification & Declaration of a 
National Heritage Site
The sacred Lake Fundudzi was identified 
and assessed for Grade I status. The review 
committee was satisfied with the statement 
of heritage significance of the lake. In order 
to complete the process the provincial 
office is waiting for the new Council to 
make a decision. It needs to be stressed that 
the heritage significance of the lake lies in it 
being a symbol of African spirituality.

Limpopo Murula Festival
More than half a century ago the Murula 
tree was declared a nationally protected 
species and recently the Department of 
Economic Development, Environment and 
Tourism reaffirmed that felling of Murula 
trees was illegal. The tree has been deeply 
woven into the lives of African people and 
archaeologists date its existence back a 1000 
years. The tree is associated with a number 
of cultural symbols and traditions, such as:

°	 Among the Vatsonga the fruit is used 
for the U kuluma ceremony to officially 
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launch the harvest season. Rituals are 
conducted by pouring murula brew on 
the grave sites and the altars.

°	 It is highly regarded for its aphrodisiac 
properties. Nuts are used by the Bapedi 
for birth control, while powdered bark 
is used to regulate the sex of a child.

°	 Vhavenda use the preservative qualities 
of its oil for preparing meat.

°	 Voortrekkers used bark to dye their 
sunbonnets and Batlokwa of Botswana 
as a calendar marker, with Murule being 
the name for December.

Because of this multitude of meanings 
and the cultural importance of the tree, 
a partnership was developed among 
several organisations and state bodies, 
which resulted in the concept of a Murula 
Festival. It is envisaged that this festival 
and the Mukumbi industry will lead to the 
improvement of the socio-economic status 
of many people through job creation and 
cultural/heritage tourism. SAHRA regards 
this tree as both cultural and natural 
heritage and its preservation forms part of 
the organisation’s mandate. It is a resource 

of great cultural significance that should be 
conserved not only through management 
plans but also by making people aware of 
the economic value they can derive from its 
cultural significance. The Murula Festival 
is a joint project between the Department 
of Sport, Arts and Culture, the Department 
of Economic Development, Environmental 
Affairs and Tourism, SAHRA, LIMDEV, 
LIBSA, and the Limpopo Tourism & Parks 
Board. 

Assistance to LIHRA
One of SAHRA’s key responsibilities in the 
province is to assist the Provincial Heritage 
Authority by providing skills training and 
expertise. In Limpopo SAHRA office and 
LIHRA have been working closely with 
each other for a long time, and SAHRA is 
always available to LIHRA staff for training 
and advice. One of the benefits of this 
cooperation was the declaration of four sites 
as Provincial Heritage Sites, namely Dzata, 
Tjate, Baleni and Makgabeng. SAHRA  
and LIHRA work closely together in 
preventing destruction of identified 
heritage sites.
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The year 2006 - 2007 was character-

ised by a number of historical events, 

key among which were the 57th  

anniversary of the death of  

Waterval Boven mine workers, the  

20th anniversary of Samora Machel’s 

death, and the launch of the  

Makonjwa Mountains series of  

lectures. The hardwork and  

commitment invested in these  

historical events throughout the  

year by SAHRA Mpumalanga  

provincial office and various  

stakeholders contributed  

greatly to its success.
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Mpumalanga

The launch of the Makonjwa 
Mountains lectures
SAHRA Mpumalanga office commissioned 
a group of experts to deliver papers on the 
day of the launch, ranging from geology and 
biodiversity to the cultural significance of the 
Makonjwa Mountains. A presentation on its 
declaration as a world heritage site was given 
by the Department of Environmental Affairs 
and Tourism. SAHRA Mpumalanga office, 
in conjunction with the Barberton Museum, 
organised site visits for the provincial Cabinet 
to all heritage sites on the 19th of April 2006. 
The aim of the function was to demonstrate 
to Premier Thabang Makwetla and his 
cabinet and Umjindi Mayor Mr. Richard 
Lukhele and his council the significance of 
the mountains as a potential world heritage 
site. 

Heritage Day Celebrations
The SAHRA Mpumalanga office has 
forged meaningful partnerships with 
other stakeholders who were involved in 
celebrating Heritage Day on the 23rd of 
September 2006. The keynote address was 
delivered by SAHRA Mpumalanga office 
manager.The events were well attended by 

various groups celebrating the diversity of 
the country’s heritage.

Commemoration/ Cleansing 
Ceremony of the 8th and 9th 
December 2006
This event was a continuation of the  
2005 - 2006 project which included the 
erection of a memorial for the mine workers 
and the restoration of the mass grave site for 
those who died while working at Waterval 
Boven.

The second phase of this project was the 
cleansing ceremony and commemoration, 
which was managed by SAHRA in 
partnership with the Emakhazeni 
Municipality, the Labour Department, 
the Provincial Department of Culture, 
Sports and Recreation, the Mpumalanga 
Provincial Heritage Resources Authority, 
Mohlakeng adult choir, the Mozambican 
Labour Department and the Mozambican 
community in South Africa.

The complex logistics of the event, which 
was coordinated by the SAHRA Mpumalanga 
provincial office, included transporting the 
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Mohlakeng adult choir, as well as the  
Thembisa Mozambican community from 
Gauteng to Waterval Boven, slaughtering 
of animals for the event, and organising 
sangomas to perform rituals for the day. 
These functions were held at local level 
and attended by the Emakhazeni Deputy 
Mayor, councillors and the representatives 
of the Mozambican government  
delegation.

The project was designed and implemented 
in order to achieve the following goals:
°	 To conduct a proper traditional 

cleansing ceremony for the mine 
workers who lost their lives in the 1949 
rail accident in Waterval Boven;

°	 To strengthen the bonds of friendship 
between South Africa and Mozambique;

°	 To appease the spirit of those who lost 
their lives in the biggest rail accident at 
Waterval Boven;

°	 To create a lasting legacy for the mine 
workers; and

°	 To honour mine workers who had 
contributed to the economy of South 
Africa.

The National Heritage Resources 
Fund (NHRF)
The Mpumalanga provincial office received 
a grant from the NHRF in the amount of 
R75 000 for the restoration and repair of 
the Dutch Reformed Church building in 
Middleburg.

Conferences, Meetings and 
Workshops 
The following events and workshops were 
attended during the period under review:
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°	 Opening of the Mpumalanga house of 
traditional leaders;

°	 Samora Machel task team meetings;
°	 Experiential training in archaeological 

excavation in Germany;
°	 South Africa 2010 soccer world Heritage 

summit; 
°	 Seminar at MRT organised by the office 

of the premier;
°	 National Imbizo for ubuntu and 

heritage; and
°	 Umjindi eco- heritage technical 

workshop.

Conservation Management and 
Control 
The following recommendations were 
submitted by EIAs and HIA on behalf of the 
Mpumalanga Provincial Heritage Resources 
Authority for the above mentioned 
developments.
°	 Environmental scoping report for the 

proposed extension of mining activities 
at Everest platinum mine.

°	 Heritage impact assessment for 
the proposed new power station in 
Witbank.

°	 Report on archaeological survey of 
Boschrand Heights residential and 
golf development on: a portion of 
the remainder of Dingwell 276JT, a 
portion of the remainder of Marathon 

275 JT, a portion of the remainder of 
14 Boschrand 283JT and portion 56 of 
Boschrand 283JT, Nelspruit.

°	 Heritage impact assessment and 
archeological survey for the Karino 
urban development on portions 
7,15,16,18,19,20,26,44 and 73 of the 
farm Goedehoop, 128ju portions 23 
of the farm Broedershoek 129 JU, 
Mbombela.

°	 Phase 1 heritage impact assessment 
study for new hiking trail facilities, 
BRCNP.

°	 Heritage impact assessment: portion 3, 
Perry Farm 9JU.

°	 Phase 1 HIA( scoping evaluation) 
Sterkspruit 33JT Plot,58 Lydenburg

°	 A phase 1 HIA study for the proposed 
new water project at optimum colliery 
near Hendrina.

°	 Heritage impact assessment for optimum 
water reclamations project.

°	 Proposed feedlot on the farm Klipspruit 
245 JR, Moloto.

°	 Archaeological impact assessment of the 
Lydenburg extension 49 on the farm JT.

°	 A scoping assessment for a phase 1 
heritage impact assessment study for 
Eskom new Wolvekraal Amandla power 
line, Mpumalanga.

°	 HIA report for the portion 8 of the farm 
Vergenoeg 177JT.
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During the year under review, the 

North West office embarked on a 

number of projects and activities 

to promote and enhance heritage 

resources management within the 

province. Awareness programmes in 

the form of workshops/seminars and 

lekgotlhas were held. Cooperative 

governance has been established  

and enhanced with different  

government departments, traditional  

authorities and local municipalities. 

The office also conducted site  

inspections and provided technical  

assistance to heritage bodies on  

different projects, particularly the 

Makau heritage site restoration  

project in the Madibeng  

local municipality.
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North West

Challenges
The office faced certain challenges, in 
particular the destruction of heritage 
resources. The PHRA has not yet been set 
up in the province and SAHRA North West 
provincial office is currently performing 
some of the its functions.

A Brief Synopsis of the 
Province’s Sites
North West is one of the provinces richest 
in heritage resources. It entails a variety of 
both cultural and natural significance. These 
resources include battlefields, spiritual sites 
and archaeological sites. Heritage resources 
of the North West province are dominated 
by old Tswana settlement ruins. This 
province is also home to the Taung heritage 
site, which signifies and affirms the origin 
of mankind as being in the Southern part of 
Africa.

The province also has different historical 
sites which tell the story of historical wars 
that took place within the boundaries of 
the province. The province is also blessed 
with different cultural and natural heritage 
resources, some of which are spiritual sites.

Heritage Resources 
Management: Funded Projects

National heritage resources fund 
projects
Two projects in the North West have been 
funded by SAHRA head office. These two 
projects are the Tigerkloof Museum estab-
lishment and the research on Bookela Kgosi 
in Moruleng- Disake village. The projects 
have started and are still underway. Muse-
um shelves and display cabinets have been 
built and the structure has been painted.

Tiger Kloof Museum Establishment 
Project
Tiger Kloof Educational Institution 
was established in 1904 by the London 
Missionary Society. The institution has 
been nominated for grading as a Grade I 
site, because of the significance it played 
in spreading education throughout 
Southern Africa and also for its resistance 
to implementing the apartheid system of 
Bantu Education.

The Museum will assist the institution and 
the Southern African community with 
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information. There will be a display of the 
historical photographs of the institution and 
some archival material of the institution. 
The museum is to serve as a learning and 
information centre about our history and 
heritage and the role the institution played in 
fighting the apartheid regime. The project is 
due to be completed by the beginning of the 
new financial year.

Bookela Kgosi Project
The project intends to gather historical in-
formation about the Bookela Kgosi heritage 
site in Disake village. Mwafrika Research and 
Empowerment cc has been appointed to con-
duct the research and produce a document 
based on the findings. A situational analysis 
survey has been conducted and a report 
provided to our office. The project is moving 
to the next step in the new financial year, at 
which time it will be completed.

International centre for the 
study of the preservation and 
restoration of cultural property 
(ICCROM funded project): Ka-
ditshwene

Sites Inspection
There have been several inspections of 
heritage resources – both those that have 
been declared and those that have been 
submitted for grading. These are sites such as 
Kaditshwene, Molokwane, Vlakfontein and 
Hoekfontein/Makuau. Taung has been visited 
frequently due to vandalism by community 
members. Vredefort Dome was also visited 
as illegal alterations were taking place. The 
people concerned were advised to stop their 
projects and apply for permits.

The Battle of Tigale grave site has been 
identified and research is going on to gather 
more information about the site. This is a 
site where about 64 Bangwaketse soldiers, 
who come from Botswana to support the 
Barolong during the Siege of Mafikeng, 
were buried. This is the only known burial 
ground for Africans who were victims of 
war during the Siege.
 
Taung Unveiling
As part of the management of national 
heritage sites, it is important for people 
to know the status of declared sites. The 
unveiling was also meant to ensure that 
the maximum protection of our heritage 
resources is implemented, and that the 
public is aware of the body responsible 
for heritage resources conservation and 
protection. SAHRA-NW unveiled a plaque 
revealing the status of Taung Child Skull 
Heritage Site. A plaque with the SAHRA 
emblem has been erected and it has been 
fenced with a palisade and the pathway 
has also been designed and paved. The 
unveiling of the plaque took place on 21 
February. This was a joint event between 
SAHRA-North West, Bophirima District 
Municipality and the North West Parks 
and Tourism Board (NWPTB). It was also 
a celebration of Black History Month and 
the newly launched Jazz Africa Heritage 
Pilgrimage by the NWPTB.

The event was attended by members of 
the public, the local municipality, as well 
as Tribal Authority Council members. The 
unveiling was done by Mr. Phakamani 
Buthelezi together with the mayor of 
Greater Taung local municipality, Clr. B. 
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Permit Committee
The North West does not have an existing 
Provincial Heritage Resources Authority 
(PHRA). As a result, an agency agreement 
between PHRA and SAHRA was entered 
into and was renewed during the year, for 
SAHRA to perform certain functions on 
behalf of the PHRA. 

The SAHRA-NW permit committee 
members are:
°	 Ms. Mokgophe-SAHRA-NW Provincial 

manager
°	 Mr Phillips-former Museum Curator
°	 Mr. Poley – An Architecture
°	 Mr. Matebesi-A Tourism expect and 

Local Municipality Marketing and 
Communications Manager.

°	 Mr. Cowen – a Historian and tourism 
Consultant.

Number of permit issues:
 Total demolition: 11
 Restoration:   5
 Alterations:   2
 Rejected:  1 due to insufficient  
  information and two  
  differing signatures of  
  applicant

 

Mahlangu. Later, after the unveiling of the 
plaque, the procession was joined by the 
American delegates and patrons as part of the 
Jazz Africa Heritage Pilgrimage.

Cases Reported
SAHRA-North West office has reported 
three cases to the SAPS of violation of the 
National Heritage Resources Act No. 25 of 
1999. The first two cases reported were in 
Taung at the National Heritage Site. The cas-
es reported were of damage to the plaque un-
veiled in 2004. The first incident happened 
in May 2006 and the incident of cutting and 
stealing of the fence happened in June 2006 
. The two cases were reported and were also 
referred to the traditional authority, but no 
further action was taken by the police.

The third case was reported in Zeerust in 
August 2006, when a developer wanted to 
relocate old graves without a permit (issued 
by SAHRA), as well as using the services of 
unqualified persons. The developer was noti-
fied through his lawyer of the implications of 
contravening the Act. He was advised to ap-
ply for a permit to relocate the grave and he 
complied. The permit has since been issued.
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Awareness 

Tlhwafalo High School
Heritage awareness has been a successful 
activity in the North West. More 
emphasis was put on learners and youth. 
SAHRA-NorthWest was engaged in 
sponsoring Tlhwafalo School with a plaque 
displaying the SAHRA logo. The school 
was nominated mainly because of its 
involvement in the Indigenous Knowledge 
Program and heritage conservation 
activities of the North West.

Heritage Day Celebrations
Celebrating heritage day was a major event 
in the North West.The event was organ-
ized by SAHRA in collaboration with the 
Bophirima district municipality, North 
West Department of Economic Develop-
ment and Tourism, Department of Agri-
culture, Conservation and Environment 
in association with SANPARKS and the 
North West Youth Commission. The event 
was held from 22 to 25 September 2006. 
The event was attended by 115 learners, 
mainly from Bophirima district municipal-
ity. The main aim of the youth camp was 

to celebrate heritage and tourism with the 
youth of Bophirima and also to give them 
a chance to explore the beauty of a herit-
age site and to get a sense of ownership 
and attach value to their heritage. Differ-
ent activities took place during the event. 
These include cleaning the site and play-
ing indigenous games. Group discussions 
were held during the event, where the 
youth discussed issues like the importance 
of conservation and the role of heritage 
resources conservation and promotion, 
as well as the importance of applying 
indigenous knowledge in today’s modern 
society. The heritage message was com-
municated effectively to the youth during 
the camp and a commitment was made to 
strengthen the conservation and heritage 
clubs in schools and local municipalities. 

Workshops and Talks
On 13 June 2006, a community ownership 
workshop was held at the Taung World 
Heritage Site. The purpose of the 
workshop was to raise awareness about 
community ownership of resources within 
the communities, including the heritage 
site. The workshop was facilitated and 
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coordinated by SAHRA and we requested 
the assistance of Ms. M. Madumo from 
NWPTB, to help educate the community of 
Taung about the importance of protecting 
that which is theirs. Seventy participants 
including Municipal Councilors as well as 
the local Chief attended the workshop.

The purpose of the workshop was to 
enlighten the community about the 
importance of community ownership. The 
need to conduct such a workshop arose 
following the spate of vandalism, which 
took place at the Taung World Heritage 
Site. The plaque that was unveiled in 
September 2004 during the Heritage Day 
celebration was broken, the fence that was 
erected to protect the site and demarcate 
it was cut off and certain fence balancing 
poles were removed.

On 9 November 2006, the manager of 
SAHRA-North West gave a presentation to 
the mayoral and management committees 
of the Potchefstroom local municipality. 
The presentation was based on SAHRA: 
who we are, our role and our mandate. 
It also focused on the National Heritage 

Resources Act and the role of municipalities 
as per the Act, as well as the importance 
of having heritage resources registers and 
database.

A commitment was made by the Council 
to ensure that heritage resources would be 
conserved and managed. Mayor Clr.Mapetla 
also gave us freedom to consult Clr. Dasi, 
who is a member of the mayoral council, 
at anytime on heritage issues within the 
Potchefstroom local municipality 

Women’s Day Celebration Seminar
On 25 August 2006, SAHRA–North West 
hosted a seminar to commemorate the 
50th Anniversary of the Women’s March 
against the pass laws. The event involved 
the transfer of indigenous methods for 
safeguarding our living heritage. Fifty 
three female participants from different 
backgrounds attended the event. There 
were female learners, women teachers 
and women from the community, as well 
as university students specializing in 
indigenous knowledge systems. 

The office of the Executive Mayor for 
Rustenburg was represented by Clr. 
Itumeleng Tsagae, who delivered a speech 
on behalf of the executive mayor, Clr. 
Wolmarans. In her speech she emphasized 
the need for our elders to share their 
knowledge with us and also to ensure that 
our cultural and historical practices are 
transferred and recorded.

Mme Grace Masuku, Mme Keleabetswe 
Komane and Mme Kenalemang Kgoroya-
dira. were invited to the event to present 
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and educate younger generation on their 
living heritage They shared the knowledge 
they have and the importance of protecting 
our heritage resources.

SAHRA’s living heritage manager made a 
presentation on the need to have policies 
governing our living heritage to protect 
intellectual property. He also spoke about 
the importance of safeguarding our living 
heritage

Heritage Lekgotlha
On 8 and 9 March 2007, SAHRA–North 
West hosted a provincial Lekgotlha in 
Potchefstroom. The event was targeted at 
the local municipalities, heritage forums 
and developers, as well as academics. The 
workshop was attended by 53 participants 
from the different sectors indicated. The 
purpose of the workshop was to provide 
the participants with information regarding 
the National Heritage Resources Act. It was 
also to give municipalities, developers and 
heritage bodies the opportunity to interact 
with SAHRA officials and to gain clarity and 
understanding with regard to challenges.

The provincial manager also indicated that 
the workshop was meant to strengthen 
and establish working relations with 
different stakeholders and to foster 
cooperative governance. He also highlighted 
the importance of heritage resources 
management. 

Presentations on different sections of the 
NHRA were made by different officials 
from SAHRA. Ms Lambrecht, a Museum 
and cultural officer at the Potchefstroom 

municipality, presented a case study on 
heritage resources management within the 
Potchefstroom local municipality. Mrs. Van 
Der Walt presented on the importance of 
having heritage forums in local areas.

Mr. Motlhabane from the North West 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 
presented on the status of heritage resources 
in the North West and also on the status of 
PHRA in the Province.                                  

A field trip to Vredefort Dome World 
heritage site was undertaken as part of the 
workshop. The aim was to give participants 
an opportunity to interact with heritage 
resources and see the potential of such sites 
on local economic development. This was 
also an opportunity to identify possible 
challenges and developmental opportunities 
that could be identified in a heritage site.

The workshop managed to bring under 
one roof the major stakeholders in heritage 
resources conservation. Most of the 
local municipalities understood the role 
they have to play in relation to the built 
environment 60 year clause in Sec 34 of the 
Act. Burial grounds and graves management 
issues and procedures were also clarified.

North West Provincial Heritage Law 
Enforcement Forum
On 22 October 2006, a provincial heritage 
law enforcement forum was established 
in the North West. It is in partnership 
with the SAPS, customs officials, museums 
and heritage bodies and representatives 
from some local authorities. The forum 
focuses on heritage resources protection, 
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including heritage objects. The role of SAPS 
is to ensure that violation of the National 
Heritage Resources Act is prevented. 
Their role is also to ensure that cases of 
contravening of the Act are investigated 
when reported. 

Conclusion
We would like to take this opportunity to 
thank the following Institutions for their 
partnership, assistance and cooperative 
governance that made it possible for us to 

achieve what we have achieved during the 
year under review. Therefore, thank you to 
the Department of Economic Development, 
the Department of Agriculture and 
Conservation, the Office of the Premier, 
the North West Parks and Tourism Board, 
the Bophirima district municipality, 
Potchefstroom local municipality and the 
Potchefstroom Heritage Forum, as well as 
all of our stakeholders for making our year 
what it has been with regards to heritage 
resources management.
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The year under review encompassed 

site inspections, sites identification, 

heritage awareness programmes and 

the strengthening of relationships 

with relevant stakeholders. To date, 

the Northern Cape province has  

identified eight potential Grade 1 

sites, two of which have been  

approved as such. The major challenge 

facing the Northern Cape office is the 

finalisation of the Integrated Conser-

vation Management Plans for the sites 

which will be declared as National 

Heritage sites, which will take place in 

the next financial year.
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Northen Cape

Identification and Formal 
Protection of National Heritage 
Sites
SAHRA Northern Cape staff conducted 
a number of site inspections of potential 
Grade 1 sites, and identified Driekopseiland 
as a significant site.
 
Driekopseiland is a rock art site. It is 
one of the best known rock art sites 
in the Northern Cape, and it was 
declared a National Monument in 1943. 
Driekopseiland, west of Kimberley, is 
situated in the bed of the Riet River. It 
has over 3,500 engravings, predominantly 
geometric images. The art has been 
interpreted as being part of cultural 
practices (specifically the female puberty 
rites).

Outreach, Education and 
Public Relations

Youth Day Celebrations 
About 210 years ago 32 Nama (Khoi) 
children were brutally killed while their 
parents were attending a church service at 
Besondermeid, which was later renamed 

as Steinkopf, after Professor Steinkopf. The 
children were buried in one grave called 
“Die graf van Kinderle”- the grave where 
our children lay.

In his speech, the SAHRA Northern 
Cape Cultural Heritage Officer told about 
350 people gathered at the Steinkopf 
High School Hall in Namaqwaland 
that they should respect, honour and 
continue to commemorate the lost lives 
of Nama children buried at Kinderle, 
and that Kinderle should be a reminder 
of individual, family and community 
bereavement. Ignorance towards heritage 
by the youth was a worrying factor and 
constituted a challenge for SAHRA. 
Heritage strives to instil a sense of pride 
and confidence so that a legacy is left 
to be celebrated by present and future 
generations. 

Heritage Stall at the Gariep Fees 
Festival
During the annual Gariep Fees Festival in 
September 2006 SAHRA set up a heritage 
stall to promote its activities and to create 
awareness about the importance of heritage 
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resource management. The stall also aimed 
to raise awareness about other units within 
SAHRA, such as the Living Heritage Unit, 
the Maritime Unit, the Heritage Objects 
and Archaeology Unit, etc.

Heritage Day Celebrations 
SAHRA Northern Cape provincial office, 
in collaboration with the Maphekela 
Cultural Tourism and the Kgalagadi 
district municipality celebrated the 24th of 
September 2006 at Kuruman Manyeding 
Village at Batlhaping tree. Manyeding is 
one of the well-known areas where the 
wars between the Batlhaping and the 
Boers occurred during 1895-1901. The war 
started at Dikagatlhong or Majeng a ga 
Sebego, spread to Gamasepa and ended up 
at Manyeding under the tree which is now 
called the Batlhaping tree. 
   
The coomemoration aimed to:
°	 Create community awareness on the 

important role played by the victims of 
conflict;

°	 Raise awareness of the importance 
of identification, protection and 
conservation of heritage resources for 
future generatio ns; and

°	 Encourage youth to identify unknown 
heritage sites.

School Heritage Essay Writing 
Competition 
As part of heritage awareness programmes 
the SAHRA Northern Cape office 
conducted a school heritage essay writing 
competition held at Moffat Mission in 
Kuruman on 30 March 2007. The event 
enabled Northern Cape schools to discover 

the significant role that Chiefs such as 
Galeshewe had played in the liberation of 
black people. It also encouraged learners 
to identify and appreciate their heritage, 
and provided an opportunity for educators 
and learners to link school curricula to a 
meaningful project promoting significant 
heritage concepts.

Various schools around the Kgalagadi- and 
Francis Baard Regions took part in the 
competition, which required research on 
Chief Galeshewe to be conducted by a 
group of five learners from each school. The 
competition was well received and attended 
by, among others, Honourable Chiefs from 
the Kgalagadi region.

Chief Galeshewe Project
Kgosi Galeshewe had lived in the Barkley 
West region between 1839 and 1840, and 
then at Bodigelong (near Phokwane) from 
1841 until 1858 when he was captured and 
killed by Paul Kruger’s raiding commando 
in 1858. In 1878, three years after the 
government had introduced the policy of 
‘native locations’ and informed traditional 
leaders that they had no power, the sale 
of wood to the mining companies in 
Kimberley, which had been their main 
source of income, was transferred to white 
traders, and a hut tax was introduced. Luka 
Jantjies and Galeshewe started an uprising, 
attacking isolated traders and farmers, 
but it was soon put down. Galeshewe was 
sentenced to 12 years imprisonment for his 
(unproven) part in the action.

In 1897 there was the Phokwane uprising, 
also led by Galeshewe and Jantjies. 
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However, eventually the Batswana people 
were besieged and starved out in the 
Langeberg. Luka Jantjies was killed, while 
Galeshewe was captured, found guilty of 
sedition and sentenced to 10 years. He was 
released in 1903 and lived in Green-Point 
(Kimberley) for a time before settling in 
the Magogong (Modutong, now known as 
Galeshewestad) region where he died in 
1927 and was buried near the ruins of his 
house. 

Galeshewe township in Kimberley, which 
began as Number 2 Location, now includes 
many smaller settlements and was named 
after the Batlhaping chief (Kgosi) and 
warrior in May 1952. The Office of the 
Premier of the Northern Cape intends 
to unveil a tombstone and to erect a 
monument for the late Chief Galeshewe 
in 2007. The process will be led by the 
Premier’s Office, Batswana Chiefs, the 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture, the 
Department of Tourism and Environmental 
Affairs, Frances Baard municipality, various 
local municipalities, as well as the Northern 
Cape SAHRA office, which plays an integral 
role in the coordinating team.

Community Funded Projects 
(National Heritage Resources Fund)
The following four community projects 
were approved and received funding from 
the NHRF:
°	 Henkries Ancestors Graves Project was 

allocated R15,000.The first instalment 
of R7,500 was used for cleaning and 
fencing of the Henkires ancestral graves 
in Steinkopf.

°	 The Concentration Camp Cemetery 
was allocated R25,000.To date R13,000 
was used for the restoration of the 
Doornbult Museum.

°	 Phiilipstown Local Development 
Forum Nobongi Buthele Graveside was 
allocated R30,000. The first instalment 
of R10,000 was used for cleaning and 
erection of a memorial for Nobongi 
Buthele.

°	 Bua- Bua was allocated R57,000, which 
will be used to conduct further research 
on Robert Sobukew’s life.

  
Cooperative Governance
SAHRA Northern Cape provincial office 
has continued to forge positive relations 
with the following stakeholders:

°	 PENSALB

°	 Mc Gregor Museum

°	 Sol Plaatje Trust

°	 Sol Plaatje Municipality

°	 DEAT

°	 DME

°	 De Beers Company

°	 Department Sport, Arts and Culture and 
PHRA

°	 Maphakela Cultural Tourism Heritage 
Laerners
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°	 Pan Africanist Congress (PAC) National 
Office

°	 Azanian Peoples Organization (AZAPO)

°	 Social Responsibility Clubs (e.g Tl-
hageng Masters and Vuka)

Invitations
On the 18th September 2007 SAHRA 
Northern Cape officials were invited to the 
unveiling of the Malay Camp Memorial, 
which was hosted by the Mc Gregor 
Museum.

One of the forgotten forced removals was 
that of the Malay Camp in Kimberley, 
which took place even before the 
Nationalist government came into power. 
One of the most prominent residents of 
the Malay Camp was Sol Plaatje. The 
memorial was unveiled by the Premier of 
the Northern Cape Hon. Premier Ms Dipuo 
Peters. 

On the 26th of February 2007 SAHRA 
Northern Cape staff attended the Sol Plaatje 
book launch at the Teachers’ Centre in 
Kimberley. The purpose of the ceremony 
was to acknowledge Sol Plaatje for the 
vital role he had played in the recognition 
of indigenous languages such as Setswana 
in the Northern Cape and to celebrate his 
rich legacy and literacy contributions. This 
was a joint project between Pan South 
African Language Board (Pensalb), Sol 
Plaatje Educational Trust and the SAHRA 
Northern Cape provincial office.

The following institutions invited SAHRA 
Northern Cape to various functions which 
carried the theme ‘Our Music, Our Culture’ 

during the Heritage Month (September) 
2006:
°	 Kimkgolo Primary School 
°	 Boresetse High School 
°	 Tlhageng Masters and Vuka Social  

Responsibility Club.

AZAPO Meeting
A meeting was held between SAHRA 
Northern Cape office and the Kimberley 
branch of the Azanian People’s Organisation 
(AZAPO) on 23 November 2006. SAHRA 
was asked to advise AZAPO on the proposal 
to erect a bust and unveil a tombstone in 
commemoration of the 30th anniversary of 
the late Phakamile “Phaki” Mabija who died 
in police custody in 1977. 
 
Meeting with PAC National 
Leadership
A meeting between SAHRA, the Department 
of Sport, Arts and Culture and the Pan 
Africanist Congress (PAC) was held in 
Kimberley on 25 February 2007 to familiarise 
the PAC national leadership with Sobukwe’s 
Legacy Projects in Kimberley. Following 
the meeting SAHRA Northern Cape office 
was requested to collate information for a 
council submission for the nomination for 
grading and declaration of Sobukwe’s house 
in Galeshewe- Kimberley and his office in 
Number 2 Location. 

Nama Church as a Potential Grade 1 
Site
On the 11TH of August 2006 a meeting 
was held between the Commission for the 
Protection and Promotion of Cultural, 
Religious and Linguistic Communities, 
SAHRA Northern Cape office and SAHRA 
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Living Heritage Manager. The purpose 
of this meeting was to request SAHRA’s 
assistance with the restoration of the  
Nama Church and to forge a partnership 
with SAHRA for the management of the 
site.

The 1st Nama Church is believed to be 
the only surviving structure of the forced 
removals that took place in the area, and 
it symbolises a site of resistance against 
Western and European influences. The 
church still presents the Nama way of 
worship which is grounded in the Nama 
culture, religion and spirituality. SAHRA 
and the other parties will prepare a 
submission for the grading and declaration 
of the Nama church as a National 
Heritage Site. SAHRA will also assist 
the Richtersveld Community Forum in 
applying for funds to the NHRF for the 
restoration of the church.
 

Conference Attended by 
SAHRA
In February 2007, the provincial manager 
attended the World Heritage Convention in 
Kimberley. The purpose of the convention 
was to review the tentative list of World 
Heritage Sites, align it with the selection 
criteria, create a platform for other new 
sites, remove those that no longer qualify 
to be on the list, and to recommend a 
tentative list to be submitted to UNESCO. 
Three Northern Cape sites were presented 
for inclusion in the tentative list: Kimberley 
Big Hole, Wonderwerk Caves and 
Richtersveld.

Challenges
Although Northern Cape has a PHRA 
Council, it has no staff. SAHRA is acting on 
behalf of the PHRA with regard to certain 
sections of the National Heritage Resources 
Act, No 25 of 1999.
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Heritage resources management 

in the Western Cape has  

experienced much progress 

over the past year with certain 

declarations firmly in place and 

others well on their way. Building 

on the progress made over the 

past few years, this year to a 

large extent saw the critical point 

of most projects being met. A  

continued lack of resources, both 

human and financial, have been 

one of our greatest stumbling 

blocks and to a certain extent 

hampered progress.
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Western Cape

During the course of this year the focus of 
the office has shifted towards encouraging 
partnerships with community organisations 
directly involved in the management of 
the declared and identified national herit-
age sites and resources. The ultimate aim 
is to forge long-term formal agreements to 
ensure the sustainable heritage manage-
ment of the heritage sites in question. In so 
doing, heritage resources management is 
brought down to grassroots level. Heritage 
sites where much success has been achieved 
in this regard, include Waenhuiskranz Cul-
tural Landscape, Cape Winelands Cultural 
Landscape and Robben Island. 

Our emphasis in unlocking the unknown 
and therewith the unrecognised history 
of the identified sites, especially the 
contributions made by previously 
disadvantaged communities, remains the 
same. The ultimate purpose is to illustrate, 
through tangible and intangible heritage, 
the collective history of all those who 
contributed to bringing about acceptance 
and reconciliation. Most of the sites 
selected have the capacity to bring about 
transformation of thought. 

Conferring national status onto sites result 
in a greater management responsibility 
imparted on the Western Cape office . 
In carrying out this responsibility, SA-
HRA–Western Cape broadened its scope of 
management, to promote a greater degree 
of public participation. This together with 
facilitation, negotiation and regular com-
munication allowed a more comprehensive 
and integrated management approach. 
The heritage community responded well 
to this approach since they have become 
more involved in the daily management of 
the heritage sites. The latter, together with 
SAHRA’s transparency, resulted in very few 
objections, appeals or dissatisfaction with 
the national management approach. How-
ever, in certain cases, SAHRA had to defend 
its role as a national protector in court, such 
as in the case of the Arniston Hotel, where 
SAHRA felt that the proposed development 
could potentially have a detrimental affect 
on the heritage value of the Waenhuisk-
ranz coastline and especially the village of 
Kassiesbaai. 

Other management challenges relate 
to permit and appeal processes of the 
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Boschendal farmlands, an integral part of 
the Cape Winelands cultural landscape. 
This matter is yet to be resolved.  

The office has also convened an 
international programme spearheaded by 
the Illinois State University, namely the 
very prestigious Fullbright Fellowship 
programme.

The South African Heritage 
Resources Agency and its 
Committees

SAHRA Grading Committee
As a member of the Grading Committee, 
the provincial manager participated 
in committee meetings. This involved 
reviewing and scrutinising all the 
submissions received nationally

SAHRA ad hoc Permit Committee/ 
Built Environment Landscape 
Committee
The SAHRA ad hoc Permit Committee, 
which is now the Western Cape SAHRA 
Built Environment & Landscape 
Committee, adjudicated approximately 
100 cases in the 2006/2007 financial year. 
Some significant cases were Arniston Hotel 
and Boschendal appeals. Sites adjudicated 
include those that have been graded as 
Grade 1 and provisionally protected sites. 
The committee has over the past year 
reviewed all conservation management 
plans that have been submitted.
The Western Cape office has been fulfilling 
the secretariat and coordination function 
for all meetings. Expert input on applica-
tions has been provided by local consultants 

at no cost. Once again, we wish to thank all 
those heritage specialists and consultants 
who have given their time and shared their 
expertise so generously in the interest of 
heritage conservation. 

Identification and Formal 
Protection of National Heritage 
Sites

Potential National Heritage Sites 
Identified
Quite a few potential national heritage 
sites have been identified over the past few 
years, both by SAHRA and the heritage 
public. Not much progress has been made 
towards the declaration of these sites since 
most of them are at the very early stages 
of identification. The sites fit under the 
following headings ie.:
°	 GEOLOGY
 • Cango Caves
°	 GOVERNMENT AND POLITICS
 • Parliament
 • Groote Schuur
 • Tuynhuis
 • Genadendal
°	 LIBERATION STRUGGLE
 • Victor Verster
 • Langalibalile
°	 SLAVERY
 • Castle of Good Hope
°	 MILITARY AND NAVAL
 • Simons Town
°	 SACRED SITES
 • Sheikh Yusuf’s Kramat
 • Tana Buru Burial Ground
 • Kramats
°	 EARLY SETTLEMENTS
 • Stellenbosch Historical Core
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 • Tulbagh Historical Core
 • Cape Town CBD Historical Core
 • Mission Settlements ie.  

 Genadendal, Elim, Wittewater,   
 Mamre, Goedverwacht

°	 Khoi-San/ Pre-colonial 
 • Knersvlakte
 • Grave of Adam Kok

Formal Protected National 
Heritage resources

Cape Winelands Cultural Landscape- 
Serial Nomination
The Cape Winelands Cultural Landscape 
remains to be the most extensive heritage 
resource to manage in the Western Cape. 
It transcends the geographic boundaries of 
sites such as Constantia Tokai Valley, being 
some 70km in proximity to the current pro-
visional protected sites of Idas Valley and 
Dwarsriver Valley. The latest addition to 
the Grade 1 winelands region, as approved 
by the Council of SAHRA, is the Constantia 
Tokai Winelands Cultural Landscape. The 
past financial year saw the completion of 
the conservation management plan for the 
Idas Valley Winelands Cultural Landscape. 

Costs involved with these studies conduct-
ed have been generously covered by certain 
owners in the valley. 

The Western Cape Office is fast moving 
towards the finalisation of the declaration 
of the Stellenbosch winelands as a protected 
area. Notifications will soon be issued 
to inform all owners and interested and 
affected parties of the decision of the 
SAHRA to approve the declaration of the 
above mentioned sites.

Robben Island- World Heritage Site
Following the progress made with the 
compilation of the Integrated Conservation 
Management Plan (ICMP) for Robben 
Island, the council of SAHRA agreed for the 
site to be declared a national heritage site. 
To this end. Robben Island became the first 
permanently protected national heritage 
site in the Western Cape. 

Green Point, Human Remains and 
Burials (commonly referred to as the 
Prestwich Project)
There have been continued challenges 
posed by this project over the past three 
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years. It will, however, culminate in a 
memorial site being erected. The past year 
saw a multi-institutional task team planning 
the final memorial site. St Andrews Square, 
the site selected for re-interment and 
the memorial, is located in Buitengracht 
Street and bounded by Rose, Buitengract 
and Somerset Streets. Construction work 
has commenced and the project is nearing 
finalisation. The initial plan was that the 
memorial site would constitute Stage 1 of 
the project. 

Waenhuiskrans Cultural Landscape
Over the past year, the Waenhuiskranz 
Cultural Landscape has faced some serious 
heritage challenges that culminated in 
a court case between the owners of the 
Arniston Hotel and SAHRA. Unfortunately, 
the court ruled in favour of the owner 
on technical grounds relating to certain 
administrative prodecures involving the 
provision of information to owners. Since 
the Act is new, and since this has been 
one of the first cases of its kind under the 
National Heritage Resources Act (NHRA); 
SAHRA welcomed this as a lesson to 
improve our future management of similar 
cases. In fact, the ruling has resulted in 
a review of the NHRA, investigating 
how to integrate the NHRA with other 
relevant legislation, such as the Public 
Administration Justice Act (PAJA), to 
improve our administrative procedure.

In addition to the above, some Kassiesbaai 
residents discovered that the roofs of their 
cottages were literally disintegrating. 
Although much effort has been made 
by both the Kassiesbaai Vissersunie and 

residents, Arniston Conservation Body, and 
Cape Nature Conservation in applying for 
funding from the Lotto, no funds have been 
forthcoming. The Lotto Fund has confirmed 
receipt of the joint application made 
between the above mentioned organisations 
and SAHRA, but little else. An urgent 
application has been made to the Council 
of SAHRA for access to SAHRA National 
Heritage Fund money in order to assist 
the community with their crisis. Available 
funds were approved by the Council for this 
purpose. Unfortunately this could not cover 
the full extent of the problem and only 
roofs and buildings in dire need of repair 
could be repaired. The pertinent need for 
more funds to be made available to ensure 
the conservation and enhancement of this 
village still exists.

SAHRA has also made funds available 
for a Conservation Management Plan 
to be conducted in addition to funds to 
survey the land to determine the beacons 
of the village. These two projects will be 
undertaken in the coming year.

Table Mountain National Park- 
a portion of the Cape Floristic 
Kingdom- World Heritage Listing
Although as, previously reported, 
considerable progress had been made by 
Table Mountain National Parks (TMNP) 
in working towards the finalisation of the 
CMP in order to facilitate the national 
declaration of the park, this remains 
pending. The Council of SAHRA has since 
approved the national declaration of the 
TMNP and notifications in this regard as 
required in terms of section 27(8a) have 
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been issued. Unfortunately the period 
in which this process is to be finalised 
has since lapsed, due to SAHRA’s human 
resources capacity constraint. However, it is 
envisioned that SAHRA, with the assistance 
and co-operation of TMNP, will continue 
with the declaration process.

District Six
During the past financial year SAHRA 
contributed R30 000 towards the 
compilation of a conservation management 
plan for District Six. This project was 
undertaken by the District Six Museum 
staff member, Bonita Bennette. District 
Six is a place of memory. Even more so, it 
signifies a heritage where those forcefully 
removed rose above the adversity of their 
past in celebrating and commemorating 
this phenomenal memory in the present. 
It is an heritage site considered to be a site 

of great power. The essence of the site is 
captured in the conservation management 
plan, since it hopes to protect and conserve 
that which is considered important to those 
dispossessed. 

This CMP was compiled with the 
involvement of past and present District Six 
residents through regular workshops. The 
CMP has been accepted by SAHRA as a 
document in progress and District Six is to 
be declared a national heritage site.
 
New Formal Protections at National 
Level
The following sites are representative of the 
collective cultural heritage of the country 
and they are excellent examples of their 
kind. Formal protections bestowed on these 
sites as decided by the Council of SAHRA 
are as follows:
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3. Constantia- Tokai Valley Cultural Landscape The provisional protection of the Con-
stantia-Tokai Valley Farmlands, but that 
the gazetting of the formal protection be 
held over until the SAHRA-WC capac-
ity and resources problems have been 
resolved.
The entire Constantia-Tokai Valley Cul-
tural Landscape is to be a Grade I site.

GREEN POINT, HISTORIC HUMAN REMAINS AND BURIALS

4. a) Memorial Site and Remaining Cemetery Walls 
b) Green Point Historical Burial Ground (demarcated area  
excluding areas of the V&A and Portswood ridge)

To be declared a National Heritage Site
Provisional Protection as a Grade I site, 
National Heritage Site status

DISTRICT SIX

5. District Six as per its original demarcation 
(declaration to be phased)

To be declared a National Heritage Site 
and Gazetted

WAENHUISKRANS CULTURAL LANDSCAPE
  

6. Waenhuiskrans Cultural Landscape (Kassiesbaai), including:
-Dollas Downs, 
- the village of Kassiesbaai, 
- a portion of Arniston 
- associated landscapes including the coastline, excluding the 
Arniston Hotel

To be declared a National Heritage Site

Council Decisions September 2006

NR NAME PROTECTION & DECISION

CAPE WINELANDS CULTURAL LANDSCAPE- World Heritage Tentative List

1. Idas Valley, Stellenbosch The previous condition referring to ICMP 
to be completed has since been met. 
Council decided that the valley is to be 
declared a National Heritage Site.

2. Dwarsriver Valley, Simonsberg Nature Reserve and a portion of 
Groot Drakenstein- Simondium

To be declared a National Heritage Site
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Outreach, Education and 
Public Relations

Heritage Day 
SAHRA WC was invited to celebrate this 
year’s Heritage Day with the Dwarsriver 
Valley community. It was indeed a spe-
cial occasion, which marked the return of 
the ‘Old Slave Bell’, as it is affectionately 
described by the local community. The 
Dwarsriver Valley community are descend-
ents of the slaves of this region. To them 
the slave bell was a strong symbol of their 
history of slavery. Even more so, it was a 
reminder of their forefathers, who had to 
sacrifice so much, especially their freedom. 
However, the valley today has a rich herit-
age of unique architecture and a prosper-
ous wine and fruit industry. The valley is 
home to the renowned Boschendal wines. 
It has an awesome social history, including 
slavery, colonialism and the freedom strug-
gle, which constitutes the history of this 
community. Underlying this picturesque 
valley is still much poverty. Therefore, 
the sustenance of the people in the valley 
depends on what the future holds. During 
her address on Heritage Day, the provincial 
manager informed the community that 
their heritage will soon enjoy national her-
itage status for it is a physical manifestation 
of a significant contribution of slavery and 
agricultural practice in South Africa. 

Co-operation with tourism and other 
organisations which promote our 
heritage
Several conservation groups applied to 
SAHRA to be registered with SAHRA as 
conservation bodies. Enquiries involved 

explanations regarding what registration 
involved in terms of Section 25(1)(h) of the 
National Heritage Resources Act and what 
the requirements were for the conservation 
groups for recognition by SAHRA. 

International Involvement

German Student
Sarah John is a German student , who 
currently studies at the University of 
Applied Sciences in Berlin. She aims to get 
a Diploma in Museum Studies in autumn 
2007. SAHRA-Western Cape have agreed 
to have her undertake the research part 
of her studies at our offices.  Her primary 
aim is to write a thesis in connection with 
intangible heritage. She chose to develop 
this objective around the living cultural 
heritage. The thesis title is: Documentation 
and Use of Intangible Cultural Heritage in 
the Waenhuiskranz Cultural Landscape 
– Kassiesbaai, a living heritage site. We are 
encouraged by Sarah’s choice and wish her 
luck in this endeavour . We patiently await 
the final thesis to be transferred to SAHRA 
once it is completed, so that we can add it 
to our resources library. 

Fullbright Fellowship Programme
The provincial manager was coordinator 
of the Western Cape leg of an educational 
programme sponsored by the Fullbright 
Fellowship from . Dr. Darrell Kruger, an 
ex-South Afrcan, who was the program 
coordinator, is the assistant dean of research 
and professional development and Illinois 
geographic alliance coordinator at the 
Illinois State University’s College of Educa-
tion. He was assisted by assistant professor 
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in Kassiesbaai, where they spent a day with 
the learners and educators exchanging 
information, has been a highlight of the trip 
to the visitors The children was presented 
with educational gifts and the visitors 
were treated to the national anthem of 
Kassiesbaai at the end of the day after they 
enjoyed a traditional stew prepared by the 
women of Kassiesbaai. In Khayetlitsha they 
spent time at a local crèche and thereafter 
managed to, in a small way, boost the local 
economy by purchasing local crafts at two 
separate craft centres.

SAHRA staff members not directly 
involved in the day to day management of 
heritage sites were afforded the educational 
opportunity to join the visitors on their 
quest for knowledge during a five day 
road trip across the Western Cape. In a 
picturesque setting of Daljosafat Valley, 
Paarl the foreign educators and SAHRA 
staff were treated to the hospitality of the 
winelands at a traditional braai arranged on 
SAHRA owned farm, Non-Pareil. 

A farewell function was held at the SAHRA 
Western Cape office with dignitaries 
such as the Consul General of Indonesia; 
the Royal House of Adam Kok the Fifth; 
professors from Stellenbosch University and 
the University of Cape Town; District Six 
Museum, Prestwich Place, 

Community Projects
We continued to focus on communities 
that form part of the national programmes 
of SAHRA in the Western Cape. 
Communities that received our attention 
were Waenhuiskrans Cultural Landscape, 

Kay Gandy, Western Kentucky University, 
Geographic Alliance Curriculum & Instruc-
tion Thirteen educationalists from across 
the States were selected to partake in the 
programme which extended from 29 June 
2007 to 30 July 2007 with the purpose of 
learning more about the peopling of South 
Africa. Their programme focussed on the 
issues of democratisation, creolisation and 
reconciliation in South Africa.

In the Western Cape they were taken to 
numerous potential national heritage sites 
that best illustrate the diversity of our 
heritage. These included, amongst others, 
District Six, Bo-Kaap, Khayilitsha, Cross 
Roads, Cape Winelands (Stellenbosch, 
Paarl and Franschhoek), the cell of Nelson 
Mandela at Victor Verster prison, Robben 
Island, Table Mountain, Rhodes Memorial, 
the Afrikaans language monument, 
Genadendal, Waenhuiskranz Cultural 
Landscape, Hotagterklip and the Castle 
of Good Hope. Prior to this a welcoming 
talk took place at the USA consulate. A 
brief history of South Arfica and its role, 
as understood and envisioned by the 
US consulate, in Africa and the global 
community at large was discussed. 

Herma Gouws, executive officer Corporate 
Affairs, welcomed the educators to South 
Africa and SAHRA. Every site presented a 
different aspect of the South African past, 
present and future. They were introduced 
to the individual heritage sites by the 
local communities which took them on 
insightful journeys about the history of 
the place and the current challenges the 
communities contend with. A school visit 
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Kassiesbaai, Dwariver Valley, Stellenbosch 
, Paarl and other national programmes to a 
lesser degree.

Heritage Management
Inspection tours/surveys/identification of 
heritage resources
 
The office undertook numerous site visits 
and investigations in preparation for the ad-
judication of applications submitted to the 
permit committee, in order to gain insight 
into the sites. 

There were inspection trips to heritage 
resources that had been identified as 
possible Grade I sites that could be 
declared as National Heritage Sites, such 
as various farms in the Cape Winelands, 
Waenhuiskranz Cultural Landscape, Tana 
Baru, Prestwich Place within the Green 
Point Historical Burial Ground area and 
sites around Table Mountain National Park.

Conservation Management and 
Control
 
Cases reported to the police:
Arniston Hotel
Certain community members from 
Arniston and Kassiesbaai alike informed 
SAHRA of construction activity that ensued 
at the Arniston Hotel without a permit, as 
required in terms of the NHRA. SAHRA 
seriously considered the matter, since they 
were of the opinion that further extension 
of the hotel could potentially deface the 
Waenhuiskranz Cultural Landscape, 
especially Kassiesbaai with the hotel being 
located in a prominent position at the 

entrance to Kassiesbaai. SAHRA’s permit 
committee wished to review the matter to 
ensure that the Grade 1 cultural landscape 
was not detrimentally affected and to advise 
the most appropriate action. The owners of 
the hotel questioned the legality of SAHRA’s 
intervention and therefore refused to cease 
construction activity. Police intervention 
did not amount to any change in action. 
SAHRA reverted to the next measure, 
namely a court interdict, in the hope of 
dissuading the owners rom further action. A 
court case was the result of this action. The 
court did not uphold SAHRA’s request on 
the premise that certain administrative and 
legal requirements were not met in terms 
of the Public Administration and Justice 
Act (PAJA) amongst other issues. Further 
information can be found on the SAHRA 
website. 

Public Relations and 
Memberships

Castle Control Board
The provincial manager serves as a member 
of the Castle Control Board together with 
the SAHRA CEO. The provincial manager 
attends most meetings and provides advice 
on the conservation of the Castle. The 
Castle, due to its varied and multi-layered 
history ranging from Khoi-San, slavery, 
military to colonial heritage, has been 
identified as a potential national heritage 
site.

Cape Town Heritage Trust
The provincial manager serves as an 
executive board member on the Cape Town 
Heritage trust.
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ICOMOS South Africa
The role of ICOMOS South Africa forms 
part of ICOMOS International, a world 
heritage body with the purpose of contrib-
uting at a international level to the body 
of knowledge on conservation manage-
ment of sites and monuments. ICOMOS, 
with its knowledge acquired from across 
the globe, serves as an advisory committee 
for UNESCO on monuments. One of the 
purposes of ICOMOS in South Africa is to 
engage as many South African heritage pro-
fessionals as possible in this international 
process of learning. The provincial manager 
serves as the secretary of the ICOMOS 
South Africa’s executive committee. The 
past year saw South Africa making a suc-
cessful bid to host the ICOMOS Scientific 
Executive meeting in South Africa.

Table Mountain National Park Forum 
Steering Committee
Table Mountain National Park Forum 
is a body that allows the public direct 
involvement in the overall management of 
Table Mountain. The provincial manager 
holds the heritage portfolio on the steering 
committee and attends regular meetings.

Other bodies on which the Western 
Cape office serve include:
Robben Island ICMP Steering Committee
Prestwich Task Team
Idas Valley Heritage Committee

Other bodies with whom the office 
interact with on a regular basis:
°	 Department of Arts and Culture
°	 Heritage Western Cape
°	 The Department of Environmental 

Affairs and Development Planning 
– regarding the new Planning  
Legislation

°	National Department Public Works
°	District Six Museum
°	 Heritage South Africa;
°	 Iziko Museum, Cape Town;
°	 Archaeology Department, University  

of Cape Town;
°	 Department of Public Works, Cape 

Town & Pretoria;
°	 Cape Town Tourism Office;
°	 Cape Peninsula University of  

Technology
°	 Roland and Leta Hill Trust managed by 

Syfrets;
°	 St Peter's Memorial Cemetery Trust
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Information and assistance provided 
to public
Daily queries regarding legal issues related 
to the National Heritage Resources Act, 
technical problems, historical information, 
planning, environmental issues and 
the reproduction of images or names of 
significant heritage resources were dealt 
with in order to try and preserve the 
heritage and the rights of the owners for 
generations to come.

Advice on various aspects of conservation 
principles and guidelines, such as the 
correct signage for heritage areas, correct 
repair and restoration methods and 
various other aspects were given to other 
authorities and the general public.

The general public was given the support 
from SAHRA with respect to technical 
advice required for the preservation of 
heritage resources. This type of advice 
varied from information regarding the 
treatment of wood, the finishing of soft, 
clay walls, lists of specialists who could be 
referred to and which companies to contact 
for specific products.

National Heritage Resources 
Fund (NHRF)

St Stephens Church, Cape Town:
It was previously reported that the 
Western Cape office had its first successful 
application with the NHRF approving an 
amount of R50 000 towards the restoration 
and repair of St Stephen’s, the first slave 
church in South Africa. This allocation has 
since been raised to R100 000.

Waenhuiskranz Cultural Landscape:
An amount of R200 000 has been made 
available for the emergency repair of roofs 
in Kassiesbaai. More than ten roofs have 
since been repaired.

In addition to this, an amount of R170 
000 has been approved by the council 
of SAHRA for the compilation of a 
conservation management plan and 
towards the surveying of land to establish 
the beacons of Kassiesbaai village.
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SAHRA’S Statutory Mandate
Part of SAHRA’s statutory mandate is to fulfill the role 

of adjudicator in the heritage sector. It takes decisions 

every day on how heritage resources of great national 

significance should be protected and managed and to what 

extent their development should be allowed. Within this 

broad mandate, the primary function of the legal unit is to 

inform all arms of SAHRA of the legal tools and statutory 

parameters that can be used in the adjudication role. It 

does so daily by advising staff on the importance and 

practical application of a wide range of legislation and the 

common law. This is no minor task, particularly in light of 

the fact that the new constitutional dispensation and the 

concomitant overhaul of the discipline of administrative 

law have created an entirely new, and in many respects 

still incomplete, legislative framework within which 

heritage practitioners have to operate. Exactly what 

influence the aforementioned developments will have on 

heritage management in general and the interpretation of 

the National Heritage Resources Act, No. 25 of 1999 (“the 

Act”) in particular is still uncertain, and in this respect the 

heritage sector will have to be guided by the courts.
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Important Court Cases
It follows logically from the above 
that SAHRA will be involved in 
groundbreaking court cases in what still 
is the formative period of a new heritage 
management regime. In the past financial 
year SAHRA’s involvement in two court 
cases in particular contributed to a better 
understanding of the new dispensation. 
Rather than to attempt to give a summary 
of the multitude of issues on which the 
legal department’s input was required 
throughout the year, a brief account of the 
result in one case and the progress in the 
other will be provided below, as there are 
important lessons to be learnt from each.
 
In the first case, SAHRA v The Arniston 
Hotel Property (Pty) Ltd & 1 Other, the 
Cape High Court had to consider the 
procedure followed by SAHRA for the 
provisional protection of a particular 
place in terms of section 29 of the Act. In 
its judgment the court emphasised that 
compliance with the procedures set out 
in the Act alone did not constitute a fair 
administrative procedure as envisaged 
under the new constitutional regime. 
The court found in particular that the 
fundamental right to reasonable and fair 
administrative action entrenched in section 
33 of the Constitution and given effect to 
in the Promotion of Administrative Justice 
Act, No 3 of 2000 requires significantly 
more public participation than section 29 
of the NHR Act calls for. This judgment 
practically illustrated how important it has 
become never to lose sight of the much 
broader legislative framework within 
which SAHRA now operates.

Legal Unit

The other application to the Cape High 
Court in which SAHRA is involved and 
which is of immense importance not 
only for the heritage sector, but for the 
discipline of administrative law in general 
is the case of The City of Cape Town & 2 
Others v Oudekraal Estates (Pty) Ltd & 3 
Others. This application followed upon a 
judgment by the Supreme Court of Appeal 
in terms of which an approval in 1957 
by the Administrator of the then Cape 
Province of an application to develop a 
township was found to be unlawful. The 
most important ground upon which the 
court’s decision of unlawfulness was based, 
was the fact that the decision-maker failed 
to take into account the fact that there 
were several Muslim graves, amongst others 
two kramats, on the land that stood to be 
developed. The court found that the failure 
to take into account this very important 
consideration showed that the decision-
maker did not properly apply his mind, and 
accordingly the decision was found to be 
unlawful. This judgment was a milestone 
victory for SAHRA in that it showed 
that our courts are willing to protect the 
interests that SAHRA is mandated to 
manage against unguided development.

The court emphasised, however, that an 
unlawful decision in law remains a valid 
decision in fact until it is set aside by a 
court of law, and until such time, a public 
body is obliged to accept the validity of 
the decision concerned. The practical 
effect of the aforegoing in the context 
of the proposed Oudekraal development 
is that the developer’s entitlement to 
develop the land, subject of course to all 
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applicable law, will remain intact until the 
1957 approval is set aside. This prompted 
SAHRA together with SANPARKS and 
the City of Cape Town, the other two 
respondents in the original appeal to the 
Supreme Court of Appeal, to lodge an 
application with the Cape High Court to 
have the original township approval set 
aside. The application was heard by the 
Cape High Court during February and April 
2007, but since the papers before the court 
were voluminous and the oral arguments 
were complex, the court reserved judgment 
without giving any indication as to when it 
will be handed down. Considering what is 
at stake though for all parties concerned it 
is expected that the court will give priority 
to this application.

Legislative Review
Towards the end of 2006/2007 financial 
year SAHRA was asked to make 
submissions to the Department of Arts 
and Culture regarding the legislative 
review programme embarked upon by 
that Department. The objective of this 
programme is twofold, namely to review 
the policy and founding principles 
underlying the existing legislative 
framework for heritage management and to 
amend the most important component of 
that framework, i.e. the National Heritage 
Resources Act. The legal unit contributed 
to SAHRA’s submissions in that it collated 
the expert inputs from the various 
provincial managers and unit heads into a 
single document, which formed the basis of 
SAHRA’s very comprehensive submission 

on technical amendments to the Act to 
the Department of Arts and Culture. The 
outcome of the legislative review process is 
eagerly awaited as the implementation of 
SAHRA’s proposals can contribute greatly 
to removing much of the uncertainty 
and confusion that is unfortunately still 
associated with the Act.

Advice On Commercial 
Activities
Although SAHRA is in the first instance a 
regulatory and adjudicatory public body, it 
also enters into a wide range of contracts, 
eg. lease agreements and contracts of 
purchase and sale, employs a relatively 
large workforce and generally takes part 
in a host of commercial activities, all of 
which have legal consequences. It is the 
legal unit’s duty to ensure that SAHRA’s 
participation in commercial activities 
does not expose it to unnecessary risks. It 
fulfils this duty by, inter alia, scrutinising 
and commenting on contracts and other 
legal documents and by giving advice 
on the legal consequences of a range of 
commercial activities.

The Road Ahead
The new year will no doubt bring new 
challenges for SAHRA in general and for 
the legal unit in particular. However, the 
fact that the unit has overcome most of the 
challenges that faced it at the beginning of 
the previous year is sufficient inspiration 
to meet any difficulties that may be 
encountered this year. 
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DISCLOSURE     
“The South African Heritage Resource Agency (SAHRA) is a statutory body established under the National Heritage Resources Act No 
25, of 1999, as custodians of the National Estate.”      

“SAHRA is a National Public Entity in terms of Schedule 3A of the Public Finance Management Act No 1, of 1999 (PFMA). National 
Public Entities are regulated by Chapter 5, section 36 of the PFMA.”
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Accounting Officer’s Report

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
To provide an overall statement of accounts of the South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA). 

2. GENERAL REVIEW OF THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Section 38 (1) (a) and 51 (1) (a) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act no. 1 of 1999) both 
state that the accounting officer must ensure that the public entity has maintained effective, efficient and 
transparent systems of financial and risk management and internal control.

The above provide the mandate and emphasize the importance of the necessity to focus on the status of 
sound financial management.

Proper internal control framework and financial accounting processes have been developed. All elements 
of an internal control framework required by management are developed and documented. This includes 
the following:

•	Adequate communication of management framework
• Systems to integrate the management framework
• Provision for maintenance and updating
• Continuous management meetings and staff communication channels

SAHRA management also focuses on the following:

° On continuous improvement and learning for its staff

° On balancing efficient and economical use of resources with quality/effectiveness of results achieved

° On economic, efficient and effective utilization of resources is managed, measured and reflected in 
reliable financial information.

° On continuous updating of strategic plan

° Working on being fully compliant with PFMA and other legislation

° Working towards meeting our mandate

3. SERVICES RENDERED BY SAHRA
The South African Heritage Resources Agency has begun to produce visible outputs in transforming the 
management of the national heritage resources primarily, sites management and cultural heritage objects. 
This is further enhanced by the “Step Ahead Heritage Vision” of the organisation.

For the past financial an even in this financial year, the effort has been placed on the creation of fully 
fledged resources and authorities mainly at provincial level, with a hope that these will further be 
strengthened at local levels as well. The results, amongst other things, are:

• The metropolitan councils are gaining a better understanding of the system of heritage resources 
management and are attempting to integrate planning with protection, conversation and promo-
tion of heritage resources in their domains.

• There is a provincial office in nine of the provinces. In addition there is also a satellite office in 
Gauteng. These offices identify and manage heritage resources and sites of Grade 1 status. In addi-
tion, they support and monitor the functions of the provincial heritage resources authorities or act 
on their behalf when a need arises.
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“SAHRA continues to broaden the scope of heritage resources management beyond the visible and 
tangible. Intangible cultural heritage resources are gaining recognition as an integral part of the tangible 
as well as being heritage resources in their own right. Having participated in the establishment of the 
Convention for the Safe Guarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage in 2003. SAHRA contributed and 
gained sustainable understanding of the sector and is ready to implement effective programmes to protect, 
conserve and promote the rich intangible cultural heritage of South Africans. In addition, SAHRA will 
engage museums and other heritage institutions in reinterpreting objects and artefacts in a meaningful 
way that regenerates, develops and preserves the identity of the diverse South African Nation.”

SAHRA commits itself to building a sustainable system of managing the heritage resources that promotes 
inter alia the South African identity that supports social cohesion in the country. Hence it’s Vision,  
Mission, Objects and Policies.

4. BUSINESS ADDRESS:

 PHYSICAL ADDRSS: POSTAL ADDRESS
 111 Harrington Street P.O Box 4637
 CAPE TOWN CAPE TOWN
 8001 8000

 

 

 PHAKAMANI BUTHELEZI                DATE: 31 May 2007
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Project descriptors

OBJECTIVE PROJECT SUB- OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES MEASUREMENT OUTCOMES

Protection and 
enhancement of 
the quality of our 
heritage resource as 
a way to promote 
South Africa as a 
responsible and 
proactive heritage 
nation;
Observe and apply 
sound conservation-
ist and yet develop-
mental policies;
Apply user-pay 
principles through 
income generation 
streams.

Identification:
Inventory, survey of 
indigenous villages

Training the com-
munity in identi-
fication method 
using the heritage 
survey and mapping 
kit. This would be 
a pilot project that 
would be taken 
around the country. 

Co-ordinate exist-
ing identification 
programme;
Identify villages to 
be targeted
Liaison with relevant 
community
Provide training
Evaluate and edit 
outcomes
Develop manual
Publish results 

Growing database;
Systemic;
Continuous moni-
toring 

An Intensive com-
munity training 
programme is 
currently being con-
ducted in McGregor. 
Village, Robertson 
(Lotto Funded)

SAHRA National 
Inventory unit 
is developing a 
national database 
called SAHRIS (DAC 
Funded) Phase one 
completed

Intranet developed 
for SAHRA and 
provincial offices

Community 
involvement and 
participation 

Community aware-
ness program 
through developing 
a heritage learner-
ship programme 
in identification, 
supervision and 
promotion of  
heritage resources

• Encourage 
creation and reg-
istration of local 
heritage societies 
committees or 
bodies

• Development of 
Local Heritage 
guides

• A SAHRA database 
reflecting all the 
heritage societies 
registered

• Number of local 
heritage com-
mittees in the 
country.

• Our own network 
at the grassroots 
level. The number 
of guides trained 

• Second phase 
of the SAHRIS 
national Inventory 
system will in-
clude a database 
of community 
conservation 

 bodies

CONSERVATION AND ENHANCEMENT
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OBJECTIVE 

Policy and standards 
guidelines 

PROJECT SUB- OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES MEASUREMENT OUTCOMES

SAHRA responsibil-
ity to set policy 
and standards re: 
heritage resources 
management
Setting standards 
creates empower-
ment and facilitated 
management 

Identify required 
policies
Create time/op-
portunity to develop 
draft policies
Workshop draft 
policies with input 
from outside stake-
holders
Making policies 
available for public 
comment
Publish policies in 
user-friendly format  

Revision of six 
policies 

Each of the heritage 
resources units are 
in the process of 
revising their exist-
ing policies due to 
challenges faced in 
implementing them.
SAHRA policy will 
be translated to 
various languages

Cooperative 
governance (Poli-
cies and Proce-
dures need to be 
drafted and put 
in place.)
 

Ensure integrated 
heritage manage-
ment and maximise 
limited resources  

Identify relevant 
stakeholders through 
stakeholder analysis 
and develop data-
base
Develop MOUs; 
Develop a set of 
working agreements 

Each provincial 
heritage authority 
continued with the 
Agency Agreement 
with SAHRA 

SAHRA performed 
PHRA functions for 
all nine provinces 

A heritage agree-
ment with Cradle Of 
Human kind
 

Public/Private 
partnerships 

Restore capacity in 
indigenous building 
knowledge  

Pilot project to train 
women in building 
an indigenous build-
ing method.
Identify and ap-
proach private 
donors to contribute 
to specific projects 
and low income 
housing funding
Develop manual and 
information sheets/
brochures 
Market project  

Number of women 
trained in indigenous 
building 
methods 

Five young women 
trained in the 
McGregor Village 
on conservation 
techniques
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Regional leadership Develop appropriate 
heritage programme 
in consultation 
with other parties 
involved in Nepad
Launch programme
Develop tools to 
monitor implemen-
tation of programme 

Regional/ or cross 
border heritage 
sites or projects 
with our neigh-
bouring countries 
with whom we 
share a similar 
heritage & heritage 
resources
Successful imple-
mentation of herit-
age programme 

To work towards 
an integrated 
approach to the 
management 
of the environ-
ment; regulate 
utilisation of 
heritage resources 
by means of 
management 
plans, policies and 
permits 

Cultural Landscape Introduce a 
national policy on 
the integration of 
heritage resources 
into the conserva-
tion and manage-
ment of the natural 
environment
Work with the 
DEAT 

Developed inte-
grated policy
Number of working 
agreements 

SAHRA participate 
in the SAWHCC, 
Attended Unesco 
meetings
Icomos meeting
SAMA and IC-
CROM to advise in 
heritage resources 
management
 

Vredefort Dome 
(as an example of 
natural landscape 
with cultural 
elements) 

- Heritage 
 Awareness
- Identification and 

legal protection
- Skills Development
- Multidisciplinary 

research
 

Increased public 
awareness of 
Vredefort Dome 

Managing 
authorities from 
both provinces will 
be appointed.
Living Heritage 
research initiated
 

Identification and 
legal protection
 

To fulfill SAHRA’s 
legal mandate

Grading by SAHRA 
grading committee 

Public participation 

OBJECTIVE PROJECT SUB- OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES MEASUREMENT OUTCOMES

NATURAL AND CULTURAL MIX

SAHRA participated 
in programmes/
projects: Mozam-
bique,
Madacascar,
Botswana,
Namibia,
Lesotho,
Swaziland
Kenya

Arrange conference 
involving SAHRA, 
PHRAs and Na-
tional and Provincial 
Departments of En-
vironmental Affairs 
to develop mutual 
understanding of the 
symbiosis between 
the cultural and 
natural environment 
and develop working 
agreements and 
integrated policy
Forming task teams 

• Nepad has no 
heritage pro-
gramme – SAHRA 
can take oppor-
tunity to fill that 
vacuum

• Will build capac-
ity and help with 
threatened sites 
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Skills Development The improve the 
skills of the com-
munity 

Multi-disciplinary 
research 

To increase the 
research available 
for the improvement 
of heritage work

Management plan 

To promote 
heritage to transfer 
and develop skills, 
restore identity 
and pride and to 
provide a healthier 
and better life 
environment for 
its citizens;
Optimise sus-
tainable use of 
under-utilised 
heritage resources 
and new resources 
to promote tourism 
initiatives;
Establish strategic 
partnerships 
with relevant 
stakeholders. 

Establishment of 
cultural village
 

Ensure and encour-
age diversity that 
can serve as an 
interpretative centre 
and so retain tradi-
tional practices. 

Set up a cultural 
villages in 
communities;
Skilling women to 
produce goods for 
such villages 

Establishment of 
villages, 
 

Head office and 
provincial offices 
provide training by 
having interns.
Local communities 
invited to partici-
pate in conservation 
activities

Heritage Route
 

Encourage 
identification and 
research. 
Encourage public 
awareness of 
heritage resources 

Package and market 
the route 

Establishment of a 
number of routes 
still to be 
determined 

Folowing heritage  
routes identified;
Nelson Mandela 
Route; Mission 
Schools route; Albert 
Luthuli route; Robert 
Sobukwe route; Sarah 
Baartmann and Oliver 
Tambo route
 

Heritage Festival
(Especially during 
Heritage Day) 

Promotion of diverse 
cultural heritage 
– includes living 
heritage 

Involve community 
in planning and  
execution of festival
Form partner-ships 
with other stake-
holders. Identify 
various activities for 
festival (e.g. exhibits, 
performances,  
discussions, etc. 

Successful launching 
of number of  
heritage festivals 
country-wide 

Provincial 
offices held 
heritage Indabas to 
identify themes and 
forge links with 
different stake-
holders
 

OBJECTIVE PROJECT SUB- OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES MEASUREMENT OUTCOMES

HERITAGE TOURISM

Conference - 
Identify types of re-
search to happed at 
the site modelled on 
WSSD programmes
 

• Implement  
 internship 

 programme
•  Training Heritage 

Tourism Guides

• Number of interns 
•  Number of trained 

heritage tourism 
guides

• Accreditation, 
feedback

• Generating 
revenue (poverty 
alleviation) 
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Increased skills in 
project management

Skills Development 
Project  

Develop proper 
project management 
skills as to ensure 
smooth running 
management of 
determined projects
 

Capacity building 
workshops/skills 
transfer 

Training seminars/
courses organized  
for line function  
staff   

Identification and 
promotion of rural, 
natural resources
 

Redress the 
imbalances of the 
past so as to ensure 
rural development 
as enshrined in the 
presidential nodes 

Rural development 
for identification 
and promotion 
of rural, natural 
resourced 

Rural heritage 
resources identified 
and promoted
  

Identification of 
Rock Art sites

Promoting 
indigenous 
interpretation of 
Rock Art. Encourage 
the active 
participation of the 
Khoisan community
 

Liaison with relevant 
stakeholders such as 
museums with 
existing rock art 
databases to prevent 
duplication.
Ensure controlled 
access to rock art 
to prevent damage. 
Run educational 
programmes and 
promote publication 
of brochures and 
articles to ensure 
proper under- 
standing and inter-
pretation of rock art.  

Rock art site in the 
Eastern Cape/KZN 
Drakensburg/
Ukhahlamba 
mountain range 
identified

GLOBAL AGENDA

Identify and imple-
ment programmes 
that fulfill NEPAD, 
WSSD and interna-
tional obligations;
Fulfill international 
commitments with 
regard to agree-
ments, conventions 
and protocols;
Apply these to SADC 
and NEPAD levels. 

Skills Development To build the 
capacity of 
SAHRA staff with 
appropriate skills 
to improve their 
functions In line 
with international 
standards and 
norms 

Exchange 
programmes, 
workshops, transfer 
of skills

Number of SAHRA 
staff attending 
programmes, 
workshops, etc. 

SAHRA staff sent to 
ICCROM in Kenya;
Staff sent to 
University Bremen 
in Germany

OBJECTIVE PROJECT SUB- OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES MEASUREMENT OUTCOMES
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OBJECTIVE PROJECT SUB- OBJECTIVE ACTIVITIES MEASUREMENT OUTCOMES

Partnerships/
linkages 

Set up bilateral 
agreements on issues 
of common interest
 

Repatriation of 
heritage objectives 
and human remains
Co-operation 
regarding illegal 
trafficking

Number of bilateral 
agreements
Number of 
heritage objects 
repatriated
 

Dialogue and liaisons 
with Pretoria Univer-
sity initiated. Visits 
to three neighboring 
states to identify 
graves undertaken

Conventions and 
protocols
 

To set up appropri-
ate legal parameters 
to ensure correct 
governance of 
heritage sites

Develop a policy 
on IKS
  

IKS official went to 
Japan & India, Cyprus 
and France to share 
ideas. Continuos 
correspondence and 
liaison with other 
Afrcan countries 
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Report of the Audit Comittee

WE ARE PLEASED TO PRESENT OUR REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 1 MARCH 2007.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE
The audit committee consists of the members listed hereunder and is scheduled to meet three times per  
annum as per its charter. During the current year three meetings were held. 

Name of Member Number of meetings attended
• Laura Robinson 3
• Mawande Mtyi 2 
• Xolelwa Mlubi 1
• Karen Badenhorst (resigned with effect from 15 March 2007) 1
• Dr Jeanette Deacon 3

2. AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITY
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38 (1)(a)(ii) 
of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. which states that “ a system of internal audit under the 
control and direction of an audit committee complying with and operating in accordance with regulations 
and instructions prescribed in terms of sections 76 and 77”.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its audit 
committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained therein. 

3. EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL CONTROLS SYSTEMS AND INTERNAL AUDIT
The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that 
liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. In line with the PFMA and the King II Report on 
Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and management with 
assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk 
management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the 
controls and processes. 

From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements, 
and management letter of the Auditor-General, it was noted that the significant and material internal 
control gaps and non-compliance with prescribed policies and procedures that have been reported, are 
currently being addressed by management. Accordingly, we conclude that the system of internal controls 
for the period under review has greatly improved and was largely effective and efficient.

4. EVALUATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Audit Committee has:
• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report 

with the Auditor-General and Accounting Officer;
• Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response to thereto.
• Reviewed the changes in accounting policies and practices.
• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial 
statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read  
together with the report of the Auditor-General.

CHAIRPERSON OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  DEPUTY - CHAIRPERSON OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Date: 21 August 2007    Date: 21 August 2007
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the South African Heritage Resource Agency 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2007, statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 1 to 24.

Responsibility of the accounting authority for the financial statements
1. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
with Generally Recognized Accounting Practice Standards 1,2 and 3, as described in note 1 to the 
financial statements and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 
No. 1 of 1999). This responsibility includes:
• designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error;

• selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and     
• making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General
2. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 

1996) read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and section 21(11) of 
the National Heritage Resources Act, 1999 (Act No. 25 of 1999), my responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing read with General 
Notice 647 of 2007, issued in Government Gazette no. 29919 of 25 May 2007. Those standards 
require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

5. An audit also includes evaluating the:
• appropriateness of accounting policies used
• reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management 
• a overall presentation of the financial statements.

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

REPORT FROM THE AUDITOR-GENERAL
REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN 
HERITAGE RESOURCES AGENCY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2007
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Basis of accounting
7. The public entity’s policy is to prepare financial statements on the basis of accounting determined by 

the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1 of the financial statements.

Unqualified opinion
8. In my opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the South African Heritage Resource Agency as at 31 March 2007 and its financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the basis of accounting as described in note 1 
and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999).

Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying my audit opinion, I draw attention to the following matter:

9. Forensic audit investigation
With reference to note 20 of the financial statements, the matter has not yet been finalised at the date of 
compiling this report. Consequently, I have not evaluated the potential impact of these findings on the 
financial statements.

OTHER MATTERS
1 0. I draw attention to the following matters that are ancillary to my responsibilities in the audit of the   

financial statements:

Material misstatements in the financial statements submitted for audit on 31 May 2007
1 1. The financial statements, approved by the accounting officer as submitted for audit on 31 May 2007 

have been significantly revised in respect of the following misstatements identified during the audit:
• Accounts receivable was overstated by an amount of R124 859
• Prior year retained earnings were not complete to the amount of R300 000
• Accounts payables were not complete to the amount of R98 407
• Fixed assets were not complete to the amount of Rl15 451
• a  Depreciation was overstated to the amount of R24 992.

Unaudited supplementary schedules
12. I draw attention to the fact that the other information set out on page 25 does not form part of 

the annual financial statements and is presented as additional information. I have not audited this 
schedule and, accordingly, I do not express an opinion on it.

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

Reporting on performance information
13. I have audited the performance information as set out on pages 3 to 11.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority
14. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA 

to ensure that the annual report and audited financial statements fairly present the performance 
against predetermined objectives of the public entity.
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Responsibility of the Auditor-General
15. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 

of 2004) read with General Notice 646 of 2007, issued in Government Gazette no. 29919 of 25 May 
2007.

16. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an audit nature to 
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the performance information and related systems, 
processes and procedures. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement.

17. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the audit 
findings reported below.

Audit findings
18. The strategic plan of the entity did not include objectives that were measurable as well as the 

expected outcomes as required by Treasury Regulation 5.2.3(d).

19. The entity has not reported on all predetermined objectives as required by section 55(2)(a) of the 
PFMA. The following predetermined objectives were omitted:
• Increased community participation
• Unity and diversity
• Pan-African Renaissance
• Resistance Art
• Institutional transformation
• Skills development
• Youth awareness

20. No quarterly reports on progress with achieving measurable objectives and targets were prepared by 
the entity to facilitate effective performance monitoring, evaluation and corrective action as required 
by Treasury Regulation 30.2.1.

21. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the performance information 
for nine objectives of the entity because the system used for generating information was inadequate 
for evaluation purposes.

APPRECIATION
22. The assistance rendered by the staff of the South African Heritage Resource Agency during the audit 

is sincerely appreciated.

Justin Diedericks for Auditor-General

Cape Town
31 July 2007
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
as at 31 March 2007

  31 March 2007 31 March 2006

 Notes R’ 000 R’ 000

ASSETS   
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 8 83,272 65,458 
  
Current assets    
Receivables and prepayments 9 149 598
Cash and cash equivalents 10 27,227 30,966 
  27,376 31,564
Total assets  110,648 97,022 
  
LIABILITIES   
Non-current liabilities   
Post employment medical benefits 11 3,307 3,439
Deferred Revenue  12 23,853 27,112
  27,160 30,551
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 13 2,498 3,676
  2,498 3,676 
  
Total liabilities  29,657 34,227
   
TOTAL NET ASSETS  80,990 62,795 
   
Net assets are presented by:
Reserves  80,512 63,559
Accumulated profit/(deficit)  478 (764)
  80,990 62,795 
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  31 March 2006 31 March 2006  
 Notes R’ 000 R’ 000  
   Restated  

Revenue     
Government grants 2 30,757 29,298  
Other grants, donations and project funds 3 8,244 6,085 
Fee received with regard to administring trust funds  87 169  
Other Revenue 4 734 779  
Total Revenue  39,822 36,331  

Expenses     
Administrative expenses  (8,375) (6,314)  
Audit fees 5 (353) (241) 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 8 (592) (442)
Other operating expenses  (3,043) (2,372)
Project Expenditure (Annexure 1)  (8,244) (7,368)
Salaries and benefits 6 (14,609) (12,261)
Transfers and subsidies 7 (4,276) (3,834)
Total Expenses  (39,494) (32,832)
     
Operating surplus  328 3,499
Interest received  506 272
Surplus  834 3,771
     
Attributable to the Agency  834 3,771
      
   
      

      

      

      

      

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE    
For the year ended 31 March 2007



146 S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

      
CASH FLOW STATEMENT      
For the year ended 31 March 2007

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS    
For the year ended 31 March 2007 

 Note Non  Accumulated  Total Net 
  Distributable surplus Assets and
	 	 Reserves	 /	(deficit)	 Reserves
  R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000

NET ASSETS AND RESERVES      
At 31 March 2005  32,922 (4,535) 28,387  
     
Surplus for the year  30,637 3,771 34,408

At 31 March 2006 (as previously shown)  63,559 (764) 62,795
      
Increase in deficit as a result of error 18.1 0 408 408

At 31 March 2006 restated  63,559 (356) 63,203
     
Surplus for the year  16,953   834  17,787

At 31 March 2007  80,512 478 80,990
      
      
  
       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

    31 March 2007 31 March 2006 
   Notes R’ 000 R’ 000 
 
Cash flows from operating activities     

 Receipts  37,517 44,127  
 Rent and other income  1,269 1,236  
Cash government grants received  30,757 29,298  
Project grants and donations received  4,985 13,321  
Interest received  506 272  

Payments  (40,231) (29,377) 
Employee costs  (14,741) (11,468)  
Suppliers  (17,246) (10,541)  
Project expenditure  (8,244) (7,368) 

     
Net cash flows from operating activities 14 (2,714) 14,750  

Cash flows from investing activities     
   

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (1,097) (1,261)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  72 0
Net cash flows from investing activities  (1,025) (1,261) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (3,740) 13,489
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  30,966 17,477
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10 27,226 30,966  
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1. Basis of preparation     
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of  
Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements  
issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised  
Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent  
GAAP Statement as follows:       
(a) Statement of GAAP replaced by Standards of GRAP      
AC101: Presentation of financial statements  GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements  
AC118: Cash flow statements  GRAP 2: Cash flow statements    
AC103: Accounting policies, changes in  GRAP 3: Accounting policies,
accounting estimates and errors  changes in accounting estimates and errors 
      
The recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ 
or result in material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The 
implementation of GRAP 1, 2 and 3 has resulted in the following significant changes in the presentation 
of the financial statements:     
     
(i) Terminology differences:     
     
(b) Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP 
Statement of financial performance   Income statement     
Statement of financial position   Balance sheet     
Statement of changes in net assets   Statement of changes in equity    
Net assets     Equity    
Surplus/deficit for the period   Profit/loss for the period    
Accumulated surplus/deficit    Retained earnings    
Contributions from owners    Share capital    
Distributions to owners    Dividends    
Reporting date     Balance sheet date    
     
(ii) Actual versus budget comparison     
Paragraphs 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 have not been implemented as the budget reporting standard is in the 
process of being developed by the international and national standard setters. Although the inclusion of 
budget information would enhance the usefulness of the financial statements, non-disclosure will not 
affect fair presentation.     
     
(c ) Basis of measurement     
The historical cost basis has been used in preparing the annual financial statements, except for the  
following which are measured at fair value:      
- Property, plant and equipment     
- Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 
The annual financial statement are prepared on a going concern basis. The accounting policies set out 
below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these annual financial statements. 
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation  
(see note 18).  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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(d) Use of estimates and judgements  
The preparations of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements 
 
(a) Revenue other than grants, donations, project revenue and agency activities 
Revenue is recognised on the accrual basis.Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 
of the ownership have been transferred. 
(b) Rental Income 
Rental income from tenants property is recognised in profit & loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease inventives granted are recognised as an intergral part of the total rental income, over 
the term of the lease 

(c ) Deferred revenue 
Deferred revenue is recognised and matched with associated costs in the appropriate year. 
 
(d) Government grants 
Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income when there is a reasonable assurance that 
they will be received and that the Agency will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. 
Grants that compensate the Agency for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised 
 
(e) Foreign currency translation 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the measurement currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such translations and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, are recognized in the statement of financial performance. 
“(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
(i) Recognition and measurement 
 
Land & buildings consists of heritage assets which are defined as items held for their unique cultural, 
environmental, historical, natural or artistic significance rather than for use in the day-to-day operations 
of the entity. Heritage assets are accounted for on the revalued model, being the fair value of the assets, 
which constitutes their residual value. No depreciation is therefore provided on heritage assets. Heritage 
assets are revalued by independent professional valuators on a regular basis. Revaluation adjustments are 
recognised directly into equity. 
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Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased 
software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment 
         
(ii) Subsequent costs         
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow 
to the Agency and its cost an be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred      
           
(iii) Depreciation         
Depreciation on other assets other than Land & buildings are calculated using the straight-line method 
to write off their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, at the 
following rates:        
         
Plant and equipment   5 years 
Computer equipment and peripherals  3 years      
Furniture and fittings               5 years      
Vehicles                   5 years       
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and justified if appropriate, at each reporting 
date.        
         
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount of the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.       
  
     Total   0  0
 
“The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit plans is the 
present value of the obligation at the reporting date minus the fair value of plan assets, together with 
adjustments for actuarial gains/losses and past service cost. The obligation is calculated by independent 
actuaries and is determined based on assumptions relating to the real rate of return and the rates of staff 
turnover and early/normal retirement. Actuarial valuations are performed every year.” 
  
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, changes in actuarial assumptions and 
amendments to these benefits are charged or credited to revenue over the average remaining service lives 
of the related employees.
 
(iii ) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 
The Agency recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate 
the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the possibility of 
withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to present 
value. 
 



150 S O U T H  A F R I C A N  H E R I T A G E  R E S O U R C E S  A G E N C Y  |  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

(iv) Short-term benefits 
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long-service leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a 
result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. 
 
(k) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Agency has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying financial benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be 
made.
 
(l) Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Agency’s statement of financial position 
when the Agency becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets  
The Agency’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables. Trade and 
other receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts, based on estimated future cash flows.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value, based on the relevant exchange rates at reporting 
date. 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 
Significant financial liabilities include trade and other payables. 
 
(m) Financial risk management 
The Agency’s activities are exposed to the following risks:  
 
a. Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
As the Agency has significant cash balances with banks, the Agency’s income and operating cash flows 
are dependent on changes in market interest rates. Management is of the opinion that this is however not 
a major risk as finance income is not a significant source of income for the Agency. 
 
b. Credit risk 
Arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial 
institiutions, as well as credit exposures to tenants (rental income), including outstanding receivables and 
committed transactions.  
Risk control assesses the credit quality of tenants, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. Statements are sent to tenants on a monthly basis. Lease contracts of 
tenants not paying rent are not renewed. 
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  31 March 2007 31 March 2006 

  R’ 000 R’ 000 

2  Government grants
 Operating grants received 30,757 29,298

3 Other grants, donations and project funds    
 Trust funds        539 1,339
 Restoration trust funds  10 10 
 National Inventory project 0 -140 
 Transformation projects/DACT 6,928 1,529
 Lotto projects 767 3,347 
  8,244 6,085 

4 Other Revenue   
 Insurance claim refund 21 42 
 Fines 0 300 
 Other revenue received 32 5 
 Profit on sale of fixed assets 20 0 
 Rental income 661 432 
  734 779 
    
5 Audit fees   
 Auditors’ Remuneration 353  241  
     
6 Salaries and Benefits  
 Salaries and wages 14,699 11,469
 Provision for leave pay 42 604 
 Retirement benefit costs (132) 188 
  14,609 12,261
     
7 Transfers and subsidies    
 Transfers made to Heritage Institutions 4,276 3,834
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8 Property, plant and equipment         
  Land &  Plant and Vehicles Computer Furniture Total    

	 	 	Buildings	 equipment	 		equipment	and	 and	fittings

     peripherals     
  R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000

 

 For the year ended 31 March 2007         
 Opening carrying value 63,559 116 1,258 447 78 65,458 
 Revaluation surplus 16,953 0 0 0 0 16,953 
 Correct prior year error 0 19 581 (212) 19 408 
 Additions 0 131 0 709 259 1,098 
 Depreciation  0 (55) (214) (257) (66) (592) 
 Disposals at net book value 0 0 (51) (2) 0 (53) 
 Carrying value at end of year 80,512 211 1,574 685 290 83,272 
         
 For the year ended 31 March 2007         
 Cost or valuation 80,512 492 2,382 1,461 857 85,704  
 Accumulated depreciation 0 (281) (808) (776) (567) (2,432)  
 Carrying value at end of year 80,512 211 1,574 685 290 83,272  
          
 For the year ended 31 March 2006         
 Opening carrying value 32,922 74 586 313 107 34,002  
 Revaluation surplus 30,637 0 0 0 0 30,637  
 Additions 0 91 889 248 33 1,261  
 Depreciation  0 (49) (217) (114) (62) (442)  
 Carrying value at end of year  63,559 116 1,258 447 78 65,458  
         
 For the year ended 31 March 2006         
 
 Cost or valuation 63,559 344 1,942 3,149 330 69,324  
 Accumulated depreciation 0 (228) (684) (2,702) (252) (3,866)  
 Carrying value at end of year  63,559 116 1,258 447 78 65,458 
          
At 31 March 2007 land & buildings which consists of heritage assets were revalued by independant valuators. 
Valuations were made on the basis of market value. The revaluation surplus was debited to net assets.     
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8 Property, plant and equipment         
  Land &  Plant and Vehicles Computer Furniture Total    

	 	 	Buildings	 equipment	 		equipment	and	 and	fittings

     peripherals     
  R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000

 

 For the year ended 31 March 2007         
 Opening carrying value 63,559 116 1,258 447 78 65,458 
 Revaluation surplus 16,953 0 0 0 0 16,953 
 Correct prior year error 0 19 581 (212) 19 408 
 Additions 0 131 0 709 259 1,098 
 Depreciation  0 (55) (214) (257) (66) (592) 
 Disposals at net book value 0 0 (51) (2) 0 (53) 
 Carrying value at end of year 80,512 211 1,574 685 290 83,272 
         
 For the year ended 31 March 2007         
 Cost or valuation 80,512 492 2,382 1,461 857 85,704  
 Accumulated depreciation 0 (281) (808) (776) (567) (2,432)  
 Carrying value at end of year 80,512 211 1,574 685 290 83,272  
          
 For the year ended 31 March 2006         
 Opening carrying value 32,922 74 586 313 107 34,002  
 Revaluation surplus 30,637 0 0 0 0 30,637  
 Additions 0 91 889 248 33 1,261  
 Depreciation  0 (49) (217) (114) (62) (442)  
 Carrying value at end of year  63,559 116 1,258 447 78 65,458  
         
 For the year ended 31 March 2006         
 
 Cost or valuation 63,559 344 1,942 3,149 330 69,324  
 Accumulated depreciation 0 (228) (684) (2,702) (252) (3,866)  
 Carrying value at end of year  63,559 116 1,258 447 78 65,458 
          
At 31 March 2007 land & buildings which consists of heritage assets were revalued by independant valuators. 
Valuations were made on the basis of market value. The revaluation surplus was debited to net assets.     
    
          

  31 March 2007  31 March 2006  

  R’ 000 R’ 000 

9 Receivables and prepayments
 Sundry debtors 122 862 
 Deposits refundable 27 28 
 VAT 0 2
  149 892 
 Provision for doubtful debts
 - Trade 0 (294)  
  149 598 
    
Due to amendments in the Value-Added Tax Act of 1991, 
the Agency was deregistered for VAT during the 2005/6 financial year.    

10 Cash and cash equivalents    
 Cash at bank    
  3,876 2,229
 Short-term bank deposits 23,344 28,733
 Cash in hand 7 4 
  27,227 30,966

Call deposits with banks, previously shown under current portion of 
investments in securities, are now classified as short-term bank deposits. 

The effective rate on short-term bank deposits was 8.5% (2006: 7%); 
these deposits have an average maturity of 32 days.
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11 Employees benefits

11.1 Post employment medical benefits     
    31 March 2007 31 March 2006 
   R’ 000 R’ 000
 Change in Liability
 Opening Balance  3,251
 Service Cost 85   80 
 Interest Cost 253  239    
 Actuarial Gain -331   - 
 Benefits Paid -139  -131 
 Total -132  3,439
    
 Balance Sheet     
 Projected Benefit Obligation 3,307 3,439
 Net Obligation/(Asset) 3,307 3,439   
 Unrecognised acturial gains/(losses) 0 0  
 Net Obligation/(Asset) to be in Balance Sheet 3,307 3,439  
 
 Income Statemnet     
 
 Service Cost 85 80   
 Interest Cost 253 239
 Actuarial gain recognised -331 0   
 Amount recognised in income statement 7 319   
     
 Reconciliation of balance sheet item     
 
 Opening value 0 3,251   
 Benefits paid -139 -131
 Amount recognised in Income Statement 7 319
 Closing value -132 3,439

 Key Assumptions
 Discount rate 7.75% 7.50%
 Medical inflation rate 6.75% 6.50%

 Sensitivity of results
 1% increase in medical aid inflation     
 increase in accrued liability 3,903
  18.0%  
 increase in service cost and interest cost 407  
  20.4% 

 1% decrease in medical aid inflation 2,836  
 decreased in accrued liability 14.2%  
  284  
 decrease in service cost and interest cost -16.0%  
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11.2 Retirement benefit information     
     
  R’ 000 R’ 000
  31 March 2007  31 March 2006 

  
At 31 March 2007, the Agency employed 83 staff. Of this, 68 are members of the Old Mutual Orion 
Provident Fund. This is a defined contribution plan. Upon the last actuarial valuation at 31 March 2005, 
the actuary reported the fund to be 96% funded. The remaining 15 staff members are not members of the 
Old Mutual Orion Provident Fund.

12 Deferred revenue     
 Project funds received 
 (Refer to annexure 1 for detailed analysis of project funds) 15,608 21,027
 Recognised as revenue  8,244 6,085
 Project funds deferred  23,853 27,112

13 Trade and other payables
 Other payables  590 2,609
 Trade payables  787 0
 Rent deposits refundable  11 11
 Leave pay accruals     1,110 1,056
   2,498 3,676

14 Notes to the cash flow statement 
 a) Cash and cash equivalents        
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and balances with banks and investments in money 

market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the fol-
lowing statement of amounts indicating financial position:     

 
Cash in hand and balances with banks  3,883 2,233 
Short-term investments  23,344 28,733
   27,227 30,966
b) Property, plant and equipment”   
During the financial year cash payments of R1 089 000 were made towards the purchase of property, 
plant and equipment.”     
c) Reconciliation of net cash flows from activities to surplus    
 Surplus  834 3,771
 Non-cash movements
 Depreciation for the year  592 442
 Profit on sale of fixed assets  (19) 0
 Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue  (3,259) 7,236 
 Increase/(decrease) in non-current liabilities  (132) 188
 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (1,178) 2,220 
 Increase in provisions  0 604  
 Decrease in receivables and prepayments  449 289  

 Net cash flows from operating activities  (2,714) 14,750  
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   31 March 2007 31 March 2006
   R’ 000 R’ 000
Service Cost 85   80 

15 Operating lease Expense 
 Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:   
 Not later than one year 1 3
 Two to five years 0 1
  1 4

16 Operating lease income
 The future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 Not later than one year 81 86
 Two to five years 258 360
  339 446
17 Taxation 
 No provision has been made for SA income taxation, as the Agency is exempt from income taxation   
 in terms of S 10 (1) (CA) (I) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.

18 Errors

18.1 Carrying value of fixed assets 
 At 31 March 2006 the Agency’s fixed asset register did not agree to the annual financial statements.   
 The carrying value of fixed assets in the general ledger had to be increased by R408 000 in order to   
 agree to the value as per the fixed asset register. This error has now been corrected.
   R’ 000 

 Effect on statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2006
 Decrease in depreciation  30
 Effect on statement of changes in net assets for periods prior to 31 March 2006  
 Increase in net assets   378 
 Total effect to statement of changes in net assets  408 

18.2 Prior income incorrectly recorded in the prior year   
  During 31 March 2006 financial year, the Agency received income from fines to 
 the value of R300 000,which was only accounted for in the current financial year. 
 This has now been corrected
 
 Effect on statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2006  
 Increase in other revenue  300
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19 Related party transactions
19.1 Transactions with key management personel

19.1.1 Key management personnel compensation    
  In addition to the salaries, the Agency also provides non-cash benefits to executive 
 officers, and contributes to a post-retirement defined benefit plan on their behalf. In accordance    
 with the terms of the plan, executive officers retire at age 60 and are entitled to receive annual    
 payments equivalent to 70% of their annual medical payments at the date of retirement until the
 age of 65, at which time their entitlement falls to 50% of their annual medical payments at the    
 date of retirement  
  
19.1.2 Executive management and executive managements’ emoluments 

 The following persons are employed by the South African Heritage Resources Agency in their    
 respective executive capacities:    
   
   Cost to Other 
   Company material
	 	 	 Package	 benefits		 		
    received Total 
   R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000
 
 Chief Executive Officer Mr. P Buthelezi 704 0 704 
 Chief Financial Officer Ms. B Khumalo 457 0 457 
 Executive officer: Heritage Resources Mr. D Sibayi 455 0 455 
 Executive officer: Corporate Affairs Ms. H Gouws 465 0 465 
   2,081 0 2,081
 
 The Agency operates a remuneration system based on the total cost to company principle.  
 As such, all contributions to medical aid and pension funds are borne by the employee out of this
 package. During the year under review, the Chief Executive Officer received a performance
 bonus of R41 000.    
   
19.2 Funding by DAC    
   
 The Agency received R30 757 000 funding from Department of Arts and Culture 
 on an annual basis.

20 Post balance sheet events 
 
 With regard to the Forensic investigation for 2004/5, the accounting officer having obtained the
 council’s opinion and advise on the matter has set in motion disciplinary proceedings that among
 other things will seek to recoup the funds pending to the outcome of the proceedings. The entity    
 had to postpone the first sitting of the disciplinary hearing due to the non availability of the 
 official concerned and the matter is now intended to be finalised by the end of July 2007.  
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21 Capital commitments 
 No capital commitments were contracted for as at 31 March 2007.

22 Contingencies 

 The Agency has two possible claims against them as at 31/03/07.     
  
       Possible 
       claim 
       amount
       R’ 000
 
 SAHRA/Eric Setumo 43
 SAHRA/The Arniston Property Hotel (Pty) Ltd 175
  3,439
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Annexure 1

  Balance Interest Other Total  Expen- Surplus/  Balance 
	 	 3/31/2007	 Income	 Income	 Income	 diture	 (Deficit)	 3/31/2006	
  R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000
Trust funds        
Mackie Niven  14 2 0 2  2 0  14 
Oppenheimer Geological Plaques 256 21 0 21  28 (7) 249 
La Motte,Franschhoek District 10 1 0 1  1 (0) 9  
Esme Lownds Trust, Barberton 19 2 0 2  2 (0) 18 
Kleinbosch Cemetery, Dal Josafat 6 0 0 0  1 (0) 5 
Hugo Vault, Simon’s Town 8 1 0 1  1 (0) 8 
Woutersen Wessels Vault, Cape Town 2 0 0 0  0 (0) 2 
Vrijstatia Association 8 1 0 1  1 (0) 8 
Bellingham,Franschhoek District 3 0 0 0  0 (0) 3 
D.R.Church, Ladismith 30 2 0 2  3 (1) 30 
Strand St Lutheran Church, Cape Town 11 1 0 1  1 (0) 10 
Lemane Cottage,Elim 43 4 0 4  5 (1) 42 
Bo-Kaap, Cape Town 4 0 0 0  0 (0) 4 
St Stephen’s Church, Cape Town 4 0 0 0  0 (0) 4 
Mission Station,Steinkopf  4 0 0 0  0 (0) 4 
Owl House, Nieu Bethesda 28 2 0 2  3 (1) 27 
SAHRA Publications 17 1 0 1  2 (0) 16 
Matje’s River, Keurbooms 27 2 0 2  3 (1) 27 
Rowland & Leta Hill  8 0 0 0  1 (1) 7 
Almshouses, Bethelsdorp Mission 1 0 0 0  0 (0) 1 
A.Galla Fund 1 0 0 0  0 (0) 1 
A.Skakanga Fund, Unesco 1 0 0 0  0 (0) 1 
Empire Road,Parktown 12 1 0 1  1 (0) 12 
Ansteys Building, Johannesburg 155 0 0 0  0 0  155 
Australian War Graves 154 13 0 13  52 (40) 114 
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Waenhuiskrans 21 2 0 2  2 (1) 21  
MM Hill Trust  301 25 0 25  33 (8) 293 
Sharley Cribb Nursing Home, Port Elizabeth 5 0 0 0  1 (0) 5  
Sontonga Trust Fund,Johannesburg 2 0 0 0  0 (0) 2  
Fort Armstrong,Balfour 1 0 0 0  0 (0) 1  
Getty Conservation Institute (grant) 25 0 0 0  7 (7) 18  
National Geographic Society (grant) 11 1 0 1  1 (0) 10  
Sanlam Restoration Trust, De Bult 7 1 0 1  1 (0) 7  
Mamre project (German Government grant) 10 1 0 1  1 (0) 10  
Genadendal Bequest 1,280 100 0 100  105 (5) 1,275 
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Valdezia 2 0 0 0  0 (0) 2  
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Steinkopf 9 0 0 0  1 (1) 8  
Constitutional Hill 10 0 0 0  1 (1) 9  
Egazine (E Cape Government grant) 9 0 0 0  1 (1) 8  
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Potolozi 1 0 0 0  0 (0) 1  
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Mgwali Church 0 0 0 0  0 0  0  
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Moffat Mission 9 0 0 0  1 (1) 8  
Sanlam Restoration Trust, Medingen 14 1 0 1  13 (13) 2  
Iccrom 0 0 82 82  0 82  82
Robertson Trust 232 30 0 30 262 -232 0 

  2,773  215  82  297  539  (242) 2,531
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Restoration Trust Fund
D.R.Church, Somerset West 1 0 0 0  0 (0) 1 
Arbeidsgenot, Oudtshoorn 16 2 0 2  2 (0) 16 
Bien Donne,Franschhoek District 68 7 0 7  7 (1) 67  
Bethanie Mission,Edenburg District” 8 1 0 1 1 0 8 
  
  93  9  0  9  10  (1) 92 

Legacy projects       
Blood River -main project 180 9 0 9  0 9  190
Anglo-Boer/SA War-Brandfort 159 8 0 8  0 8  167 
Luthuli 58 3 0 3  0 3  61 
Mandela 774 40 0 40  0 40  814 
Women’s memorial 3 0 0 0  0 0  3 
Blood River -opening function 141 4 0 4 0 4 145
  
  1,315  65  0  65  0  65  1,380

DAC PROJECTS      
Monuments and memorials 280 0 0 0  0 0  280 
Burial grounds and graves 646 0 0 0  646 (646) 0 
Archaeology 557 0 0 0  168 (168) 388 
DACT - Property 1,252 0 0 0  49 (49) 1,203
DACT - Heritage Objects 11,801 675 0 675  3,572 (2,897) 8,904
DACT - Mission Schools 1,704 140 0 140  0 140  1,844
DACT - Burials 5,123 421 0 421  747 (327) 4,796
DAC - Sarah Baartman 0 0 1,239 1,239  0 1,239 1,239
Venice Biennale 0 33 2,000 2,033 1,745 289 289

  21,363  1,269 3,239 4,508 6,928  (2,420) 18,943

Lotto projects
Maritime archaeology 1,089 73 0 73  537 (464) 625 
Vredefort Dome 21 0 0 0  0 0  21 
Identification  396 27 0 27  230 (203) 192 
Prestwich Place 0 0 0 0  0 0  0 
JHB Survey 64 4 0 4 0 4 68

  1,569 105  0  105  767  (663) 906  

         
TOTAL 27,113 1,663 3,321 4,984 8,244 (3,261) 23,853

Reconciliation of Project Expenditure       
Project Expenditure in terms of funding agreements       8,244 
Expenditure overspent on projects       0 
Total Project Expenditure recognised in income statement      8,244 

  Balance Interest Other Total  Expen- Surplus/  Balance 
	 	 3/31/2007	 Income	 Income	 Income	 diture	 (Deficit)	 3/31/2006	
  R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000
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